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THE GRAND JURY CHARGES:

INTRODUCTION TO.ALL COUNTS

At all times relevant to this Indictment, unless
othérwisé indicated:

I. The Enterprise

1.  'The Fédération Internationale de‘Fothall
Association ("WFIFA”) and its six constituent continental
- confederations - the Confederation of North, Central American
‘and Caribbean Association Football (“CONCACAF”), the
Confederacidén Sudamericana de Futbol (“CONMEBOL”), the Union des
Associations Européennes de.Football (Z"UEFA”), the Confédération
Africaine de Footbali.(“CAF”), the Asian Football Confederation
("AFC”), and the Oceania Football Confederation (“OFC”)
together with affiliated regional federations, natidnal member
associations, and sports marketing companies, collectively
constituted an “enterprise,” as defined in Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1961(4), that is, a groﬁp of legal enﬁities
associéted in fact (hereinafter the “enterprise”). The
enterprise constituted an ongoing organization whose members
functioned as a continuing unit for a common purpose of
achieving the objectives of the enterprise. The enterprise was
engaged in, and its activities affected, interstate and foreign

commerce.




2.  The principal purpose of the enterprise was to
regqlate and promote the sport of soccer worldwide. The members
of the enterprise carried out this purpose by using a variety of
methodé and means, including creating and enforcing uniform t
standaras and rules, organizing international competitipns, and
commercializing the media and ﬁarketing rights associated with
the sport. The members of the enterprise, as well as
individuals and entities embloyed by and associated with the
enterprise, frequently engaged in banking and investment
activities with United States financial institutions.

3. The enterprise operated in the Eastern District
of New York and elsewhere, including overseas.

A. FIFA

4, FIFA was the international body,goVerning
organized.soccer, commonly known outside the United States as
football. FIFA was an entity registered under Swiss law and
headquartered in Zurich, Switzerland. FIFA was compésed of as
many as 209 member associations, each repfesenting organized
soccer in a particular nation or territory, including the United
States and four 6f its overseas territéries. The United States
first became affiliated with FIFA in 1914; Puerto Rico first
became affiliated with FIFA in 1960, with Guam, American Samoa,

and the United States Virgin Islands following suit in the




1990s. At vérious times relevant to the Indictment, FIFA
maintained offices both in Zuricﬁ, Switzerland and elsewhere in
the world,'including in the United States, where FIFA maintained
a development office since at least 2011.

| 5. Each of FIFA’s member associations also was a
member of one of the six continental confederations recognized
by FIFA: CONCACAF, CONMEBOL, UEFA, CAF, AFC, and OFC. Since at
>least 1996, under FIFA’s statutes, no national soccer
association could become'a member of FIFA without first joining
one of the six continental confederations. Since at least 2004,
member associations were required to pay to FIFA annual dues,
_ known as subscriptions.

6. FIFA was governed by: a congress composed of its
member associations, which acted as the association’s highest
legislative body; an executive committee, which acted as the.
executive body; and a general secretariat, which acted as the
administrative body. FIFA also had a president, who represented
the aésociation worldwide and was responsible for the
implementation of decisions. FIFA also operated several
standing committees, including a committee that organized
Olympic soccer qualifying tournaments, whose members included
soccer officials from various national member associations.

FIFA also operated through a number of subsidiaries, including




supbsidiaries that assisted with FIFA’s media and marketing
activities.

7. The FIFA congress was composed of delegates from
each of its member associations as well as observers appointed
by each of the confederations. Among other things, the congress
was respoﬁsible for amending FIFA’s statutes and electing the
FIFA president. The congress convened in ordinary sessions
biennially or annually, and at other times in extraordinary
sessions in various countries around the world, including the
United States.

8. The FIFAlexecutive committee, often referred to
as the “ExCo,” was composed of the FIFA president and a number
of ordinary members, some of whom also held the title of vice
president. The president Was elected by the FIFA congress. The
vice presidents and ordinary members'were appointed by the
confederations. Each confederation was entitled to appoint a
specific number of vice presidents and ordinary members, as set
forth in the FIFA statutes. Since at least 1996, the executive
committee was required by FIFA statutes to meet at least twice
‘per year. The executive committee held meetings at FIFA’s
headquarters in Zurich, Switzerland, as well as in various

countries around the world, including the United States.
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9. Among other duties, the executive committee was
responsible for selecting the hbst nations of FIFA toufnaments,
-including, among others, the World Cup, the Women’s World Cup,
the Confederations Cﬁp, the Under-20 World Cup, the Under-20
Women’s World Cup, the Under-17 World Cup, the Under-17 Women’s
World Cup, and the Club World Cup.

10. The World Cup, the sport’s premier event, was a
‘quadrenhial international tournament involving the senior
national men’s teams of 24 and, béginning in 1998, 32 nations.
In selecting the hoét.nation fof the World Cup, the executive
committee typically followed a process in which bid committees
for the competing nations campaigned for votes among the members
of the executive committee. Foliowing this process, and at
least six years'prior‘to each World Cup, the executive committee
typically held a vote in which its members cast their votes via
secret ballot. The winners, or host nations, for the World Cups
from 1990 to 2022, as well as the other bidding nations that
maintained their bids to the end of the process, are reflected

in the table below:




TABLE 1: World Cup Host Selection

1980

Date Seleqted

by the ExC

1984

Italy

cherfBidding
E S/Ration

Soviet Union

May 19,
1994 July 4, 1988 United States Morocco
Brazil
1998 July 2, 19892 France Morocco
2002 May 31, 1996 Japan/South Korea Mexico
2006 July 6, 2000 Germany South Africa
England
Morocco
2010 May 15, 2004 South Africa Morocco
Egypt
2014 October 30, 2007.| Brazil -
2018 December 2, 2010 | Russia Spain/Portugal
Netherlands/Belgium
England
2022 | December 2, 2010 | Qatar United States
: South Korea
Japan
Australia
The U.S. men’s national team qualified for each edition of the

World Cup from 1990 to 2014.

11.

Since at least 199¢,

under FIFA’s statutes, the

six continental confederations had certain rights and

obligations, including, among other things, that they comply

with and enforce FIFA’s statutes,

regulations, and decisions and

work closely with FIFA to further FIFA’s objectives and organize

international soccer competitions.
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12. 'FIFA’s purpose was, among other things, to
develop and promote the gaﬁe of soccer globally by organizing
inte;national competitions and by creating and enforcing rules
that govern the confederations and member associations. FIFA
financed its efforts in significant part‘by-commefcializing‘the
media and marketing rights associated with the World Cup.

According to its published income statement for
the 2007-2010 financial period, FIFA had total
revenues of $4.189 billion, 83% of which ($3.480
billion) was attributable to the sale of
television and marketing rights to the 2010 World
Cup. FIFA’s profits during this same period were
$631 million.

According to its published income statement for
the 2011-2014 financial period, FIFA had total
revenues of $5.718 billion, 70% of which ($4.008
billion) was attributable to the sale of
television and marketing rights to the 2014 World
Cup. FIFA’s profits during this same period were
$338 million.

FIFA, in turn, helped finance the confederations and their
member associations, including by providing funds through the
Financial Assistancé Program (“EAP”) and the Goal Program, which
were established in the late 19905 to support the development of
youth academies, soccer fields, technical centeré, and.other‘
infrastructure projects. According to its published incbme
statement for the 2011-2014 financial period, FIFA spent $1.052
billién on development projects, including $538 million for the

FAP program.




13. FIFA first instituted a written code of ethics in
October 2004, which code was revised in 2006, again in 2009, and
most recently in 2012 (generally, the “code of efhics”).' The
code of ethics governed the conduct of soccer “officials,” which
expressly included, aﬁong.others, various individuals with
responsibilities within FIFA,Ithe confederations, member
assoéiations; leagues, and.clubs. Among other things, the code
of ethics provided that soccer officials were prohibited from
accepting bribes or cash gifts and from otherwise abusing their
positions for personal gain. The code oﬁ ethics further
provided, from its inception, that soccer officials owed certain
duties to FIFA and its confederations and member associations,
including a duty.of absolute loyalty. By 2009, the code of
ethics explicitly recognized that FIFA officials stand in a
fiduciary relationship to FIFA and its constituent
confederations, member associations, leagues, and clubé.

B. The Continental Confederations

14. In addition to providing representatives who
helped to govern FIFA, the six continental confederations worked
closely with FIFA and oné another to organize international
soccer competitions and carry out FIFA directives on a regional
basis. The leaders and representatives of the confederations

conducted business with one another, as well as with the leaders
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and associlates of FIFA, throughout the year at locations around
the world, including in the United States. Each confederation
was governed by its own congress, general secretariat, executive
committee and standing committees. From time to time, some of
the confederations, like FIFA, also éperated through
subsidiaries, including subsidiaries that éssisted with media
and marketing activities.

15. CONCACAF wés a continental soccer confederation
incorporated, since 1994, as a non-profit corporation in Nassau,
Bahamas. CONCACAF comprised as many as‘41 member associations,
representing organized soccer in North America, Central America,
the Caribbeén, and three South American countries. The United
States and two of its overseas territories, Puerto Rico and the
United States Virgin Islahds, were members of CONCACAF. From
approximately 1990 to 2012, CONCACAF’s principal administrative
office was located in New York, New York, where.the former
general secretary was based (until the end of 2011) and where
CONCACAF regularly conducted bpsiness. Béginning in 2012,
CONCACAF’s principal administrative office was. located in Miami,
Florida, where the new general secfetary was based. CONCACAF
also conducted business at wvarious times throughout the United
States, including in the Easfern District of New York, as well

as in foreign countries within and outside the confederation.




Among other tournaments, CONCACAF organized the Gold Cup, | %
featuring the.men;s national teams from CONCACAF and, from time |
to time, ofher confederations, as well as a tournament featﬁring
the tép men’s professional league — or club - teams. In June
2014, CONCACAF adopted a code of ethics that, among other
things, prohibited bribery and corruption.

16. CONMEBOL was a contipental soccer confederation
domiciled inAParaguay and headguartered in Asuncidn, Paraguay
and, later, Luque, Paraguay. CONMEBOL comprised‘as'many as 10
member associations,.repfesenting organized soccer 1n South
RAmerica. Amoné other tournaments, CONMEBOL organized the Copa

América, featuring the men’s national teams of its 10 members

and two non-CONMEBOL national teams that were invited to

participate, as well as tournaments featuring the top men’s club
teams. Since 1993, the United States has participated in the
Copa América as an invitee three times, and in 2016 the United

States will host and participate in a special -edition of the

tournament, the Copa América Centenario, to commemorate its

centennial. ;

17. UEFA was a continental soccer confederation |
registéred as a legal éntity under the laws of Switzerland and
headquartered in Nyon, Switzerland. UEFA comprised as many as

54 member associations, representing organized soccer in Europe
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and certain nations in the Middle East and Central Asia. Among
other tournaments, UEFA organizedvthe European Championship,
featuring the top men’s national teams, as well as tournaments
featuring the top men;s club teams.

18. CAF was a continental soccer confederation
headquartered in‘Cairo, Egypt. CAF comprised as many as 56
member associations, representing organized soccer in Africa.
Among other tournaments, CAF organized the Africa Cup of
Nations, featuring the top men’s nationai teams, as well as a
tournament featuring the top men’s club teams.

19. .AFC was a continental soccer confederation
registered as a legal entity under the laws of Malaysie and
headquartered in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. AFC comprised as many
as 47 member associations, representing organized soccer in
Asia, as well as on the island of Guam, a territory of the
United States. Among other tournaments, AFC organized the Asian
Cup, featuring the top men’s national teams, as well as a
tournament featuring the top men’s club teams.

20. OFC was a continental soccer confederation
incorporated under the laws of New Zealand and headquartered in
Auckland, ﬁew Zealand. OFC comprised es many as 14 member
associations, representing organized soccer in New Zealand and

the Pacific Island countries, including American Samoa, a
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territory of the United States. Among other tournaments, OFC
organized the Nations Cup, a tournament founded in 1996
featuring the top men’s national teams, as well as a tournament
featuring the top men’s club teams.

21. The confederations also organized World Cup
qualifying matches, using a variety of formaﬁs, and, from time
to time, worked together to organize inter-confederation
competitions, often with fhe support and approval of FIFA.

C. The Regional Federations and National Associations

22. In addition to being members of FIFA and their
respective continental confederations, some of the national
associations were also members of smaller( regional federations.

23. For example, CONCACATF’s member associations were
organized into three smaller regional federafions: the Caribbean
Football Union (“CFU”), the Central American Football Union
(“UNCAF”), and the North American Football Union (“"NAFU”). The
United States Soccer Federation‘was thus a member associafion of
CONCACAF as well as NAFU, while Puerto Rico and the United
'States Virgin Islands were both members of CONCACAF and CFU;

24. At various times, CFU was an entity headguartered
in Trinidad and Tobagq and Jamaica. The CFU statutes effective
May 22, 2012 proﬁided, in pertinent part, that CFU officials.

“shall observe all pertinent statutes, regulations, directives

12




and decisions” of FIFA, CONCACAF, and CFU, ;including in
particular . . . FIFA’s Code of Ethics.”

25. The national associations promoted, organized,
and governed soccer, often including club-level soccer, within
individual nations. The national association.of the United
$tates, the United States Soccer Federation, was based in
Chicago, Illinois.

26. The national associations, also often referred to
as “federations,” worked together to organize exhibition soccer

matches between national teams, known as “friendlies,” which

also took place on the club level. Friendlies took place in
venues throughout the United States, including the Eastern-
District of New York, as well as in other venues worldwide.

D. The Sports Marketing Companies

27. FIFA, the continental confederations, the

regional federations and the national member associations often
entered into contracts with sports marketing companies to
commercialize the media and marketing rights to various soccer

events, including the World Cup and other tournaments, World Cup

and Olympic qualifiers, friendlies,'and other events, as well as

other rights associated with the sport. These sports marketing

companies, including multinational corporations with

headquarters, offices, or affiliates located in the United %
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States, often acquired an array of media and marketing rights,
including television and radio broadcasting rights, advertising
iights, sponsorship rights, licensing rights, hospitality
rights, and ticketing rights.r These sports marketing companies
often sold these‘rights to, among others,_televisibn and fadio_
broadcast networks, sponsors, and sub—licénsees, including those
located in the United States.

28. The revenue generated by the commercialization of
the media and marketing rights associated with soccer
constituted an essential source of revenue for the enterprise.
The United States was an increasihgly important and lucrative
market for the commercialization of these rights.

IT. The Defendants

29. The defendant ALEJANDRO BURZACO, a citizen of
Argentina, was an individual employed by and aééociated'with the
enterprise. At various times relevant to the Indictment,
BURZACO was a controlling ?rincipal of Torneos y Competencias
S.A. (together with its affiliates, “TyC”), a sports media and
marketing bqsiness héadquartered in Argentina. BURZACO was also
a controlling principal of a number of subsidiaries and
affiliates of TyC, including FPT Sports S.A. (together with its

~affiliates, “FPT Sports”) and Productora de Eventos S.A.
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BURZACO’ s companies are referred to collectively below as
“Torneos.”

30. The defendant AARON DAVIDSON, a citizen of the
United States, was an individual employed by and associated with
the enterprise. Aﬁ various times relevant to the Indictment,
DAVIDSON was a high-level executive, including the president, of
Traffic Sports USA, Inc. (“Traffic USA”). Traffic USA was a
Florida corporation that had its headquarters and principal
place of business in Miami, Florida and was involved in the
purchase and sale of media and marketing rights associated with
soccer in the United Stétes and other parts of the CONCACAF
region. Traffic USA also participated in the ownership and
manégement of the North American Soccer League (“NASL”), a
division of United States men’s club soccer sanctioned by the
United Stéfes Soccer Federation, as well as the ownership and
management of multiple clubs within the league. The NASL was
headquartered in New York City and its teams were based in
vaiious cities in Canada and the United étates, inciuding in the
Eastern District of New York. As further deScribed below,
Traffic USA was part of the Traffic Group, a multinational
sports marketing conglomerate based in Sdo Paulo, Brazil.

31. The defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, a citizen of

Venezuela, was an individual employed by and associated with the
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enterprise. ESQUIVEL was the president of the Federacién
Venezolana de Fatbol (“FVFE”), the Venezuelan soccer federation,
which was a national member association of FIFA and CONMEBROL.
In or about and between 2014 and the present, ESQUIVEL was also
a vice president on the CONMEBOL executive committee. .At:
various times relevant to the Indictment, ESQUIVEL owned several
pieces of residential property in the United States,
specificaliy in the étate of Florida.

32. The defendant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, a citizen of the
United States and Uruguay, was an individuél employed by and |
associated with the enterprise. In or about and between May
2013 and the present, FIGUEREDO was a meﬁber of FiFA’s executive
committee and a FIFA vice president. At various times relevant
to the Indictment, FIGUEREDO also served on multiple FIFA
standing committeés, inciuding the finance committee and the
organizing committee for the World Cup. 1Ih or about and between
April 2013 and August 2014, FIGUEREDO servéd as the CONMEBOL
president; prior to that, he had served as one of CONMEBOL’s
vice presidents. 1In or about and between 1997 and 2006,
FIGUEREDO served as the president of the Asociacién Uruguaya de
Fatbol, the Uruguayan soccer federation, which was a national
member association of FIFA and CONMEBOL. From at least in or

about 2005 to the present, FIGUEREDO maintained a residence in
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the United States, specifically in Arcadia, California.
According té a-naturalization'application FIGUEREDO filed in
2005 with U.S. immigratioﬁ authorities, beginning in 1997
FIGUEREDO worked in “sales” at a “decorétive rock” business in
Irwindale, California. 1In his application, FIGUEREDO falsely
affirmed under penalty of perjury that (a) he neither worked
anywhere else in the previous five years nor ever had any
affiliation with any organization or association in the United.
States‘or in any other place; and (b) he was exempt from the
required English language and civics exams because of a mental
disability. Prior to obtaining his U.S. citizenship in- August
2006, FIGUEREDO submitted documentation explaining his mental
disability that falsely stated that he had severe dementia.’
33. The defendant HUGO JINKIS and his son, the
defendant MARIANO JINKIS, both citizens of Argentina, were-
individuals employed by and associated with the enterprise. At
various times reievant to the Indictment, HUGO JINKIS and.
MARIANO JINKIS were the controlling principals of Full Play
Group S.A., a sports media and marketing business with its
principal offices in Argentina. HUGO JINKIS and MARIANO JINKIS
also controlled subsidiaries and affiliates'of Full Play Group

S.A., including, among others, Cross Trading S.A. (“Cross
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Tradin'g”)b and Yorkfields S.A. HUGO JINKIS and MARTANO JINKIS's
companies are referred to collectively below as “Full Play.”

34. The defendant»NICOLAS LEOZ, a citizen of
Paraguay, was an individual employed by and associated with the
enterprise. Iﬁ or about and between 1986 and April 20i3, LEOZ
was the president of CONMEBOL. 1In or about and between 1998 and
April 2013, LEOZ was also a membér of FIFA’s executive
committee.

35. The defendant EDUARDO LI, a citizen of Costa
Rica, was an individual employed by and associated with the
enterprise. At vafious times relevant to the indictment, LI was
the president of the Federacidén Costarricense de Fatbol
("FEDEFUT”), the Costa Rican soccer federation, which was a
national member association of FIFA and CONCACAF; In or about
and between 2013 and the present, LI was also a member of
CONCACAF’ s executive committee. TIn April 2015, LI was elected
by the CONCACAF congress to becoﬁe one of CONCACAF’s three
representatives on FIFA’s executive committee. At various times
relevant to the Indictment, LI also served on multiplebFIFA
standing committees, including the players’ status committee. At
various times relevant to the Indictment, LI owned a residence

in the United States, specifically in the state of Florida.
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36. The defendant JOSE MARGULIES, also known as José
Lazaro, a citizen of Brazil, was an individual employed by and
associated with the enterprise. At various times relevant to
the Indictment, MARGULIES was a controlling principal of Valente -
Corp. (“Walente”) and Somerton Ltd (“Somerton”), South American
companies registered in Eanama and Turks and Caicos,
respectively, that were involved in the broadcasting of soccer
matches. Valentée and Somertoﬁ and their affiliates are referred
to collectively below as the gMargulies Intermediaries.”

37. The defendant JOSE MARIA MARIN, a Citizen of
Brazil, was an individual employed by and associated with the
enterprise. In or about and between March 2012 aﬁd April 2015,
MARIN served  as the president of the Confederacdo Brasileira de
Futebol (“CBF”), the Brazilian soccer federation( which was a
national member association of FIFA and CONMEBOL. At various
times relevaht to the Indictment, MARIN also served.on multiple
FIFA standing committees,‘inclﬁding the organizing committee for
the Olympic football tournaments,‘as well as the organizing
cbmmittees for the World Cup and £he Confederations Cup, as to
which he was a special adviser. At various times relevant to
the Indictment, MARIN maintained a residence}in the United

States, specifically in the state of New York.
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38. The defendant JULIO ROCHA, a citizen of
Nicaragua, was an indi&idual employed by and associafed with the
enterprise. Until approximately December 2012} ROCHA was the
president of the Federacién Nicaragiense de Fatbol (“FENIFUT”),
the Nicaraguan soccer federation, which was a national member
associlation of FIFA and CONCACAF. From in or about 2003 to
2007, ROCHA was presideﬁt of UNCAF. 1In or about and between
January 2013 and the present, ROCHA was a FIFA development
officer based in Panama, responsible for overseeing FIFA’s
deﬁelopment efforts in Central America.

39.  The defendant COSTAS TAKKAS, a citizen of the
United Kingdom, was an individual employed by and associated
with the enterprise. At various times relevant to the
Indictment, TAKKAS was the principal of a number of businesses,
including Kosson Ventures‘Limited (“Kosson Ventures”); a British
Virgin Islands-registered personal holding company, and CPL
Limited; a Cayman Islands-registered persénal holding company.
At various times relevant to the Indictment, TAKKAS was also the.
general secretary of the Cayman Islands Football Association
("CIFA”), a national member association of FIFA and CONCACAF,
and served as an attaché to the CONCACAF president after the

defendant JEFFREY WEBB assumed that role.
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-40. The defendant JACK WARNER, a citizen of Trinidad
and Tobagd and, between approximately 1993 and 2013, a legal
bermanent resident of the United States, was an individual
employed by and associated with the enterprise. 1In dr about and
between 1983 and June 2011, WARNER was a member of the FIFA
executive committee, and, beginningvin 1997, was also a FIFA
vice president. In or about and between 1990 and June 2011,
WARNER was also the president of CONCACAF aﬁd CFU, as well as a
“special advisor” to the Trinidad and Tobago Football
Federation, a national member association of FIFA and CONCACAF.

41. The defendant JEFFREY WEBB, a citizen of the
Cayman Islands, wés an individual employed by and associated
with the enterprise. In or about and between 1991 and the
present, WEBB was the president of CIFA. At various times
relevant to the Indictment, WEBB was a member of the CFU
executive committee and the chairman of its normalization
commiﬁtee. In or about and between May 2012 and the present,
WEBB was the president of CONCACAF and a FIFA vice president and
executive committee member. At various times relevant to the
Indictment, WEBB also served on multiple FIFA standihg
committees, inclﬁding the finance committee and the organizing
committee for the World Cup. Outside of soccer, WEBB worked at

various times as an executive at a bank in the Cayman Islands.
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Singe approximately 2013, WEBB owned a residence in the United
States, specifically in Loganville, Georgia. WEBB also owned
other pieces of residential property in ;he United States,
specifically in Stone Mountain, Georgia and Conyers, Georgia.

42. The foregoing officials of FIFA, CONCACAF,
CONMEBOL, and other soccer governing bodies were boﬁnd by
f;duciary duties to their respective organizations.

III. The Defendants” Co-Conspirators

43. The identities of the following individuals and
business entities are known to the Grand Jury:

44, In or about and between April 1990 and December
2011, Co—Conséirator #1 was the general secretary of CONCACAF.
Co-Conspirator #1 resided in New York, New York, where he
oversaw CONCACAF’s administrative headquarters and staff. From
in or about February 1997 until May 2013, Co-Conspirator #1 was
also a member of FIFA’s executive committee, serving as one of
the three members of that body who had been appoihted by
CONCACAF and the only member who represented the United States.
At various times relevant to the Indictmenﬁ, C§~Con5pirator $1
was also a member of various FIFA standing committees, including
the marketing and television committee.

45. Co-Conspirator #2 was the founder and owner of

the Traffic Group, a multinational sports marketing company
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based in S&o Paulo, Brazil. The Traffic Group was comprised of,
among other entities, Traffic Assessoria e Comunicacdes S/C
Ltda. (“Traffic Brazil”), Traffic Sports Internétiénal, Inc.
("I'raffic International”), Traffic USA, Traffic Sports Europe
B.V., and Continental Sports International, Inc. (referred to
collectively herein as “Traffic” or the “Traffic Group”) .

46; Beginning in the 1980s, Traffic’s operations
focusedbon,'among other things, the commercialization of soccer
in South America through the éurchase and sale of media and
marketing rights associated with the sport. Beginning in or
about 1990, Co-Conspirator #2 expanded Traffic’s operations to
the United States, partnering with and later acquiring a Florida
company calléd Inter/Forever Sports, Iﬁc., which was renamed
Traffic Sports USA, Inc. (collectiveiy referred to below as
“Traffic USA”) in or‘about 2003. Over time, Traffic began to
expand its operations even beyond the Americas, includiné by
contracting directly with FIFA in the late 1990s aﬁd early 2000s
to acquire the rights to the first editions of the‘Club World
Championship. Co-Conspirator #2 funded Traffic through various
mechaﬁisms, including revenues generated by the downstream sale
of television and other rights obtained from media and marketing
contracts and direct and frequent infusions of capital from

Continental Sports International, Inc. (“Continental Sports”), a
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Cayman Islands company that Co-Conspirator #2 controlled and
that maintained an account at Citi Private Bank in New York.
Between 2006 and 2013, Continental Sports wire transferred tens
of millions of dollars to Traffic International’s.account at
Delta Bank in Miami, Florida and tens of millions of dollars
more to Traffic Brazil’s accounts overseas.

47. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #3 was employed as a high-ranking executive of
Traffic USA.

48. In or about and between 1999 and July 2012, Co-
Consbirator #4 was employed as a high-ranking executive of
Tréffic USA. ' In or about and between July 2012 and the present,
Co-Conspirator #4 was employed as the general secretéry of
CONCACAF. In that role, do—Conspirator #4 oversaw the
transition of CONCACAF’s administrative headquarters from New
York, New'York, where the prior general secretary (Co-
Conspirator #1) resided, to Miami,’Florida, where it is
presently located. In addition to his duties‘as CONCACAF
general secretary, Cé—Conspirator #4 served as the general
secretary of the Copa América Centenario executive committee, a
joint CONCACAF/CONMEBOL body that was created in 2014 to oversee

the 2016 Copa América Centenario, further described below.
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49. Co-Conspirator #5 was the contrdlling principal
of Sports Marketing Company A, a company engaged in the purchase
and sale of sponsorship and other commercial rights to soccer
events. Sports Marketing Company A was inéorporated in Delaware
and headquartered in Jersey City, New Jersey. Co~Conspirator #5
resided in the United States. |

5@. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #6 was a senior executive of Traffic Brazil and,
later, of a group of companies under common ownership and
control that were engaged in the commercialization of media
rights associated with soccer. The latter group of companies is
referred to individualiy and collectively below as Sports
Marketing Company B.

’ 51. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #7 was a high-ranking official of FIFA and AFC, the
regionél confederation representing much of Asia.

52. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #8 was a high-ranking official of CONMEBOL and an
official of FIFA.

53. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #9 was employed as a high-ranking executive of

Traffic Brazil and Traffic USA.
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54. At wvarious times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #10 was a high—ranking official of FIFA, CONMEBOL
‘and the Asociacidn dellFutbol Argentina (“AFA”), the Argentinian
soccer federation, which was a national member association of
FIFA and CONMEBOL.

55. At various times relevant to the Indictment; Co-
Conspirator #11 was a high-ranking official of FIFA, CONMEBOL,
and CBF.

56. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #12 was a high—ranking official of FIFA, CONMEBOL
and CBF.

57. At various times relevant to the Indictﬁent, Co-
Conspirator #13 was a senior executive of Traffic Brazii and
Traffic USA, as well as a senior executive of a U.S. subsidiary
of a group of companies under common ownership and control that
were engaged in the commercialization of media rights associated
with soccer. The latter group of compaﬁies is referred to |
individually and collectively below as Sports Marketing Company
C.

58. At wvarious times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #14, a relative of the defendant JACK WARNER, was a
businessman involved in, among other things, a number of soccer-

related ventures.
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59. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspiratof #15-was a high-ranking official of the 2006 South
Africa World Cup bid committee and the 2010 South Africa World
Cup bid committee and local organizing committee.

60. At wvarious fimes relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #16 was a high-ranking official of the 2006 South
Africa World Cup bid cqmmittee and the 2010 South Africa World
Cup bid committee and local organizing committee.

61. At various times relevant tb the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #17 was a high-ranking official of CONMEBOL and a
member of the FIFA executive commigtee.

62. At wvarious times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspifator #18 was a FIFA official.

63. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #19 was an intermediary who operated, among other
businesses, a consulting group based in Latin America.

64. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirétor #20 was a senior executive of the European parent of
Sports Marketing Company C.

65. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-

Conspirator #21 was a senior executive of a U.S. subsidiary of

Sports Marketing Company C.
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66. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #22 was the beneficial owner of Front Company A.

67. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #23 was a high-ranking official of one of FIFA’s
national member associatibns, an official of FIFA and CFU, and a
businessman.

68. At wvarious timés relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #24 was a high-ranking official of CONMEBOL and one
of FIFA’s national member associations, as well as a‘FIFA
official.

69. At various times relevant to the Indictment, Co-
Conspirator #25 was a high-ranking official of FIFA, CONMEROL,
and one of FIFA’s national member aséociations.’

70. The foregoing officials of FIFA, CONCACAF,
CONMEBOL, and other soccer governing bodies were bound by
fiduciary duties to each of their respective organizations.

IV. The Conspirators’ Corruption of the Enterprise

71. Certain individuals and entities employed by and
associated with the enterprise, including the defendants JEFFREY
WEBB, EDUARDO LI, JULIO ROCHA, COSTAS TAKKAS, JACK WARNER,
EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, JOSE MARIA MARIN, NICOLAS
LEOZ, ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON DAVIDSON, HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO

JINKIS, and JOSE MARGULIES, together with others, conspired with
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one another to use their positions within the enterprise to
engage in schemes involving thé solicitation, offer, acceptance,
payment, and receipt of undisclosed and iliegal péyments}'
bribes, and kickbacks. Although they also helped pursue the
principal purpose of thé enterprise, the defendants and their
co-conspirators corrupted the enterprisé by engaging in various
criminal activities, including fraud, bribery, and money.
laundering, in pursuit of personal and commercial.gainf The
defendants also ?articipated in the corruption of the enterprise
by conspiring with and aiding and abetting their co-conspirators
in the abuse of their positions of trust and the violation of
their fiduciary duties.

72. fo further their corrupt ends, the defendants and
their co-conspirators provided one anoﬁher with mutual aid and
protection. The conspirators engaged in conduct designed to
prevent the detecﬁion of theif illegal activities, to conceal
the location and ownership of proceeds of those activities, and
to promote  the carrying on of those activities. 'The conduct
engaged in by various members of the conspiracy included, among
other things: the use of “consulting services” agreements and
other similar types of contracts to create an appearance of
legitimacy for illicit payments; the use of various mechanisms,

including trusted intermediaries, bankers, financial advisors,
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and currency dealers, to make and facilitate the making of
illicit payments; the creation and use of shell cogpanies,
nominees, and numbered bank accounts in tax havens and other
secretive banking jurisdictions; the active concealment of
foreign bank accounts; the structuring of financial transactions
to avoid currency reporting requirements; bulk cash smuggling;
the purchase of real proper?y and other physical assets; the use
of safe deposit boxes; income tax evasion; and obstruction of
justice. Within the United States, such conduct took place
within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere.

73. The damage inflicted by the defendants and their
co-conspirators was far~reaching. By conspiring to énrich
themselves through bribery and kickback séhemes relating to
media and marketing rights, among other schemes, the defendants
deprived FIFA, the confederations, and their constituent
organizations - and, therefore, the'nafional member
éssociations, national teams, youth leagues, and development
programs that rely on financial support from their parent
organizations - of the full value of those rights. in addition,
the échemes had powerful anti-competitive effects, distorting
the market for the commercial rights associated with soccer and
undermining the ability of other éports marketing companies to

compete for such rights on terms more favorable to the rights-
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~holders. Finally, the schemes deprived FIFA, the
confederations, and their constituent organizations of their
right to the honest and loyal services of the soccer officials
iﬁvolved. Over time, and in thé aggregate, such deprivations
inflicted significant reputational harm on the victimized
institutions, damaging their prospects for attracting
conscientious members and leaders and limiting their ability to
operate effectively and carry out their core missions.

V. Overview of the Racketeering Conspiracy

74. Over a period of approximately 25 years, the
defendants and their c&—conspirators rose to positions of power
and influence in the world of organized soccer. During that
same period, sometimes with the assistance of the defendants and
their co—conspirators, a network of marketing companies
developed to capitalize on the expanding media market for thé
sport, particularly in the United States. Over time, the
organizations formed to promote and govern soccer in regions and
localities throughout the world, including the United States, |
became increasingly intertwined with one another and with the
sports marketing companies that enabled thém to genérate
unprecedented profits through the sale df media rights to soccer
matches. The corruption of the enterprise arose and flourished

in this context.
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75. The corruption of the enterprise became endemic.
Certain defendants and co-conspirators rose to power, unlawfully
amassed significant personal fortunesvby‘defrauding tﬁe
organizations they were chosen to serve, and were exposed and
then either expelled from those organizations or forced to
resign. Other defendants and co-conspirators came to power in
the wake of scandal, promising reform. Rather than repair the
harm done to the sport and its institutions, however, these
defendants and co-conspirators quickly engaged in the same
unlawful practices that had enriched their predecessors.

A. The Initial Corruption of the Enterprise

76. From in or about 1983 to 2011, the defendant JACK
WARNER obtained power and influence over the enterprise,Afirst
in the CONCACAF region, and then worldwide, eventﬁally becoming
a FIFA vice president and member of its executive committee. in
or about 1983, WARNER, who was then the secretary of the
Trinidad and Tobago Football Federation (“TTFF”), became a
CONCACAF vice president and was appointed'to the FIFA executive
committee. In or about 1990, WARNER was elected president of
CFU and resigned his formal position with TTFF, becoming a
special advisor. The same year, WARNER ran for CONCACAF
president and, with the support of Co-Conspirator #1, who had

worked as an official in the United States Soccer Federation,
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was elected. WARNER worked closely thereafter with Co-
Conspirator #1, whose fortunes rose with WARNER’s and who was
appointed to be WARNER’s general secretary at CONCACAF.
Following.his appointment, Co—Conspirator.#l transferred
CONCACAF’ s administrative héadquarters to New York, New York.
WARNER established the president’s office’in his home country of
Trinidad and Tobago.

77. In Trinidad and Tobago and elsewheie) the
defendant JACK WARNER established and controlled numerous bank
accounts aﬁd corporate entities in which he mingled his personal
assets and those of CONCACAF, CFU, and TTFF. Beginning in the
early 1990s,.WARNER, often with the assistancé of Co-Conspirator
#1, began to leverage his influence and exploit his official
positions for personal gain. Aﬁong other things, WARNER began
to solicit and accept bribes in copnection with his official
duties, including the selection of the host nation for the World
Cups held in 1998 and 2010, which he participated in as a member
of the FIFA executive committee.

78. The defendant JACK WARNER also become involved in
a number of other schemes, including the diversion of FIFA,
CONCACAF, and CFU funds into accounts that he controlled and
used for his personal benefit. Aﬁong other things, WARNER

funded a 2005 purchase of a Miami, Florida condominium, held in
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the name of a member of his family, with honey drawn from an
account held in the name of a soccer facility fhat was
ostensibly affiliated with CONCACAF and was supported in part
through>FAP funds.

79. During approximately the same period of the
defendant JACK WARNER’s rise, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ
established himsélf as a powerful official at CONMEBOL and FIFA.
In or about 1986, LEOZ, who had held other positions in»soccer
governance, was elected president of CONMEBOL. LEOZ would serve
in this position for approximately 25 years. In or about 1998,
LEOZ was also appointed to the FIFA executive committee, joining
WARNER and Co-Conspirator #1, who had been selected the prior
year with WARNER’s approval, to serve on the same body. Like
WARNER,.LEOZ would come to use his power and influence to
unlawfully enrich himself.

80. ' During the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ’s bresidency,
CONMEROL developed a lucrative commercial relatiqnéhip with
Traffic, a growing sports marketing company that had been
founded a few years'earlief in Brazil. In 1986, Traffic,
represented by Co-Conspirator #2 (the company’s founder and
owner), entered into a contract with CONMEBOL to acguire the
worldwide commercial rights associated with the 1987 edition of

the Copa América, CONMEBOL’s men’s national team tournament.
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Traffic would remain the exclusive holder of these rights
through the 2011 edition of the tournament.

81. Begiﬁning in the early 1990s, as.the value of the
rights associated with the Copa América increased, various
CONMEBOL officials, including the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ, began
soliciting bribe payments from Co-Conspirator #2.in exchange for
the performance of various acts, including the renewal of the
Copa Amériéa contract. Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to pay. Over
time, Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to pay and paid tens of millions
of dollars in bribes to CONMEBOL officials in connection with,’
among other things,‘the Copa América contracts, media and
marketing rights to other South American soccer téurnaments, and
sponsorship rights acquired by United States sportswear
companies.

82. Co-Conspirator #2 ﬁSed a number of sophisticated
money laundéring techniques to pay bribes and kickbacks( often
relying on intermediaries-to make and conceal bribe payments to
the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ and other soccer bffiqials. One such
intermediary was the defendant JOSE MARGULIES, .the brother of a
late friend of Co-Conspirator #2. MARGULIES used accounts in
the names of offshore corporations that were held at Unifed
States financial institutions to make payments on Co-Conspirator

#27s behalf.
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B. The Growth of the Sports Marketing Companies

83. In or about 1992, Co?Conspirator #2 relocated
from Brazil to the United States, where he began negotiations
with the defendant JACK WARNER and Co-Conspirator #1 to acquire
the marketing rights to the Gold Cup; CONCACAF’s men’s national
team tournament, for Traffic’s United States affiliate, Traffic
USA, which was based in Miami, Florida. Co-Conspirator #2, with
the aSsistance of Co-Corispirator #3, a U.S.-bésed co-
conspirator, won the contract, which was subsequently amended
and rengwed so that Traffic acquired the rights fo the five
editions of the Gold Cup played between 1996 and 2003. In
connection with the acquisition and renewal of those rights, Co-
Conspirator.#Z and Co—Conspirator.#3 together caused bribe
payments to be made to WARNER and Co-Conspirator #1.

84. TIn the late 1990s and 2000s, Traffic, through
 Traffic USA, continued to grow its business with CONCACAF and
its regional federations and member associations. Co-
Conspirator #2 and several high—rankiné executives working at
Traffic_USA engaged in a number of bribery and fraud schemes in
connection with their efforts to obtain various rights from
CONCACAF, CFU, and various federations in the region, including
the federations from Trinidad and Tobagé, Costa Rica, and

Nicaragua. The Traffic USA executives involved in these schemes
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included, among others, the defendant AARON DAVIDSON and Cof
Conspirator #4. The beneficiaries of the schemes included,
among others, the defendants JACK WARNER, EDUARDO LI, the
president of the Costa Rican soccer federation, and JULIO ROCHA,
at the time the president of the Nicaraguan soccer federation
and subsequently a FIFA development officer. |

85. As Traffic attempted to expand its operations and
develop its ties with CONCACAF and CONMEBOL, severél competing
sports marketing comﬁanies sought a share of the growing profits
associated with organized soccer. Frequently, those companies,
like Traffic, paid bribes to soccer officials in order to win
businéss. |

86. Sports Marketing Company A, a New Jersey-based
company owned and operated by Co-Conspirator #5, was one such
company. - In or about 1996, CONMEBOL designated Sports Marketing
Company A as its marketing agent for sponsorship and title
Vsponsorship rights associated with the Copa Libertadores,
CONMEBbL'S premier club team tournament. Co-Conspirator #5,
either directly through Sports Marketing Company A or indirectly
through affiliates, thereafter acted as agent in multifpafty
céntracts to sell certain marketing rights to the tournament.
At various times between the late 1990s and 2012, Co-Conspirator

#5 used bank accounts in New York, New York and elsewhere to pay
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bribes and kickbacks to the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ and to Co-
Conspirator #8 to maintain these rights in connection with
editions of the tournament through 2012.

87. Other sports marketing companies that competed
for business in the region with Traffic included Torneos,
controlled by the defendant ALEJANDRO BURZACO, Full Piay,
controlled by the defendanfs HUGO JINKIS and MARIANO JINKIS, and
Sports Marketing Company B, controlled by Co-Conspirator #6. At
times, these companies worked in conflict with one another, each
seeking to win business from soccer organizations in the
CONMEBOL and CONCACAF regions. At other times, the companies
worked in concert, entering into contracts to share thé media
rights obtained from soccer organizations. All of these sports
marketing companies at various times and at the direction of the
&efendants ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, and
Co-Conspirator #6, paid bribes and kickbacks to obtain and
retain media rights contracts, with the defendant JOSE MARGULIES
at times operating aé an intermediary to facilitate and conceal
these payments.

88. Over the course of the racketeering conspiracy,
the defendant JOSE MARGULIES used the Margulies Intermediaries’
accounts at United States financial institutions to move

millions of dollars among the sports marketing companies and to
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soccer officials who were the recipients of illicit payments.
MARGULIES took additiohal steps to conceal the nature of the

| payments he was facilitating beyond his gsé of the U.S.-based
accounts. For example, he used thé services of currency
dealers, he regularly shredded records of his activities, and he
" discouraged soccer officials who were receiving payments from
using accounts in their own names lest they draw attention from
law enforcement, though they did not always heed his advice. To
take one five-year period, for example, between March 2003 and
March 2008, the Margulies Intermediaries wired more than $3.5.
million into accounts controlled by the defendants RAFAEL
ESQUIVEL, NICOLAS LEOZ, and EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, almost entirely
through even, six-figure payments. MARGULIES continued his
involvement in facilitating bribe payments up to the present
and, indeed, remained open to participating in new schemes: as
recently as 2014, MARGULIES discussed with a co-conspirator an
opportunity to render his servicés to a néw sports marketing
business, offering to facilitate bribe payments for a $150,000
annual fee and a commission of 2% per payment. |

C. The Centrality of the U.S. Financial System

89. Over the course of the 1990s and increasingly in
the 2000s and 2010s, the defendants and their co-conspirators

relied heavily on the United States financial system in
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connection with their activities with the enterprise, including
the schemes set forth below; This reliance was significant and
sustained énd was one of the central ﬁethods and means through
which they promoted and ¢6ncealed their schemes.

90. For example, at various times relevant to the

Indictment:

FIFA wired billions of dollars from its
accounts at a major Swiss financial institution
into beneficiary accounts in the United States
and throughout the world via a correspondent
account at the U.S. branch of a major Swiss
financial institution;

CONCACAF and CONMEBOL conducted business using
accounts at the Florida and New York branches
of major U.S. and Swiss financial institutions;

CFU and two South American soccer federations,
Federacidén Venezolana de Fatbol (EVFEF) and
Asociacidén del Futbol Argentina (AFA),
conducted business using the New York and
Florida branches of multiple major and regional
U.S. and foreign financial institutions;

Continental Sports, a Traffic Group holding
company, provided tens of millions of dollars
in capital to support the operations of the
Traffic Group using its account at the New York
branch of a major U.S. financial institution;

Traffic USA and Traffic International, two
subsidiaries of the Traffic Group, conducted
business using their accounts at the Florida
branches of a major U.S. financial institution
and a small U.S. financial institution that
specialized in providing private banking
services to clients from Latin America,
respectively;
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Full Play, Torneos, Sports Marketing Company A,
and Sports Marketing Company B conducted
business using New York branches of major U.S.,
Swiss, and Brazilian financial institutions;

Scomerton and Valente, the intermediaries
controlled by the defendant JOSE MARGULIES,
conducted business using accounts at the New
York and Florida branches of major U.S. and
European financial institutions;

The defendants AARON DAVIDSON, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL,
NICOLAS LEOZ, JULIO ROCHA, COSTAS TAKKAS, and
JEFFREY WEBB personally controlled accounts at
the New York, Miami, and San Francisco branches
of major U.S. and Swiss financial institutions;
and

The defendant NICOLAS LEOZ used a New York-
based investment  advisor registered with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission to
manage a $40 million portfolio (as of 2012) of
his worldwide investments. '
In addition to the use of the particular financial institutions
and wire facilities identified above, the conspirators also
reliedvoﬁ the broader strength and stability of the U.S.
financial system, including access to the private equity

markets.

D. Scandal and the Resignations of WARNER and LEOZ

91. 1In 2011 and 2013, public revelation of corruption
scandals invelving the defendants JACK WARNER and NICOLAS LEOZ
forced both men to resign from their positions in the

enterprise.
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92. In May 2011, the defendanﬁ JACK WARNER
facilitated the payment of bribes by Co-Conspirator #7, who was
running for the FIFA presidency, to members of CFU. Ther
'fbllowing month, after ﬁhe scheme came to light and FIFA
commenced an investigation into the matter, WARNER resigned from
hisbpositions with FIFA, CONCACAF, CFU, and TTFF. By the end of
- 2011, after the revelation of other financial irregularities at
CONCACAF began to come to light, Co-Conspirator #1 resigned from
his position as general secretary of CONCACAF.

93. In April 2013, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ
resigned from his positions as president of CONMEBOL and a
member of the FIFA execufive committee. LEOZ’s resignation
followed the conclusion of an investigation by the FIFA ethics
committee into payments made in the late 1980s and early 2000s
to LEOZ and two other soccer officials from a Swiss sports
marketing company in coﬁnection with the purchase of FIFA media
and marketing rights. The FIFA ethics committee found that the
payments to‘LEOZFand the other officials were bribes.

E. The Continued Corruption of the Enterprise

94. The change in administration at CONCACAF and
CONMEBOL did not usher in an era of reform at those
organizations. Instead, the new leadership continued to engage

in criminal schemes in violation of their fiduciary duties.
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95. Iﬁ'early 2012, thé defendant JEFFREY WEBB, who
had long been the president of CIFA, emerged as a candidate to
succeed the defendant JACK WARNER as the next CONCACAF
president. Co-Conspirator #4, then an exeéutive at Traffic Uusa,
supported WEBB’s candidacy by causing $50,000 to be paid from
Traffic USA’s operating account to a Caymanian company
confrolled by the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS, a long-time associate
of WEBB’s and the former general secretary of CIFA. Aroqnd the
same time, WEBB, with TAKKAS’s aid and assistance, used his
growing influence to solicit a bribe from Traffic USA in
connection with its efforts to acquire.from CFU £he éommercial
rights of its members to the qualifier matches to>be played in
advance of the 2018 and 2022 World Cups.

96.. In May 2012, the defendant JEFFREY WEBB was
elected to be president of CONCACAF. Like the defendant JACK
WARNER, WEBB thereafter became a FIFA vice president and member
of its executive committee. Co—Conspirator #4 was appointed.to

be CONCACAF’s general secretary and left his position at Traffic
USA to oversee CONCACAF’s operations under WEBB. Upon assuming
their respective positions, WEBB and Co-Conspirator #4 made
public pronouncements about reforming CONCACAF. Almost
immediétely afte# taking office, however, both men resumed their

involvement in criminal schemes.
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97. For example, weeks after beginning work as
general secretary, Co-Conspirator #4 began negotiations with the
defendant AARON DAVIDSON, under whom he'previously Worked at
Traffic USA, regarding the ﬁedia rightsvto the Gold Cup and the
CONCACAF Champions League, CONCACAF’s club tournament. Upon
direction by and on behalf of the defendant JEFFREY WEBB, Co-
Conspirator #4 negotiated a bribe payment for WEBB. In or about
November 2012, -CONCACAF awafded the contract for the rights.to
the 2013 Gold Cup and the next two seasons of the CONCACAF
Champions Leagueito_Traffic USA.

98.. Approximately one year later,4Co—Conspirat0r #4
negotiated a second bribe from Traffic USA to the defendant
JEFFREY WEBB in connection with the renewal of the Gold Cup and
Championé League contract. 1In the interim, Co-Conspirator #4
-had begun to benefit personally from WEBB’s bribe scheﬁes,
obtaining an expensive painting from an art gallery in New York
that was paid for by the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS, who, having
previousiy served under WEBB as general secretary at CIFA,
obtained the new title of attaché to the CONCACAF president.

99. In or about April 2013, following the defendant
NICOLAS LEOZ’s resignation, thé defendant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO - a
dual citizen of the United'States and Uruguay, who maintained a

residence in California - assumed the CONMEBOL presidency and
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LEOZ’s place as a vice president on the FIFA executive
committee. Shortly after the elevation.of_EIGUEREDO to these
positions, CONMEBOL, CONCACAF, and the sports marketing
companies controlled by Co-Conspirator #2 and the defendants
ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, and MARIANO JINKIS,> consummated
a scheme to obtaih a suite of valuable rights from CONCACAF and
CONMEROL officials in exchange for an agreement to pay $110
million in bribeé.

100. As part of the scheme, Co-Conspirator #2 and the
defendants ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, and MARIANO JINKIS
caused their respective companies to join together and form a
new entity known as Datisa. Followingvcreation of this entity,
Datisa entered into a $317.5 million contract with CONMEBOL to
obtain the exclusive worldwide rights to the 2015, 2019, and
2023 editions of the Copa América and the 2016 Copa América
Centenario, a tournament to celebrate the 100th anniversary of
the first edition.of'the Copa América. Following negotiations
between CONMEBOL and CONCACAF, it was determined that the men’s
national teams of six CONCACAF member associations, including
the United States Soccer Federation, would participate in the
Copa América Centenario with the 10 CONMEBOL men’s national

teams. It was further determined that the tournament would be
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hosted by thé United States in recognition of thé growth of the
market for soccer in North America.

101. Datisa subsequently entered into a $35 million
cohtract with CONCACAF, in ité capacity as the co-organizer of
the Copa América Centenario, to acquire CONCACAF’s media rights
to the tournament.

102. In connection with the acquisition of the media
rights to the Copa América and Qentenafio tournaments from
CONMEBOL and CONCACAF, Datisa agreed to pay $110 million in
bribes to the defendants JEFFREY WEBB, EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL
ESQUIVEL, JOSE MARIA MARIN, and NICOLAS LEOZ, and several other
soccer officials. Datisa agreed to make these payments at
various times over the life of the contracts. At least $40
million has been paid to daté.

103. On May 1, 2014, CONCACAF and CONMEBOL held a
press conference in Miami, Florida to officially announce and
promote the Copa América Centenario. Datisa representatives,
including the defendants ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, and
MARIANO JINKIS and Co-Conspirator #2,'attended the press
conference. A press release issued in connection with the
announcement trumpéted the growing unity of organized soccer in
the Americas. 1In the release, the defendant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO

stated, “We are proud to play a leading role in the celebration
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of the centennial of é tournament born to unite all
America. . . . Now, CONCACAF and the United States will play
host to the worlid’s oldest national team competition.” The
event’s promotioﬁal materials bore the logo of Datisa’s trade
name - wematch — alongside the logos of CONCACAF and CONMEBOL,
suﬁerimposed over a map of the western hemisphere.

104. The Copa América Centenario is scheduled to be
played in June 2016 in cities located throughout the United
States.

S F. Obstruction of Justice

105. Beginning in or about 2012 and continuing through
the present, as their awareness of~léw enforcement scrutiny
began to increase, many conspirators engaged in additional
conduct designed to prevent detection of their own illegal
activities and to pfovide one another with mutual aid and
prdtection. At times, such conduct constituted obstruction of
justice.

106. The following are three examples of acts of
obstruction engaged in by the conspirators. First, upon
learning that a co-conspirator was being interviewed by federal
law enforcement agents, another co-conspirator attempted to
persuade the co—conspifator being interviewed not to disclose to

agents everything he or she knew. Second, conspirators,
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including the defendant AARON DAVIDSON, alerted co-conspirators
to the bossibility that they would be recorded making adﬁissions
of their crimes._ Third, a co-conspirator destroyed evidence of
bribe payments.

VI. The Criminal Schemes

107. Set forth below are fU?ther details regarding
~certain criminal schemes in which the defendants and'their co-
conspiratoré agreed to engage in connection wifh their
activities with the enterprise.

A. CONMEBOL Copa América Scheme

108. In 1916, CONMEBOL organized the first edition of
the Copa América, a tournament featuring the men’s national
teams of its members. According to CONMEBOL, the tournament,
which continues to be played today, 1s the longest continuously
running such tournament in;the world.

109. Beginning with the 1987 edition and continuing
thereafter through 2011, Traffic held the exclusive world@ide
commercial rights for each edition of the Copa América
tournament, which rights were secured through a series of
contracts between Traffic and CONMEBOL.

110. In or about 1986, Traffic Brazil, represented’by
~its owner, Co-Conspirator #2, entered into negotiations with

CONMEBOL, represented by the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ and other
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CONMEBOL officialé, to acquire the media and marketing rights
associated with the Copa América. BAs a result of those |
negotiations, on or about October 3, 1986, Traffic Brazil
entered into a $1.7 million contract with CONMEBOL officials for
the exclusive worldwide commercial rights associated with the
1987 editioﬁ of the tournament. Traffic subsequently purchased
the-righté to the 1989 and 1991 editions as well.

~111. On or about January 23, 1991, Traffic Brazil
entered into a contract with CONMEBOL to acquire'the exclusive
worldwide commercial rights for the 1993, 1995, and 1997
editions of the Copa América (as amended, the “1991 Copa América
Contract”). At the time, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ was the
president and Co-Conspirator #8 was the general secretary of
CONMEBOL.' Under the terms of the contract, Traffic agreed to
pay CONMEBOL $6.6 million for the media and marketing rights to
the 1993, 1995 and 1997 editions: $2.2 million per edition.

vil2. On or about January 23, 1991, there was a signing
ceremony at CONMEBOL headquarters in Asuncién with other
CONMEROL officials. At that time, Co-Conspirator #2 signed the
contract on behalf of Traffic; as did two other CONMEBOL
officials. The defendant NiCOLAS LEOZ did not sign at that
time. Thereafter, in a private meeting, LEOZ told Co-

Conspirator #2, in sum and substance, that Co-Conspirator #2
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would make a lot of money from the rights he was acquiring and
that-LEOZ did not think it waé fair that he (LEOZ) did not also
'make money. LEOZ’told Co-Conspirator #2 that he would not sign
the contract if Co-Conspirator #2 did not agree to pay him a
bribe. After Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to méke the payment, LEOZ
signed the contract. Co-Conspirator #2 caused the payment - a
six-figure U.S. dollar payment — to be made to ah\account
designated by LEOZ.

113. On or about July 7, 1992, after the United States
and Mexico accepted invitations to compete in the 1993 edition
of the tournament, the parties executed an addendum to the 1991
Copa América Contract increasing the price for the 1993 edition
by 20%, to $2.64 million. The addendum provided that a similar
price increase would be reguired in the event the United States
and Mexico also participated in the 1995 and 1997 editions. The
addendum was signed by Co-Conspirator #2, on behalf of Traffic,
and the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ, on behalf of CONMEBOL.

114. In approximately 1993 or 1995, the defendant
ﬁICOLAS LEOZ began demanding additional bribe payments arcund
the time each edition of the tournament contemplated by the 1991
Copa América Contract was played. Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to

make these payments and caused them to be made.
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115. The defendant NICOLAS LEOZ solicited.and received
bribe payments from Co—Conspirator #2 in connection with every’
Copa Bmérica edition after that date until 2011. The payments
increased over time, and ultimately reached the seven figures.

116. During this period, the defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL
solicited personal payments from Co-Conspirator #2 and other
Traffic representatives iﬁ connection with the Copa América
tournament as well.

117. In 2007, the Copa América was hosted by
Venezuela. That year, the deféndant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, who at the
time was ﬁhe president of FVF, the.Venezuelan soccer federation,
and a member of the CONMEBOL executive committee, solicited a
bribe payment of approximately $1 million from Traffic in
exchange for ESQUIVEL’s continued official support of Traffic’s
position as exclusive holder of the marketing rights to the Copa
" América and of Traffic’s ability to commercialize the rights to
the 2007 edition. The defendant JOSE MARGULIES, with whom
ESQUIVEL was close, conveyed the solicitation to Traffic. Upon
being informed of the solicitation, Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to
the payment.

118. Also in 2007, the defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL
solicited a separate payment frbm a senior Traffic executive,

Co-Conspirator #9, in the.form of a bribe and kickback of
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profitsvto be generated by Traffic in connection with its
commercialization of television and sponsorship rigﬁts to that
year’s edition of the Copa América. Co-Conspirator #9 agreed
and caused Traffic to pay ESQUIVEL approximately.$700,000 in
2007.

119. Four years later,.at a meeting in Buenos Aires
dufing the- 2011 Copa América, the defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL
solicited from Co-Conspirator #2 an additional $1 million bribe |
and kickﬁack payment in light of the substantial profits Co-
Conspirator #2 had earnéd in connection with the 2007
tournament. After discussing the matter with Co—Conspirator #9,
Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to the payment and caused it.to be
made, in part because he hoped to secure ESQUIVEL’s official
support for Traffic in a dispute>between Traffic and Full Play
(see CONMEBOL/CONCACAF Copa América Centenario Scheme, below)
concerning which company would hold the commercial rights to the
Copa América going forward.

120. In 2011, the Copa América was hosted by
Argentina. Co-Conspirator #10 was at the time a long-standing
and high—ranking official at FIFA and AFA, the Argentinian
soccer-federation. The defendant ALEJANDRO BURZACO, a
controlling principal of the sports marketing conglomerate

Torneos, was close to and at times communicated on behalf of Co-
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Conspirator #10. Co-Conspirator #2 had dealt with BURZACO and
his colleagues at Torneos for years in connection with payments
té Co-Conspirator #10 personally. For example, since the 1990s,
Co-Conspirator #é had agreed on behalf of Traffic Interngtional
to pay AFA millions of dollars per edition ofﬁthe Copa América
so that AFA would field its best players. At times, Torneos
executives asked Co-Conspirator #2 to send fhe payments not to
AFA, but to a travel agency used to facilitate payments to Co-
Conspirafor #10 personally. Co—Conspifator #2 then sent the
payments as directed.

121. It was_ in the context of this long-standing
relationship that in 2011, in the months before the tournament,
the defendant ALEJANDRO BURZACO informed Co-Conspirator #2 that
Co-Conspirator #10 wanted a seven-figure bribe payment because
Argentiné was hosting the 2011 edition of the tourhament. Co-
Conspirator #2 agreed tolmake the payﬁent{ BURZACO toid Co-
Conspirator #2 tﬁat rather than transfer any money directly to
Co—Conépirator #10, Co-Conspirator #2 could effectively make the
payment simply by permitting Torneos to reduce a debt it owed to
Traffic by the same amount. Co-Conspirator #2 agreed with
BURZACO to make the payment in this manner, and subsequently
confirmed with Co-Conspirator #10 that he had indeed'sought the

payment.
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122. The defendants and their co-conspirators
understood that accepting bribes was improper and thus sought to
conceal the nature of the paymenfs reéeived from Cé—Conspirator
#2. MAccordingly, they used a number of sophisticated money
launderiﬁg techniques, inéluding the use of a numbered account
at.a Swiss bank, currency dealers, and trusted intermediaries,
to effect bribe paymeﬁts in a manner that obscured their true
source and nature and promoted the-corrupt schemes. Co-
Conspirator #2 was particularly reliant on intermediaries,
inclﬁding the defendant JOSE MARGULIES, to make the bribe
payments to the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ in connection with the
Copa América. |

123. As described above, the defendant JOSE MARGULIES
and his family controlled the Margulies Intermediaries, using
accounts held in the names of offshore corporations at United
States financial institutions to make payments to the defendants
on Co—-Conspirator #2’s behalf. MARGULIES used the accounts of
the Margulies Intermediaries to mask the sources and |
beneficiaries of bribe and kickback payments.

124. In the course of the scheme, and as far back as
1997, the defendants aﬁd thelr co-conspirators freguently used
wire facilities and financial inétitutions located in the United

States to make and receive payments related to the Copa América
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contracts. 1In particular, Traffic International, which heldithe
rights on behalf of Traffic beginning with the 1999;edition,
maintained bank accounts in the United Stétes and used the wiie
facilities of the United States to transfer payments in
éonnection with Traffic’s exploitation of the media and
marketing‘rights associated with the Copa América.

125. For example, in 2004, Traffic International used
the wire facilities of the United States to transfer funds from -
its account at Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in Miami, Florida
in satisfaction of the $12 million in contract payments due to
CONMEBOL for the rights associated with the 2004 edition of the

Copa América:

- DATE WIRE COMMUNICATION

January 12, 2004 Wire transfer of $1,200,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asunciédn,
Paraguay. ‘

March 29, 2004 Wire transfer of $3,600,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asunciédn,
Paraguay.
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May 13, 2004 Wire transfer of $3,600,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncién,
Paraguay.

June 2, 2004 Wire transfer of $3,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to

©an account in the name of CONMEBOL

at Banco do Brasil in Asuncidn,
Paraguay.

June 3, 2004 Wire transfer of $600,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Bancc do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asunciédn,
Paraguay.

126. From 2006 to 2007, Traffic International again
used the wire facilities of the United States to transfer funds
from its accoﬁnt at Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in Miami,
Florida in satisfaction of the $15 million in contract payments
due to CONMEBOL for the rights associated with the 2007 edition
.of tﬁe Copa América:

DATE WIRE COMMUNICATION

July 21, 2006 Wire transfer of $3,000,000 from
I Traffic International’s account at
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March 14, 2007

March 26, 2007

May 30,

June 13,

2007

2007

Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncién,
Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $2,200,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asunciédn,
Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $2,800,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in

- New York, New York, for credit to

an account in the name of CONMEBOL

‘at Banco do Brasil in Asuncidn,

Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $5,000,000 from

Traffic International’s account at

Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncidn,
Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $2,000,000. from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
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at Banco do Brasil in Asunciédn,
Paraguay.

127. And from 2010 to 2011, Traffic International

again used the wire facilities of the United States to transfer

funds from its account at Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in

Miami, Florida in satisfaction of the $22 million in contract

payments due to CONMEBOL for the rights associated with the 2011

edition of the Copa América:

DATE

November 8, 2010

November 12, 2010

March 4, 2011

WIRE COMMUNICATION

Wire transfer of $1,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncion,
Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $4,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncion,
Paraguay.

Wire transfer of $1,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to & Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncion,
Paraguay.
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June 10, 2011 = Wire transfer of $9,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
"Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncion,
Paraguay.

June 28, 2011 Wire transfer of $7,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do
Brasil correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of CONMEBOL
at Banco do Brasil in Asuncion,
Paraguay.

128. The revenue generated by ;he éommercialization of
‘media and marketing rights associated with the Copa América
increased dramétically over the course of the tournament
editions covered by the 1991 Copa América Contract and Traffic’s
subsequent rénewals (as aménded,vthe “1996 Copa América
Contract” and “2001 Copa América Contract,” respectively), all
of which Co-Conspirator #2 obtained through bribery. Over time,
these increases in revenue, and associated increases in profits,:
arose in significant part from Co-Conspirator #2 and Traffic’s
successful promoticn and commercialization of the Copa América
in the United States, including through contractual
relationships with an array of broadcasters and advertisers

based in the United States.
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129. For example, the 2001 Copa América was quite
profitable for Traffic, éwing in part to the sale of broédcast'
and advertising rights to broadcast networks and beverage
companies based in the United States. Toltake another example,
the 2007 Copa Américé was even more profitable fér Traffic than
the 2001 edition. Traffic’s television broadcasting revenues
- from the United States/Canadian market were its highest from any
market worldwide, and its revenues from radio broadcasting and
mobile telephone/Internet services in the United States market
were similarly its highest worldwide.

130. The wvalue of the sponsofship rights owned by
Traffic also increased over. time, owing in part to increased
interest in the tournament in thé United States. For example,
for the 2011 edition of the Copa América, Traffic sold
sponsorship rights to 10.official sponsors, ﬁp from seven
: officiél sponsorships sold for the 2007 edition. The official
sponsors included major beverage companies based in the United
States. Sponsorship fees more than tripled between 2007 and
2011.

131. Traffic used its presence in the United.Statés to
assist it in exploiting the United States market. For example,
Traffic International assigned to Traffic USA, Traffic’s Miami-

based subsidiary, a portion of the rights it held under the 2001
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Copa América cOnti:act. Traffic USA exploited those rights. in |
the United States by contracting directly with television and
radio networks based in the United States and serving és an
agent for Traffic in connection with the sale of global
sponsorship rights.

132. In or about 2010, hoWever, CONMEBOI terminated
its long-standing relationship with Traffic and sold the rights
to future editions of the tournament té full Play, owned by the
defendants HUGO JINKIS and MARIANO JINKIS.

B. CONCACAF Gold Cup Scheme

133. A few years after Co—CQnspirator #2 entered into
a bribe scheme with CONMEBOL officials in connection with the
Copa América, Co-Conspiratcor #2 entered into a similar scheme
with CONCACAF officials.in connection with CONCACAF’s analogue
. to the Copa América: the Gold Cup.

134. In or about 1991, CONCACAF began organizing and
promoting the Gold Cup, a fournament featuring menber
associations.of CONCACAF and; in later years, those of other
confedefations.

135. In or about 1992, Co-Conspirator #2 relocated to
the United States in part to seek additional business
opportunities for Traffic USA in the period leading up to the

1994 World Cup, which was to be hosted by the United States.
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During this periéd, Co-Conspirator #2 and Co—Conspitator #3, a
Traffic USA executive based in Miami, variously began
negotiations with high-ranking CONCACAF officials, including the
defendant JACK WARNER and Co-Conspirator #1, for Traffic USA to
purchase the media and markéting rights associated with the Gold
Cup. Negotiations regarding the rights took place in the United
States. |

136. Co-Conspirator #2’s pitch to CONCACAF, in sum and
substance, was that Traffic could replicate the commercial and
sporting success it had had with the Copa América and make the
Gold Cup a similar success. On or about October 3, 1994,
Traffic USA entered into a contract with CONCACAF for $9.75
million for the commercial rights associated with the 1996,
1998, and 2000 editibns of the Gold Cup. Beginning Qith the
1996 Gold Cup and continuing for four subsequent editions of the
tournament (1998, 2000, 2002; and 2003), pursuant to the
contract with Traffic USA (as subsequently amended and renewed
following additional negétiations), CONCACAF granted to Traffic
USA the exclusive worldwide commercial rights to the Gold Cup.

137. During this period, Traffic caused hundreds of
thousands of dollars in bribe payments to be made to the
defendant JACK WARNER and Co—Conspirator #1, including payments

that were made from or through banks based in the United States.
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138. For example, on or about March.29, 1999, Traffic
caused $200,000 to be wired to a correspondent account at
Barclayé Bank in New York, New York, for credit to an accouqt
held in the name of an entity controlled by Co-Conspirator #1 at
Barclays Bank in the Cayman Islands.r Approximately three weeks
later, on April 23, 1999, $100,000 - half of the amount paid to
Co-Conspirator #1 - was transferred from Co-Conspirator #1's
Cayman account-tb an account at First Citizens Bank in Trinidad
and Tobago, held in the name of the deféndant JACK WARNER. As
it had done in connection with the Copa América scheme, Traffic
used an intermediary to make the payment to Co-Conspirator #1 in
order to conceal.the source and nature of the payment.

139. In or about 2003, CONCACAF terminated its
contract with Traffic for.Gold Cup media rights.

C. CONMEBOL Copa Libertadores Scheme

140. In coﬁnection with its efforts to promote the
sport of socéer in South America, CONMEBOL organized and funded
a variety of international soccer tournaments to showcase ‘the
region’s best teams. Among other tournaments, CONMEBOL
organized the Copa Libertadores, an annual tournament featuring
the top men’s club teams. The first edition of the Copa

Libertadores was held in 1960 with seven teams. Over the
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following decades, the tournament evolved into a major
competition featuring 38 teams from approximately 10 countries.

141. As the tournament developed and gained‘
popularity, CONMEBOL entered into_contrécts with sports
marketing companies to commercialize the marketing rights to the
tournament. The marketing rights sola by CONMEBOL in connection
with the Copa Libertadores included an array of bréadcasting
rights, sponsorship rights, and, starting in 1997, title
sponsorship rights. 1In 1998, Toyota, Inc. (“Toyotg”) became the
tournament’s first title sponsor, a position it held thfough
2007, during which period the tournament was known as the “Copa
Téyéta Libertadores.é Grupo Santander (“Santander”) was the
tournament’s title sponsor from 2008 to 2012, during which
period the tournament was known as the “Copa Santander
' Libertadores.” Bridgestone Corporation (“Bridgestone”) was the
tournament’s title sponsor from 2013 through the present, during
which period the tournament was known as the “Copa Bridgestone
Libertadores.”

142. Television broadcasts of the Copa Libertadores. -
reached millions of viewers in markets across the globe,
including the United States. According to CONMEBOL, the Copa
Libertadores was among the most widely watched sporting events

in the world. The tournament was broadcast in more than 135
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countries and, in 2009 and 2010, drew more than one billion
viewers. The United States accounted for 16% of the audience
share in 2010, behind only Brazil, Mexico, andIArgentina.

143. As the popularity and reach of the Copa
Libertadores grewL so, too, did the value of the sponsorship
rights to the tournament sold by CONMEBOL. The United States
was an important and lucrétive market for the commercialization
of these rights.

144. Starting in or about. 1996 and continuing'
thereafter, Co-Conspirator #5 - operating through Sports
Marketing Company A, a New Jersey-based sports marketing company
that Co-Conspirator #5 founded and owned - was the exclusive
marketing agent for the worldwide sponsorship rights to the Copa
Libertadores. As marketing agent, Co-Conspirator #5 identified
- potential tournament sponsors and négotiated contracts for the
commerdialization of the sponsorship rights to the tournament,
including with major internafional businesses based or with
offices in the United States, all in eéchange for commission
payments.

145. On or about August 15, 1997, CONMEBOL, Sports
Marketing Company A, and a Japanese marketing agency (the
“Japanese Marketing Agency”) acting on behalf of Toyota entered

into a contract pursuant to which Toyota became the first title
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sponsor of the Copa Libertadbres, for the 1998, 1999, and 2000
editions of the tournament. The contract was signed by Co-
Conspirator #5, on‘behalf of Sports Marketing Company A and as
CONMEBOL’ s exclusive marketing agent; the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ
and'Co—ConSpifator #8 on behalf of CONMEBOL; and a
representative of the Japanese Marketing Agency, for the benefit
of Toyota. Toyota subsequently contracted with the same parties
for the title sponsorship fights to the 2001 through 2007
editions of the tournament. In total, Toyota paid CONMEBOL over
$35 million for the title sponsorship rights to the Copa
Libertadores from 1998 through 2007. |

146. On or about September 27, 2007, CONMEBOL, Sports '
Marketing Company A, and Santander entered into a $40 million
contract pursuant to which Santander became the title sponsor of
the Copa Libertadores for the 2008 through 2012 editions, at a
cost of $8 million per edition. The contract was signed by Co-
Conspirator #5, on behalf of Sports Marketing Company Avand as
‘CONMEBOL’S exclusive marketing agent; the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ
and Co-Conspirator #8, among other members of the CONMEBOL
executive committeé, on behalf of CONMEBOL;-and representatives
of Santander and a Chilean company acting as an intermediary

rights holder on Santander’s behalf.

66




147. On of about October 19, 2012; CONMEROL, Sports
Marketing Company A, and Bridgestone eﬁtered into a $57 million
contract pursuaﬁt to which Bridgestone became the tiﬁle sponsor
of the Copa Libertadores for the 2013 through 2017 editions.
The signatories to the contract were Co-Conspirator #5, on
behalf of Sports Marketing Company A and as CONMEBOL’s exclusive
marketing agenf; the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ on behalf of
CONMEBOL;; énd representatives of Bridgestone and an intermediary
rights holdér on Bridgestone’s behalf.

148. On or about March 17, 2000, an entity affiliated
with Sports Marketiﬁg Company A (the “Sports Marketing Company A
affiliate”), the identity of which is known to the Grand Jury,
CONMEBOL, and Co-Conspirator #5 entered into a $56.1 million
contract puréuant to which, émong other things, the Sports
Marketing Company A affiliate acquired the sponsorship rights to
the Copa Libertadores, excluding title sponsorship rights, for
each edition of the tournament from 2001 through 2007, and
CONMEBOL designated, and the affiliate'agreed to the designation
of, Co-Conspirator #5 as exclusive marketing‘agént for the
sponsorship rights to the tournament. The contract was signed
by Co-Conspirator #5, a representative from the Sports Marketing

Company A affiliate, and, on behalf of CONMEBOL, the defendant
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NICOLAS LEOZ and Co-Conspirator #8. The contract was renewed in
or about 2007 and égain in or about 2012.

149. Beginning in or about the early 2000s, the
defendant NICOLAS LEOZ at various times solicited bribe and
kickback payments from Co—Conspirator #5 in exchange for LEOZ's
support,.as CONMEBOL'’ s president and a member of its exécutive
committee, of Co-Conspirator #5 as the exclusive marketing agent
for the sponsorship rights to the Copa Libertadores. LEOZ
specified various means for Co-Conspirator #5 to make the
payments, including direct payments into bank accounts
controlled by LEOZ, diversion of,fﬁnds owed to CONMEBOIL into
LEOZ' s pérsonal bank accounts, and transfers of extra-
contractual payments into a CONMEBOL bank account.

150. The defendant NICOLAS LEOZ also devised means of
concealing the nature of the bribe paymenﬁs. For example, iﬁ or
about 2010, LEOZ, through an assistant, directed Co-Conspirator
#5 to wire a payment to LEOZ’s personal accoﬁnt at Banco do
Brazil and to reference a sham consulting contract as the basis
fof the transfer. The reference to the consulting contract was
designed to make theAbribe payment to LEOZ, which was not
ultimately sent, appear legitimate and, among other things,
thereby evade financial institutions’ anti-money laundering

controls.
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151. Cé—Conspirator #5 agreed to make and did make
bribe payments to LEOZ. Among other things, the purpose of the
payments was to obtain and/or retain, for Sports Marketing
Company A_and for the Sports Marketing Company A affiliate,
contracts fbr the sponsorship rights associated with the Copa
Libertadores, the ability to commercialize those rights, and the
potential to secure contracts for qunsorship rights to
additional CONMEBOL tournaments.

152. In or about and between February and May 2006,
the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ directed Co-Conspirator #5 to send
more than $2 million owed to CONMEBOL pursuant to CONMEBOL’s
contract with the Sports Marketing Company A affiliafe to
personal bank accounts of LEOZ in Switzerland and Paraguay. Co-
Conspirator #5 used the wire facilities of the United States to
communicate over email and by telephoné to coordinate the
transfer of funds from the Sports Marketing Company A

affiliate’s account to LEOZ’s accounts.

153. From time to time in or about 2008, the defendant
NICOLAS LEOZ directed Co-Conspirator #5 to make payments above
and beyond-any payments that Co-Conspirator #5 owed by contract
to a CONMEBOL bank account in Paraguay. Co-Conspirator #5 used

the wire facilities of the United States to make the payments
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and to communicate with bank officials and others to facilitate
the paymeﬁts. |

154. Also in or about 2008, after Sports Ma:keting
Company A, CONMEBOL, and Santander entered into the $4O million
title Sponsofship contract deécribed above, Co-Conspirator #8
solicited bribe and kickback payments from Co-Conspirator #5 in
the amount of $400,000 per year. Co-Conspirator #5 agreed to
make these payments and used the wire facilities of the Unitéd
States to make bribe and kickback payments to Co-Conspirator #8
periodically until 2012, through two companies controlled by Co-
Conspirator #8, thevidentities of which are known to the Grand
‘Jury.

155. The defendant NICOLAS LEOZ, directly or through
personal assistants, frequently used the wire facilitieé.of the
United States to communicate by email in furtherance of the
criminal schemé and to effect the transfer of legitimate and
illegitimate payments in furtherance of the scheme.

D. CBF Copa do Brasil Scheme

156. Between in or about 1990 and 2009, Tfaffic
entered into a series of contracts with CBF, the Brazilian
soccer federation, to acquire the commércial rights associated
with the Copa do Brasil, an annual.tournamént for Brazil’s top

club teams. During the course of this period, Co-Conspirator
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#11 - a high-ranking FIFA, CONMEBOL and CBF official - solicited
and receivedvbribes from Co-Conspirator #2 in connection with
the sale of the Copa do Brasil media rights.

| 157. As a.result of an agreement reached betweeﬁ CBF
and Traffic on or about January 22; 2009, Traffic Braéil owned
the rights to each edition of the Copa do Brasil to be played-
from 2009 through 2014.

158. On or about December 8, 2011, Sports Marketing
Company B, a Traffic competitor owned by Co-Conspirator #6,
entered intq a contract with CBF to purchase the commercial
rights for all editions of the Copa do Brasil between 2015 and
2022.

159. In order to cbtain the contract from CBF, Co-
Conspirator #6 agreed to pay an annual bribe to Co-Conspirator
#11, as Co-Conspirator #2 had done iﬁ the past. During the
course of their negotiations, Co-Conspirator #6 traveled to the
United States to discuss the matter with Co-Conspirator #11.

160. The signing of the foregoing contract between
Sports Markefing Cpmpany B and CRF led to a dispute between Co-
Conspirator #6 and Co-Conspirator #2, who perceived Co-
Conspirator #6 - a former employee of his from Traffic Brazil -

as stealing Traffic’s business with CBF.
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161. On or about August 15, 2012, to résolve this
dispute, Traffic Brazil and Spofts Marketing Company B entefed
~into a contract to pooi their marketing rights for future
editions of the Copa do Brasil, from 2013 to 2022, and to share
equally in the profits. As part of the‘contract, Traffic Brazil
also agreed’to pay 12 million reais to Sports Maiketing Company
B over the course of the contract.

162. Co-Conspirator #6 advised Co—Conspiratbr #2 of
the bfibe payments he had agfeed to make to Conspirator #11.
Co-Conspirator #6 furtﬁe: advised Co-Conspirator #2 that the
bribe payment he had originally negotiated with Co-Conspirator
#11 had increased when other CBF officials, ihcluding the
defendant JOSE.MARIA MARIN (who became the president of CBF in
or about 2012), and Co-Conspirator #12, requested bribe payments
as well. Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to pay half the cost of the
bribe payments, which totaled 2 million reais per yeér, to be
distributed among MARIN, Co—Conspirétor #11 and Co-Conspirator
#12. As of August 15, 2012, 2 million reais eguated to
approximately $986,000.

163. Co-Conspirator #2 and Co-Conspirator #6 used the
wire facilities of the United Staées in furtherance of the Copa
do Brasil bribery scheme, including in connection with the

following domestic and international wire transfers:

72




DATE WIRE COMMUNICATION

December 5, 2013- Wire transfer of $500,000 from
Sports Marketing Company B’s
account at Itad Unibanco in New
York, New York, to a JP Morgan
Chase correspondent account in New
York, New York, for credit to the
account of a luxury yacht
manufacturer at HSBC bank in
London, England.

December 23, 2013 Wire transfer of $450,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco Itau
account in New York, New York in
the name of Sports Marketing
Company B.
164. In or about April 2014, the defendant JOSE MARIA
MARIN traveled to Miami, Florida to attend a press conference
announcing the Copa América Centenario, a joint CONCACAF-
CONMEBOL tournament discussed further below. MARIN had a
meeting with Co-Conspirator #2 during the trip in which MARIN.
discussed the status of the payments due to him and Co-
Conspirator #12 in connection with the Copa do Brasil scheme.
At one point, when Co-Conspirator #2 asked whether it was really
necessary to continue to pay bribes to MARIN’s predecessor as
CBF president, MARIN stated, “[I]t’s about time to - to have it
coming our way. True or not?” Co-Conspirator #2 agreed,

stating; “Of course, of course, of course. That money had to be

given to you.” MARIN agreed: “That’s it, that’s right.”
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E. CBF Sponsorship Scheme

165. The Brazilian national team won the 1994 World
Cup, which was hoéted by the United States in June and July of
that year. Around the same time, a representative of a
multinational sportswear company headquartered in the United
States (“Sportswear Cpmpany A”), the identity of which is known
to the Grand Jury, approéched CBE to detgrmine whether CBF was
interested inlbeing sponsored by Sportswear Company A. At the
time, CBF alfeady had a sponsorship agreement with another
American sportswear company (“Sportswear Company B”), the
identity of which is known to the Grand Jury. Thereafter Co-
conspiratér #11, a high-ranking CONMEBOL and CBF official, and
Co-Conspirator #2, on behalf of Traffic Brazil, which at the
time served as CSF’S marketing agent, began negotiations with
representatives of Sportswear Company A. |

166. The negotiations lasted into 1996. The parties
ultimately agreed to a 1l0-year deal,.which required, among other
things, that Sportswear Company A compensate Sportswear Company
B, which agreed to terminate its existing contract with CBF.

167. On or about July 11, 1996, the»parties met in New
York City for the closing. The contract was signed by Co-
Conspirator #11 on behalf of CBF, Co-Conspirator #2 on behalf of

Traffic Brazil, and four representatives of Sportswear Company
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A. Among other terms, the contract, a 44-page Sponsorship and
Endorsement Agreement (the “Agreement”), required Sportswear
Company.A-to pay CBF $160 million over 10 years for the right to
be one-of CBE’S co-sponsors and to be CBF’s exclusive footwear,
apparel, accessories, and equipment supplier. CBF remitted a
percentage of the value of the payments it received under the
Agreement to Traffic Brazil.

168. Additional financial terms were not reflected in
the Agreement. Sportswear Company A agreed to pay a Traffic
affiliate with a Swiss bank account an additional $40 million in .
base compensation on top of the $160 million it was obligated to
pay to CBF pursuant toc the Agreement. On July 14, 1996, three
cdays after the Agreement was signed, a representative of
Sportswear Company A and a representative of Traffic Brazil (Co-
Conspirator #2) signed a one-page letter agreement acknowlédging
as follows: “CBF has authorized Traffic, or its designated
banking agent, to invoice [Sportswear Company A] directly for
marketing fees earned upon successful negotiation and
performance cof the ... [Agreement].” Between 1996 and 1999,
Traffic invoiced Sportswear Company A directly for $3Q million
in payments.

169. Co-Conspirator #2 agreed to pay and did pay Co-

Conspirator #11 half of the money he made from the sponsorship
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deal, totaling in the millions of dollars, as a bribe and
kickback.

170. On or about January 25, 2002, the parties agreed’
to terminate the_Agreement before the end of the 10-year term,
ending any further obligations thereunder between Sportswear
Company A and CBF, and between Sportswear Company A and Traffic
Braéil.

F. CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #1

171. Since at least in or about 1998, the media rights
to matches played by nations seeking to quaiify for the World
Cup have been owned by the home team for each qualifier match.
In negotiatiné the sale of these rights, CFU member associations
agfeed to pool their “home team” rights. The value of such
rights was dependent in significant part on the market size of
thé opponent of the CFU member association, with Mexico and the
United States generally being the largest markets - and thus the
most “valuable” opponenfs to play -~ in the CONCACAF region. By
pooling their rights and selling them prior to the draw for the
next round of World Cup qualifier matches, CFU member
associations sought to maximize leverage and increase
profitability to ail the members.

172. From at least in or about 1998 until in or about

May 2011, the defendant JACK WARNER, as president of CFU, was
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résponsible for negotiating the sale of the CFU member
associations’ rights with sports marketing companies, including
with Traffic USA. Durigg thevsame period, WARNER was also a
special advisor to TTFF, the Trinidadian federation.

173. Beginniﬁg in 1998, CFU entered into contracts
with Traffic USA for the sale of its members’ rightsvto'their
home World Cup qﬁalifier matches. The first sﬁch contract,
dated October 10, 1998, concerned the rights to gqualifier
matches to be played in cénnection with the 2002 World Cup (the
"2002 World Cup qualifiers contracf”). The second contract,
dated Jﬁly 17, 2000, concerned the rights to qualifier matches
to be played in connection.with the 2006 World Cup (the “2006
World Cup qualifiers contract”). The third contract, dated
August 13, 2005, concerned the rights to qualifier métches to be
played in connection with the 2010 World Cup (fhe 22010 World
Cup qualifiers dontract”). The fourth contract; dateé July 3,
2009, and then subsequently revised on Decembér 9, 2010,
concerned the rights to qualifier matches to be played in
connection with the 2014 World Cup (the “2014 World Cup
qualifiers contract”). CFU’s negotiations regardiﬁg each of
these contracts were controlled by the defendant JACK WARNER, °

and WARNER signed each of these contracts on behalf of CFU.
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174. Beginning with at least the 2006 World Cup
gualifiers contract, the céntracts stated that they included the
sale of media rights owned by all CFU member associations,
including TTFF.

175. Sepafately, héwever, at the defenaant JACK
WARNER’ s request, Traffic USA executives, including Co-
Conspirator #4, Co-Conspirator #9, and Co-Conspirator #13,
created aﬁother document purporting to bé a contract with TTFF
for the same rights Traffic USA had ourchased as part of its
deal with CFU. WARNER signed these contracts; which were
typically negotiated at the same time as the CFU contracts, as
“special_advisqr” to TTFF.

176. Rather fhan paying the full value of CFU’s
contract to CFU and its member associations, Traffic USA
executives, including Co-Conspirator #4, at the defendant JACK
WARNER’s request, diverted a substantial portion of that wvalue
to an account controlled by WARNER, purportedly as payment on
Traffic USA’s contract with TTFF.

177. For example, the 2006 World Cup qualifiers
contract provided that Traffic USA was to pay CFU a base price
of $900,000 for the media rights covered by the contract, which
included the media rights owned by TTFF. At the same time,

Traffic USA entered into a contract with TTFF providing that
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Traffic USA would pay TTFF $800,000 for the same TTFF rights it
had pufchased as part of its contract with CFU.

178. Upon the defendant JACK WARNER’s request, Traffic
‘USA executives subsequently wired payments on the TTFF contract
to an account at a bank in Trinidad and Tobago that WARNER
controlled.

179. For example, on or about April 19, 2004, Traffic
wired $40,000 from.an account at Citibank in Miami, Florida to a
correspondent aécount at Wachovia Bank, for further credit to an
account held in the name of “LOC Germany 2006 Liﬁited” at First
Citizens Bank in Trinidad and Tobago.

180. Approximately 11 days prior to the transfer, the
defendant JACK WARNER sent an email to First Citizens Baﬁk,'
requesting that_the bénk transfer $60,000 from the LOC Germany'
2006 Limited account to his “personal checking,accouht." In the
same email, WARNER advised that he expected a $40,000 deposit
into the account the following week.

18i. Similarly, the 2010 World Cup.qualifiers contraét
provided that Traffic USA was to pay CFU $2.2 millioh for the
media rights covered by the contract, which included the media
righté owned by TTFF. At the same time, Traffic USA entered

into a contract with TTFF providing that Traffic USA would pay
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TTFF $800,000 for the same TTFF rights it had purchased és part
of its contract with CFU.

182. Upon the defendant JACK WARNER’s request and as
payment on the TTFF contract, on or about June 1, 2005, Traffic
USA executives wired $40,000 from an account at Citibank in
Miémi, Florida to a correspondent account at Wacho&ia Bank, for
further credit to the LOC Germany 2006 Limited'account at First
Citizens Bank in Trinidad and Tobago. |

183. Five days later, -on or aboﬁt June 6, 2005, the
defendant JACK WARNER transferred $40,000.from the LOC Germany
2006 Limited account to another bank account held in his name.

184. As part of this scheme and in order to ensure
that TTFF would continue to receive payments from Traffic USA
related to the TTFF contracts, the defendant JACK WARNER
concealed the'existence of the TTFF contracts from the CFU
member associations.

G. 2010 FIFA World Cup Vote Scheme

185; In or about 2004, the FIFA executive committee
considered bids frém Morocco, South Africa and Egypt, as well és
other nations that withdrew before the vote, to host the 2010
World Cup.

186. Previously, the defendant JACK WARNER and his

family had cultivated ties with South African soccer officials
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in cpnnection with and subsequent to a failed bid by South
Africa to host the 2006 World Cup. 1In the early 2000s, Co—-
Conspirator #14, a member of WARNER’s family, had ﬁsed WARNER’ s
‘contacts\in South Africa to organize friendly matches for
CONCACAF teams to play in South Africa. Aﬁ one point, WARNER
also directed Co-Conspirator #14 to fly to Paris, france apd
accept a briefcase containing bundles of U.S. currency in
$10,000 stacks.in a hotel room from Co-Conspirator #15, a high-
ranking South African bid committee official. Hours aftér‘
arriving in Paris, Co-Conspirator #14 boarded a return flight
and carried thelbriefcase back to Trinidad and Tobago, where Co-
Conspiratoﬁ #14 provided it to WARNER.

187. In the months before the selection of the host
nation for thé 2010 World Cup, which was scheduled to take place
in May 2004, the defendant JACK WARNER and Co—Conspirator‘#l
.traﬁeled to Morocco as they had done in 1992, in advance of the
voting for the 1998 World Cup host. While in Morocco dufing the
2004 trip, a representative of the Moroccan bid committee
offered to pay $1 million to WARNER in exéhange for his
- agreement to cast his secret ballot on the FIFA executivé
committee for Morocco to host the 2010 World Cup.

188. Subsequently, Co-Conspirator #1 learned from the

defendant JACK WARNER that high~ranking officials of FIFA, the
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South African government, and the South African bid committee,
including Co-Conspirator #16, were prepared to arrange for the
goverﬁment of South Africa to pay.$10 million to CFU to “support
the African diaspora.” Co-Conspirator #1 understood the offer
to be in exchange for the agreement of WARNER, Co-Conspirator
#1, and Co-Conspirator #17 to all vote for Soﬁth Africa, rather
than Morocco, to host the 2010 World Cup; At the time, Co-
Conspirator #17, like WARNER and Co-Conspirator #1, was a FIFA
executive committee member. WARNER indicated that he had
accepted the offer and told Co-Conspirator #1 that he would give
a $1 million portion of the $10 million payment to Co-
Conspirator #1.

189. In FIFA’s executive committee vote held on May
15, 2004, South Africa was selected over Morocco and Egypt to
host the 2010 World Cup. The defendant JACK WARNER, Co-
Conspirator #1, and Co-Conspirator #17 indicated that they voted
for South Africa.

190. In the months and years after the vote, Co-
Conépirator #1 periodically asked WARNER about the status of the
$10 million payment.

191. At one point, Co-Conspirator #1 learned that the
South Africans were unable to arraﬁge for the payment to be made

directly from government funds. Arrangements were thereafter
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made with FIFA officials to instead have the $10 million sent
from FIFA - using funds that would otherwise have gone from FIFA
to South Africa to support the World Cup - to CFU.

192. In'fact, on January 2, 2008, January 31, 2008 and
March 7, 2008, a high-ranking FIFA official caused payments of
$616,600, $1,600,000, and $7,784,000 - totaling $10 million - to
be wired froﬁ a FIFA account in Switzerland to a Bank of Aﬁerida
correspondent account in New York, New York, for credit to
accounts held in the names of CFU and CONCACAF, but controlled
by the defendant JACK WARNER, at Republic Bank in Trinidad and
Tobago.

193. Soon after receiving these wire transfers, the
defendant JACK WARNER caused a substanfial portion of the funds
to be diverted for his personal use. For example, on January 9,
2008, WARNER directed Republic Bank officials to apply $200,000
of the $616;OOO that héd been transferred into a CFU account
from FIFA one week earlier toward a pefsonal loan account held
in his name.

194. The defendant JACK WARNER.also diverted a portion
of the funds into his personal accounts by laundering the funds
through intermediaries. For example, dﬁring the period from
January 16, 2008 to March 27, 2008, WARNER caused approximately

$1.4 million of the $10 million to be transferred to Individual
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#1, a Trinidadian businessman whose identity is known to the
Grand Jury, and Trinidadian Compény A, a large supermarket~chain
in Trinidad and Tobago controlled by Individual #1. Weeks
later, checks totaling approximately the same amount and.drawn
‘on an account held in the name of Trinidadian Company B, a real
estate and investment company also controlled by Individual #1,
were deposited iﬁto a bank account held in the name of WARNER
and a family member at First Citizens Bank in Trinidad and
Tobago. The identities of Trinidadian Company A and Trinidadian
Company B are kﬁown to the Grand Jury.

195. During the three years following WARNER's receipt
of the $10 million from FIFA, WARNER made three payments to Co-
Conspirator #1, totaling over $750,000, in partial payment of
the $1 million that WARNER had earlier promised Co—Coﬁspirator
#1 as part of the bribe scheme.

196. The first payment, in the amount of $298,500, was
made by wire transfer sent on or about December 19, 2008 from an
account held in‘the name of CFU at Republic Bank in Trinidad and
Tobago, to a Bank ovamerica correspondent accouﬁt in New York,
New York; for credit to an account controlled by Co-Conspirator
#1 aﬁ a bank in the Cayman Islands.

197. The second payment, in the amount of $205,000,

was made by check drawn on an account held in the name of CFU at
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Republic Bank in Trinidad and Tobago. ©On or about September 27,
2010, Co-Conspirator #1 cauéed the check to be deposited into
his Merrill Lynch bfokerage account ‘in New York, New York.
Approximately one month earlier, on or about August 23, 2010,
WARNER sent.an email to Co-Conspirator #1 to advise him that the
payment was férthcomihg.

198. The third paymeht, in the amount of $250,000, was
made by check drawn on an account held in the name of CFU at
Republic Bank in Trinidad and Tobagc. The check was delivered
to Co-Conspirator #1 by another individual who traveled by
airplane frdm Trinidad and Tobago to JFK International Airport
in Queens, New York, and then to CONCACAF;S headguarters in New
York, New York, where he delivered the check to Co—Coﬁspirator
#i. A representative of FirstCaribbean Internatidnai Bank in
the Bahamas, where Co-Conspirator #1 held another account,
subsequently traveled by airplane to New York,‘landing at
Kennedy Airport. After arriving, the bank representative
traveled to New York, New York, where he took custody of the
check. He subsequently traveled to the Bahamas and, on orvabout
May 3, 2011, deposited the check into Co-Conspirator #1's
accoﬁnt. Apprdximateiy two'months earlier, on ér about March
13, 2011, WARNER sent an email to Co-Conspirator #1 to advise

him that the payment was forthcoming.

85




199. Co-Conspirator #1 never received the balance of

the promised $1 million payment.

H. UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme

200. As noted aboﬁe, UNCAF was.a regional federation
within CONCACAF, which included as members the soccer
federations of the Central American nations. Like CFU, UNCAF
members sought to sell the media rights they owned to home team
matches played to qualify for the World Cup. Unlike CFU,‘the
UNCAF members'did not agree to pool their rights; instead, the
UNCAF member nations negotiated separately with prospective
purchasers of the rights, which included Traffic USA.

201. Beginning in or about 2007, Co-Conspirator #4 was
the Traffic USA executive responsible for negotiating with the
UNCAF member associations for the purchase of media rights to
World Cup qualifier matéhes. Ih oﬁder to obtain contracts from
four soccer federations in the UNCAF region, Co—Conspi;ator #4
agreed to pay bribes to the presidents of those federations,
including the defendants EDUARDO LI and JULIO ROCHA.

20Z2. In or about 2009, Cb—Conspirator #4 began
negotiating with the defendant EDUARDO LI, the president of the
Federacidn Costafricense‘de Fatbol (FEDEFUT), the Costa Rican
soccer federation, to renew the exclusive worldwide commercial

rights to that federation’s home qualifier matches in advance of
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the 2018 World Cup. On or about September 4, 2009, Traffic USA
‘and FEDEFUT entered into a contract. valued between $2.55 and $3
million (depending on the Feamfs'success), with a schedule of
payments due between 2014 and 2017? The contract was signed by
LI and Co—Conspirator #4. During the negotiations, LI aéked Co-
Conspirator #4 for a six—figure bribe in exchange for his
agréement to award the contract to Traffic QSA. After obtaining
approval within Traffic, Co—Conspiratof #4 agreed to the payment
and caused it to be made.

203. After Co-Conspirator #4 left his position at
Traffic USA to become general secretary of CONCACAF in 2012, the
defendant EDUARDO LI contiﬁued to seek bribe payments in
connection with the sale of FEDEFUT’s future World Cup qualifier
rights.

204. The defendant JULIO ROCHA also participated in
this scheme. In or about 2011, ROCHA - at the time the
president of the Federacidén Nicaraglense de'Fﬁtbol (FENIFUT),
the Nicaraguan soccer federation - began negotiating with Co-
Conspirator #4 to renew the exclusive worldwide commercial
rights to exploit FENIFUT’s rights to home qualifier matches in
advance of the 2018 World'Cup. On or about April 26, 2011,
Traffic USA and FENIFUT entered into a contract valued between

$1.138 and $1.288 million (depending on the team’s success),
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with a schedule of payments due between 2011 and 2018. The
contract was signed by'ROCHA and Cd—Conspirator #4.

205. During the negotiatioﬁs, the defendant JULIO
ROCHA asked Co-Conspirator #4 for a six~figure bribe in exchanger
for his agreement to aWard the contract to Traffic USA. Co-
Conspirator #18, a FIFA official who wés ihvolved iﬁ
facilitating the negotiations, also asked for a payment for
himself and was aware of the payment to ROCHA. After obtaining
approval within Traffic, Co-Conspirator #4 agreed to the
payments and caused them to be made.

266. The bribe payment was sent to the defendant JULIO
ROCHA in a manner designed to conceal‘the source and nature of
the payment. On May 26, 2011, at the direction of Traffic
executives, $150,000 was wired from an accounﬁ held in the name
of Co—Conspirator #19, an intermediary, at Banco Itall in Brazil,
to an acqount held in the name of one of Co-Conspirator #19’s
affiliatéd companies at Banco Itau in Miami, Florida. The
following day, the funds were wired from the latter account to
an account at BankInter in Madrid, Spain, held in ROCHA’s name.
According to ROCHA, his portion of the payment was $100,000, and
$50,000 was for Co-Conspirator #19.

207. In or about 2012, the defendant JULIO ROCHA

stepped down as president of FENIFUT. Nonetheless, he continued
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to solicit bribe payments in connection with the sale of
- FENIFUT’s future World Cup qualifier rights.

'205. On or about-February 25,‘2014, the -defendant
JULIO ROCHA met with Co-Conspirator #4 in Miami, Florida. At
the time, ROCHA was employed by FIFA as a development officer,
and Co-Conspirator #4 was the general secretary of CONCACAF.
During the meeting, ROCHA asked Co-Conspirator #4 to speak with
his successor at Traffic USA about whether ROCHA could receive a
payment in connection with the sale of FENIFUT’/s rights to their
gualifier matches in advance of the 2022 World Cup.

209. During the time Co-Conspirator #4 was responsible
for negotiating on behalf of Traffic USA with the UNCAF-region
soccer federations for the purchase of media rigﬁts, Traffic USA
made at leasf two othef bribe payments to two other presidents
of UNCAF member associations in connection wifh the purchase of
rights for World Cup qualifier matches.

- I. 2011 FIFA Presidential Election Schéme

210. In or about March 2011, Co-Conspirator #7
declared himself to be a candidate in the FIFA presidential
election scheduled for June 1, 2011. At the time, Co-

" Conspirator #7 was a high-ranking official at FIFA and AFC. In

accordance with the FIFA statues, the president of FIFA was
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elected by the FIFA congress, which was composed of
representatives from each of the 200+ FIFA member associations.

éll. On or about April 1, 2011, Co—Conspir%tor #7 sent
an email to the defendant JACK WARNER’S America Online email
accéunt and asked WARNER to organize an extraordinary congress
of the CONCACAF member associations, so that Co-Conspirator #7
could address them regarding his candidacy. WARNER subsequentiy
sent emails to CONCACAF officials, including to officials based
in New York, New York, for the purpose of orgahizing the
requested meeting.. For a time, bgfore he was denied a visa, Co-
Conspirator #7 was to have addressed the entire CONCACAF
éongress in the first week of May.

212. Following fﬁrther correspéhdence, the defendant
JACK WARNER agreed to organize a sﬁecial meeting of the CFU
member associations, father than the entire CONCACAF membership.
It was further agreed that Co-Conspirator #7 would pay the costs
associated with organizing the meeting.

213. On or about April 28, 2011, $363,537.98 was wired '
from an account controlled by Co-Conspirator #7 to an account
held in the name of CFU and controlled by the defendant JACK
WARNER at Republic Bank inATrinidad and Tobagc. The funds were
transmitted to Trinidad and Tobago through an account at Bank of

America in New York, New York.
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214.>Upon direction by the defendant JACK WARNER, CFU
officials sent emails to representatives of CFU.member
associations; including two member associations based in United
States territories, inviting them to the meeting with Co-
Conspirator #7. The CFU meeting fook place on May 10 and May
11, 2011 at the Hyaﬁt Regency Hotel in Trinidad and Tobago. The
meeting was attended by the presidents and other officials
representing the CEU ﬁember associations, including high-ranking
offieials of the Puerto Rico Football Federation and the U.S.
Virgin Islands Football federation, whose identities are knowﬁ'
to the Grand Jury.

215. On May 10, 2011, Co-Conspirator #7 addressed the
member associations regarding his candidacy, stating,'among
other things, that he was seeking their support in the June 1,
2011 FIFA presidential-election. Following Co—Conspirater #7' s
address, the defendant JACK WARNER advised the CFU officials
that they could pick up a “gift” that afternocon et a conference
room in the hotel.

216. During the afternoon of May 10, 2011, certain CFU
officials, including an official of one of the member
associations of a United States territory (“Official #1”), went
to the appointed confereﬁce room, as directed by the defendant

JACK WARNER. The officials were instructed by CFU staff members
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in the room to enter the room one at a time. Inside the room,
CFU étaff handed each official an envelope bearing the name of
the member-assoéiation that he represented. 1Inside each
envelope was $40,000 in United States currency.

217. Prior to entering the conference room, Official
#1 was advised that he must enter alone,‘and could not be
accompanied by any other officials from his delegation. Upon
receiving his envelope, Official #1 was directed by CFU staff to
open it while in the conference room. Official #1 was further
instructed not to discuss the payment with anyone.

218. The following day, May 11, 2011, the defendant
JACK WARNER convened a‘meeting of the CFU officials prior to the
scheduled start time. At the meeting WARNER stated that the
U.S. currency the members had received was from Co-Conspirator
#7, and that WARNER had advised Co-Conspirator #7 fo allow CFU
staff to distribute the money so that it would not “even
 remotely appear that anybody has any obligation for your vote
because of what gift you have given them.” WARNER further
stated that a representative of one of the CFU member
associations had contacted CONCACAF offices in New York to
advise Co-Conspirator #1 of the payments. WARNER was angry that
the representative had done this. WARNER stated, “There are

some people here who think they are more pious than thou. If
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you’fe pious,-open a church, friends. Our business is our
busineés."

219. On or about May 12, 2011, Official #1 flew back
home. On or azbout May 13, 2011, Official #1 deposited the
$40,000 into a bank account in the United States.

220. The purpose of the $40,000 payments was to induce
officials of the CFU member associatiéns, including Official #1,
to vote for Co-Conspirator #7 in the June 1, 2011 FIFA
presidentiél election. The defendant JACK WARNER partiéipated
. in the scheme by organiziﬁg the CFU meeting on May 10 and May
11, 2011, and by facilitating the $40,000 payment to each of the
CFU officials in attendance.

221. On or about July 14, 2011, after the scheme had
been uncovered and the defendant JACK WARNER resigned‘from his
soccer-related positions, Co-Conspirator #7 caused $1,211,980 to
be wired from an account that he controlled at Doha Bank in
Qatar, to a cofreépondént account at Citibank, for credit to an
account held in WARNER’s ﬁame at Intercommercial Bank in
Trinidad and Tobago. Prior to receiving the funds in this
account, WARNER attembted to have them wired instead. to the bank

accounts of two of his family members, including Co-Conspirator
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#14, and a member of his staff,~but the bank where those
accounts were held refused to accept the funds.

J. CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2

222. On or about May 10, 2011, a repreéentative of one
of the CFU member associations that had been offered one of the
$40,000 cash payments described above reported the payment to
Co-Conspirator #1, at the time general secretary of CONCACAF. .
Co-Conspirator #1 subsequently advised FIFA, which initiated
disciplinary proceedings égainst the defendant JACK WARNER and
Co-Conspirator #7. In or about June 2011, WARNEé agréed to
resign from all soccer-related positions, in@luding as/FIFA vice
president and executive committee member, CONCACAF president,
CFU president, and TTFF special advisor.  Later that year, Co-
‘Conspirator #1 resigned as geﬁeral secretary of CONCACAF.

223. Invor about May 2012, CONCACAF elected the
defendant JEFFREY WEBB to bé its president. In or about July
2012, Co-Conspirator #4, who had been a vice president at
Traffic USA, was appointed as CONCACAF’s general secretary.

224. Prior to his appointment, Co-Conspirator #4
participated, on behalf of Traffic USA, in the negotiation of a
contract to acquire the media and marketing rights to the 2018
and 2022 World Cup qualifier matches from the CFU member

associlations. The defendant JEFFREY WEBB, at the time the
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president of the Cayman islands Football.Association and a-high_
level CFU official, participated in the negotiations on behalf
of CFU.

225. Near the end of the negotiatiéns, Co~ConSpirator
#4 met with the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS, a close associate of
the defendant 'JEFFREY WEBB, in Hungary. TAKKAS told Co-
Conspirator #4 that WEBB wanted a $3 million bribe in exchange
for his agreement to cause the CFU contract to be awarded to
Traffic USA. Co-Conspirator #4 agreed. When he returned to the
United States, Co-Conspirator #4 advised the defendant AARON
DAVIDSON, at the time the Traffic USA president, of the bribe.

226. The agreement by Traffic USA to purchase from CFU
the media and marketing rights to World Cup qualifier matches
was reached prior to Co-Conspirator #4’s departure from Traﬁfic
USA, but.ﬁas not formally executed until a few weeks after his
departure. On or about August 28, 2012, the parties entered
into a $23 million contract for the exclusive worldwide
commercial rights for CFU’s 2018 and 2022 World Cup qualifier
matchés. The defendant AARON DAVIDSON signed the contract on
behalf of Traffic USA.

227. Separately, Traffic USA entered into a
partnership with Sports Marketing Company C, a multinational

sports marketing company based in Europe with affiliates in the
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United States, to jointly exploif.the CFU World Cup qualifier
rights that Traffic USA was seeking to and ultimately did.
obtain. Co-Conspirator #4, on behalf of Traffic USA, and Cd—
Conspirator #13, Co-Conspirator #20, and Co-Conspirator #21, on
Behalf of S?orts Marketing Company C, participated in the
negotiations over the terms of the partnership. During the
-negotiations, Co-Conspirator #4 disclosed to Co-Conspirator #20
that Traffic USA had agreed to.pay a bribe to thevdefendant |
JEFFREY WEBB to obtain the rights. Co-Conspirator #20 agreed on
behalf of Sports Marketing Company C to split the cost of the
bribe.payment,'which meant that both companies would be
obligated to ﬁay WEBB $1.5 million.

228. To éffectuate payment of Traffic USA’s portion of
the bribe, Co-Conspirator #4 put the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS
into contact with Traffic executives in Brazil and also
participated in meetings on the subject. CofConspirator #4
participated in such meetings by.telephoné from Miami, Florida
and also in person in Brazil. The payment was eventuaily made
to accounts held in the name of entities controlled by TAKKAS,
the identities of which are known to the Grand Jury, and then
forwarded on through an intermediary acéount to the defendant

JEFFREY WEBB.
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229. Specifically, Traffic USA’'s payment was
transmitted to the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS in the following
manner: On or about November 13, 2012, $1.2 million was wired
from Traffic International’s account at Delta National Bank &
Trust Co. in Miami, Florida, to a correspondent account at HSBC
bank in Buffalo, New York, for credit to an account held in the
name of Front Company A, the identity of which is known to the
Grand Jury, at HSBC bank in Hong Kong. Apprdximately one week
later, - on or about Noyember 21, 2012, two wire transfers of
$750,000 and $250,000 were sent from Front Company A’s account
at HSBC bank in Hong Kong to a correspondent account at Standard
Chartered Bank in New York, New York, for credit to aﬂ account
in the name of Kosson Véntures, éontrolled by TAKKAS, at
Fidelity Bank in the Cayman Islands. The remaining $200,000 was
a fee paid to Co-Conspirator #22, the beneficial owner of Front
Company A and a resident of ‘Florida, to facilitaté the payment.

230. On or about December 14, 2012, the remaining
$500,000 of the $1.5 million promised to the defendant JEFFREY
WEBB was paild by Traffic through the account of aﬁother
individual, a business associate of Co-Conspirator #2, to
another account contrclled by the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS at

Fidelity Bank in the Cayman Islands.
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231. After receiving the funds, the defendant COSTAS
TAKKAS wired a portion to an account in his name at Citibank in
Miami. TAKKAS subsequently transferred the fﬁnds to én account
in the name of a swimming pool builder at United Community Bank
in Blairsville, Georgia, for the benefit of the defendant
JEFFREY WEBB, who was having a pool built at his residence in
Loganville, Georgia.. TAKKAS transferred another portion of the
funds directly from his Kosson Ventures account at Fidelity Bank
in the Cayman Islands to SunTrust Bank in Georgia for WEBB’s
benefit.in connection with WEBB’s purchase of other real estate
in Stone Mountain, Georgia.

232. The use of the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS' s company
to receive the payment, and TAKKAS's participation in the
transaction as an intermediary more generally, waé intended to
conceal the fact that the defendant JEFFREY WEBB was the
beneficiary of the payment.

233. To facilitate Sports Marketing Company C’s
payment of its portion of the bribe, Co-Conspirator #4 put Co-
Conspirator #20 into éontact with the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS,
but the payment was not immediately made. in 2014, the
defendant AARON DAVIDSON met with Co-Conspirator #2 in New York
to discuss the status of Traffic’s ongoing bribe schemes,

including the CFU World Cup gqgualifier scheme. Aécording to
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DAVIDSON, Sports Marketing Compaﬁy C still had not yet found a
way to pay the defendant JEFFREY WEBB its portion. of the bribe.
The following year, Co-Conspirator. #4 had conversations with
executives from Sporfs Marketing Company C,vincluding Co-
Conspirator #21, who continued to search for a method to make
the payment in a way that would conceal its true nature.

K. CONCACAF Gold Cup/Champions League Scheme

234. Shortly after he was appointed to be CONCACAF's
genéral secreﬁary in July 2012, Co-Conspirator #4, now on behalf
of CONCACAF, entered into negotiations with Traffic USA to sell
the commercial rights associated with upcoming editions of the
Gold Cup and Champions League, CONCACAF’s club tournameﬁt. . The
defendant AARON DAVIDSON was involved in the negotiations on
behalf of Traffic USA. Ultimately, on or about November 27,
2012, CONCACAF and Traffic USA énteréd into a $15.5 million
contract for the exclusive worldwide commercial rights for the
2013 édition of the Goid Cup and the 2013-14 and 2014;15 seasons
of the CONCACAF Champions League (the “2012 Gold Cup/Champions
League Contréct”).

235. The defendant JEFFREY WEBB directed Co-
Conspirator #4 to seek a bribe payment in connection with the
negotiations. Accordingly, in addition to the contract price,

Co-Conspirator #4 solicited from Traffic USA its agreement to
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pay WEBB a $1.1 million bribe in exchange for WEBB’s agreement
to award the 2012 Gold Cup/Champions League Contract to Traffic
USA. The defendant AARON DAViDSON and Co-Conspirator #2 agreed
to the bribe payment.

| 236. Thereafter, the defendant JEFFREY WEBB and Co-
Conspirator #4 discussed the best way to effectuate the bribe
payment in a manner that would conceal its nature. Ultimaﬁely,
WEBB décided to use an overseas company that manﬁfactured soccer
uniforms and soccer balls (“Soccer Uniform Company A”), the
identity of which is known to the Grand Jury. Co—Conspiratoi
#23, 1like the defendant COSTAS TAKKAS a close associate of WERB,
had a connection to Soccer Uniform Company A. WEBB eventually
instructed Co—Conspirétor #4 to submit a false invoice to
A(Traffic USA for $1.1 million to be paid to Soccer Uniform
Company A, which Co-Conspirator #4 did.

237. Traffic USA made domestic and international wire
transfers to make the contract’and bribe payments, respectively,
in connection with the 2012 Gold Cup/Champions League Contract.
For example, in 2013, fivé contract payments totaling $11
million were made by Wire transfer from Traffic USA’s account at
Citibank in Miami, Florida to én account in CONCACAF’'s name at
Jp Morgan'Chase bank in New York,'New York. On or about

December 4, 2013, the $1.1 million bribe payment for the
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defendant JEFFREY WEBB was made by wire transfer from Traffic
International’s account at Delta National Bank &-Trust in‘Miami,
to a Wells Fargo correspondent'account ip New York, New-York,
for credit to an account in'fhe name 5f Soc;er Uniform Company A
at Capital Bank in Panama City, Panama.

238. On or about November 15, 2013, Traffic USA
entered into a $60 million renewal contract for exclusive
sponsorship rights associated with the 2015, 2017, 2019, and
2021 editions of the Gold Cﬁp and the 2015-16, 2016-17, 2017-18,
2018-19, 2019—20, 2020-21, and 2021-22 seasons of the CONCACAF
Champions League (the “2013 Gold Cup/dhampions League
Cbntract”). Co-Conspirator #4 led the negotiations on behalf of
CONCACAF and the defendant AARON DAVIbSON led the negotiations
on behalf of Traffic USA.

239. Again, the defendant JEFFREY WEBB directed C§~
Conspirator #4 to solicit-a bribe for WEBB in exchange for
WEBB’ s agreement to award the 2013 Gold Cup/Champions League
'Contract to Traffic USA. Though WEBB Wanted more, the parties
evehtually settled on $2 million as the size of the bribe
payment. The defendént AARON DAVIDSON and Co—Conspifator #2 -
agreed to the bribe payment. |

240. In a March 2014 meeting with Co-Conspirator #2 in

Queens, New York to discuss the status of Traffic’s ongoing
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bribe schemes, iﬁcluding the Gold Cup/Champions ILeague schemes,
the defendant AARON DAVIDSON said, referring to the practice of
paying bribes to obtain commercial rights: “Ié it illegal? It
is illegal. Within the big picture of things, a company that
has worked in this industry for 30 years, is it bad? It is.

bad.”

L. CONMEBOL/CONCACAF Copa América Centenario Scheme

241. As noted above, from in or about 1991 to 2011,
Traffic entered into contracts with CONMEBOL, obtained and
retained through bribery, awarding Traffic the exclusive media
and marketing rights to all editions of the Copa América from
1993 to 2011. |

242. In or about 2009 or 2010, a group of six
presidents of_fhe traditionally less-powerful member
associatioﬁs of CONMEBOL formed a bloc to obtain control over
decisions with régard to the sale of CONMEBOL’S commefcial
propérties. This bloc was led by Co-Conspirator #24, who had
close ties with Full Play and the defendants HUGO JINKIS and
MARIANO JINKIS, as well as by Co-Conspirator #25 and the
defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL.

243. In or about April 2010, CONMEBOL entered into an
agreement with Full Play awardihg the company the media and

marketing rights to the 2015, 2019, and 2023 editions of the
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Copa América, among other tournaments. Traffic International
and Traffic USA, alleging that the agreement violated the 2001
Copa América Contract, which gave it the rights to the 2015
edition of the tournament and an option to retain those rights
for the subsequent three editions, sued CONMEBOL, Full Play, and
others. The lawsuit was filed in Florida state court by virtue
of a forum selection ciause in the 2001 Copa América Contract
designating the courts of Florida as the forum of choice in the
event FIFA declined to arbitrate, as it ultimately did.

244. The lawsuit was settled in or about June 2013.

245. In the months preceding the settlement, Co-
Conspirator #2 and other representatives of Traffic began
-meeting with the defeﬁdants HUGO JINKIS and-MARIANO JINKIS, as
well as the defendant ALEJANDRO BURZACO, who at that point had
joined with Full Play to share in some of the Copa América
rights. 1In the meetings, the parties discussed a resolution of
Traffic’s lawsuilt thét would involve Full Play and Torneos
agreeihg to share with Traffic thg commercial rights obtained by
Full Play from CONMEBOL to exploit the above editions of the
Copa América in exchange for Traffic agreeing to end the lawsuit
and assume its share of the costs associated with those rights.
Specifically, the represenfatives.of the three companies

discussed forming a new company that would obtain and exploit
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the commercial rights to the 2015, 2012, and 2023 editions of
the tournament, as well és a special centennial edition of the
tournament to be held in the United States in 2016.

246. By in or about March 2013, the discussiéns
regarding the formation of the company advanced significantly.
Those discussions included settlement of the Florida state court
litigation, the percentage of sharés each member would hold in
the new company, aﬁd tﬁe operations of the new company. After a
larger meeting in Buenos Ailres in or about March 2013, Co-
Conspirator #2 had a brief, smaller meeting with the defendants
ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, and MARIANO JINKIS. One of the
~defendants told Co-Conspirator #2 that Full Play and Torneos had
already agreed to make bribe payments to CONMEBOL officials in
connectioﬁ with the Copa América rights.r Co-Conspirator #2 was
asked to contribute $10 million toward the cost of expenses,
including the bribes, to date. Co-Conspirator #ZIagreed to make
these bribe payments and subseguently caused them to be made.

247. The creation of the new company, Datisa, was
formalized in a shareholders’ agreement dated May 21, 2013.
RAmong other things, the agreement provided that Traffic,
Torneos, and Full Play each held a one-third inﬁerest in the

company.
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248; Four days later, in London, Dafisa entered into a
contract with CONMEBOL and Full Play whereby Datisa obtained
from CONMEBOL the exclusive worldwide commercial rights to the
2015, 2019, and 2023 editions of the Copa América and the 2016
Copa América.Centenario, and CONMEBOL and Full Play assigned to
Datisa the contracts related thereto that theyvhad already
executed with third parties (the “2013 Copa América Contract”).
TheI2013 Copa América Contract, dated May 25, 2013 and signed by
representétives of each of Datisa’s three éhareholders and 12
CONMEBOL officials, was for $317.5 million: $75 million for the
2015 edition, $77.5 million for the 2016 edition, $80 million
for the 2019 edition, and $85 million for the 2023 edition.

249. Datisa agreed to pay $100 million in bribes to
CONMEBOL officials - all of whom were also FIFA officials - in
exchange for the 2013 Copa Améri;a Contract: $20 million for
contract signature and $20 million for each of the four editions
of the tournament. Each $20 million payment was to be divided
among the bribe recipieﬁts as follows: $3 million to each of the
“top” three CONMEBOL officials (the president of the
confederation and the presidents of the Brazilian and
Argenfinian federations); $1.5 million to each of seven other
CONMEBOL federation presidents; and $500,000 to an eleventh

CONMEBOL official. The officiais who had solicited and/or were

105




to receive bribes included the defendants EUGENIO FIGUEREDO,
RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, NICOLAS LEOZ, and JOSE MARIA.MARIN and Co-
Conspirator #10, Co-Conspirator #11, Co-Conspirator #12, Co-
Conspirator #24, and Co—Conspiraﬁor #25, among others.

250. In or about June and September 2013, Co—
Conspiratorr#Z and Traffic used financial institutions in the
United States to make three payments, totaling $11.667 million,
representing nearly all of Traffic’s one-third contribution to
the other shareholders of Datisa, who were responsible for
paying the first $40 million in bribes to the CONMEBOL
officials. The three payments were made from Traffic
International’s account at Délta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to Citibank and/or JP Morgan Chase correspondent
accounts in New York, New York, for credit to accounts at banks
in Zurich, Switzerland in the names of éross Trading (a Full
Play affiliate) and FPT ,Sports (a Torneos affiliate),
respectively, as follows:

DATE WIRE COMMUNICATION

June 17, 2013 Wire transfer of $5,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Citibank
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account
in the name of Cross Trading, a
Full Play affiliate, at Bank
Hapoalim in Zurich, Switzerland.
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June 17, 2013 Wire transfer of $5,000,000 from
: ' Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a JP Morgan
'~ Chase correspondent account in New
York, New York, for credit to an
account in the name of FPT Sports,
a Torneos affiliate, at Bank
Julius Baer & Co. in Zurich,
Switzerland.

September 11, 2013 Wire transfer of $1,666,667 from

Datisa’s account at Bank Hapoalim
in Zurich, Switzerland, via
Citibank and JP Morgan Chase
correspondent accounts in New
York, New York, for credit to an
account in the name of FPT Sports
at Bank Julius Baer & Co. in
Zurich, Switzerland.

A fourth payment of $1.667 million - bringing the total to

$13.333 million - was made by a transfer from an account in the

name of Datisa at Bank Hapoalim in Zurich, Switzerland to an

account in the name of Cross Trading at the same bank.

251. Bribe payments were subsequently wired from bank
accounts in Switzerland controlled by Datisa to accounts
controlled by CONMEBOL officials throughout the world, including
accounts in the United States. For example, the defendants HUGO
JINKIS and MARIANO JINKIS set up another accdunt at Bank
Hapoalim in Zurich, Switzerland - the same bank where Datisa
held its account - in the name of another Full Play company

called Bayan Group S.A. (“Bayan”), a Panamanian company used

specifically to pay bribes. On or about January 31, 2014,
107




February 27, 2014, and July 23, 2014, HUGO JINKIS and MARIANO
JINKIS caused payments of $50,000, $250,000, ana $400,000,
respectively, to be sent from the Bayan account to accounts in
the names of entities controlled by the defendant RAFAEL
ESQUIVEL at UBS, Bank of America, and Espifito Santo Bank in
Miami; Florida. The bribe payments to ESQUIVEL wefe made in
this manner so as to conceal their true source and nature.

252. The defendant JOSE MARGULIES also participated in
the Détisa scheme, facilitating the payment and laundering of
bribe money from and through accounts controlled by the Datisa
shareholders. For example, from December 2013 to August 2014,
Full Play transferred nearly $3.8 million into one of the U.S.
accounts of the Margulies Intermediaries. During the same
period, the Margulies Intermediaries transferred more than $2
million into the same Bayan account at Bank Hapoalim in Zurich,
Switzerland that made the above-referenced payments into
- accounts controlled by the defendant RAFAEL ESQUIVEL in the
United States. | |

253. As the bribery scheme discussed in the preceeding
paragraphs evolved and progressed, so, too, did CONMEBOL’s and
CONCACAF’s efforts to organize and promote the 2016 Copa América
Centenario. In or about 2012, the then-acting president of

CONCACAF informally announced that a special, Pan-America
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edition of the Copa América would be held in 2016, involving'
‘teams from CONMEBOL and CONCACAF, to celebrate the 100th
anniversary of the first edition of the tournament. The acting
president stated that he hoped the tournament would be hostéd in
.the United States because “the market is in thé United States,
the stadiums are in the United States, [and] the people are in
the United States.”

254, At a press conferenée held in Miami, Flotida on
May 1, 2014, high-ranking officials of CONMEBOL and CONCACAF
officially announced that CONMEBOL would celebfate the 100th
anniversary of the Copa América by organizing a épecial edition
of the tournament for the entire hemisphere - to be calied the
Copa América Centenario — to include all 10 CONMEBOL men’s
nationél teams and the men’s national teams of six CONCACAF
member associations, including the United States. The
.tournament was to be played at major sportingfvenues-in various
cities in the United States in June 2016. The defendants
JEFFREY WEBB and EUGENIO FIGUEREDO presided over the press
conference. Datisa representatives - including C;—Cbnspirator
#2 and the defendants ALEJANDRO BURZACO, HUGO JINKIS, and
MARIANO JINKIS - attended the press conference, and the logo of
Datisa’s frade name was included alongside the logos of CONCACAF

and CONMEBOL in warious promotional materials.
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255. As set forth above, Datisa acquired the exclusive
commercial rights to the Copa América Centenario that CONMEBOL
held as part of the 2013 Copa América Contract. In addition,
Datisa contracted with CONCACAF, in its capacity as the co-
organizer oflthe tournament, to acquire CONCACAF's rights to
that tournament as well. By letter agreement dated March 4,
2014 (the “2014 Centenario Contract”), Datisa agreed to pay $35
million to CONCACAF for those rights, which amount was in
addition to tﬁe $77.5 million Datisa had already agreed to pay
to CONMEBOL, pursuant to the 2013 Cppa América Contract, for
CONMEBOL"s rights to the>same tournament.

256. In connection with the negotiations between
Datisa and CONCACAF, which involved Co-Conspirator #4 and the
defendants ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON DAVIDSON, EUGENIO FIGUEREDO,
HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, and JEFFREY WEBB, among others,
Datisa also agreed to pay WEBB a bribe in éxchange fof WEBB' s
agreement to cause CONCACAF to enter into the 2014 Centenario
Contract. |

257. In a March 2014 meeting in Queens, New York,
which occurred days after the 2014 Centenario Contract was
signed, the defendant AARON DAVIDSON told Co—Conspifator #2 that
the defendant MARIANO JINKIS had called him (DAVIDSON) the prior

week to get DAVIDSON’s help in figuring out a way to make the
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payment to the‘defendant JEFFREY WEBB. DAVIDSON said he cut
JINKIS off because he did not want to talk about the subject on
the phone and told JINKIS that they would talk in person when
JINKIS traveled to Miami, Florida the following week.

258. On or about April 1, 2014, the first payment
pursuant to the 2014 Centenario Contract of $7 million was made
from Datisé’s account at Bank Hapoélim in Zurich, Switzerland,
to an accounﬁ in CONCACAF’s name at JP Morgan Chase bank in
Miami, Florida.

259. In or about August 2014, the president of
CONMEBOL.stated publicly: “The Americas are one, it 1s man who
creates frontiers. I believe in a single America in a working
context with CONCACAF and we’ve reached something real which
will go ahead in 2016.7

260. On or about September 25, 2014, at a meeting of
the FIFA executive committee in Zurich, Switzerland, FIFA put
its imprimatur on the Copa América Centenario by placing the
tournament on its official calendar.

261. The payments contemplated by the 2013 Copa
América Contract,.the 2014 Centenario Contract, and the status

of the associated bribes, are reflected in the table below:
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TABLE 2:

Copa América'Centenario Scheme Bribes

$20 million

[Contract - - [PAID]
signature]

2015 Chile $75 million $20 million [PATID]
2016 United States | $112.5 million | $30 million

2019 Brazil $80 million $20 million

2023 Ecuador $85 million $20 million
TOTALS $110 million

262. On May 1, 2014, the controlling principals of

Datisa - Co¥Conspirator #2 and the defendants HUGO JINKIS,

MARTANO JINKIS,

after the press conference announcing the Copa América

and ALEJANDRO BURZACO — met in South Florida

Centenario and discussed the bribery scheme. At one point,

BURZAZO said: “All can get hurt because of this subject.

All of us go to prison.”

263.

E O S

Apart from Co-Conspirator #1’s disclosure to FIFA

of the 2011 FIFA presidential election bribery scheme set forth

‘above, no disclosure of any of the foregoing bribery and

kickback schemes was made to FIFA, CONCACAEF, or CONMEBROL,

including without limitation to their respective executive

committees, congresses, or constituent organizations.
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CRIMINAL COUNTS

COUNT ONE
(Racketeering Conspiracy)

264. The allegations contained in paragraphs’ 1l through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

265. In or about and between 1991 and theé present,
both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern
District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB,
EDUARDO LI, JULIO ROCHA, COSTAS TAKKAS, JACK WARNER, EUGENIO
' FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, JOSE MARTA MARIN, NICOLAS LEOZ,
ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON DAVIDSON, HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS,
and JOSE MARGULIES, also known as José Lazaro, together‘with
.others, being persons employed by and associated with the
enterprise, which engaged in, and the activities of which
affected, interstate‘and foreign commerce, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to ﬁiolate Title 18, United States Code,
Section 1962 (c), that is, to coﬂduct and participate, directiy
and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of such enterprise
through a pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in Title
18, United Statés Code, Sections 1961 (1) and 1961(5).

266. The pattern of racketeering activity through
which the defendantleEFFREY WEBB,‘EDUARDO'LI, JULIO ROCHA,

COSTAS TAKKAS, JACK WARNER, EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL,
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JOSE MARIA MARIN, NICOLAS LEOZ, ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON
DAVIDSON, HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, and JOSE MARGULIES,
together with others, agreed to conduct and participate,
directly and indirectly, in the conduct of the affairs of the
enterprise consisted of multiple acts indictable under:

(a) Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343
(wire fraud, including honest-services wire
fraud) ;

(b) Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956
and 1957 (money laundering and money '
laundering conspiracy) ;

{¢) Title 18, United States Code, Section 1952
(interstate and foreign travel in-aid-of

racketeering) ;

(d) Title 18, United States Code, Section 1512
(obstruction of justice); and

multiple acts involving bribery, in violation of New York State
Penal Law Sections 180.03 and 180.08. Each defendant agreed
that a cdnspirator would commit at least two acts of
racketeering activity in the conduct of the affairs of the
enterprise, the last of which would occur within 10 years of a
prior act éf racketeering éctivity.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1962(d), 1963

and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT TWO :
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy - CONMEBOL Copa América Scheme)

267. The.allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph. |

2687 In or about and between January 1991 and July
2011, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA and CONMEBOL and
their éonstituent organizétions, including to deprive FIFA and
CONMEBQOL and their constituent o:ganizations of their respective
rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and
kickbacks, and to obtain'money and property by means of
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, repreéentatiohs, and
promises, and for the puréose of executing such‘schéme and
artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate aﬁdiforeign commerce, writings,
signs, signals; pictures, and sbunds,vto wit: wire transfers,
contrary to Title 18, United States Coae, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551

et seq.)
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COUNTS THREE AND FOUR
(Wire Fraud — CONMEBOL Copa América Scheme)

269. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth in
this paragraph.

270. On or about the dates set forth below, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA and CONMEBOL and their
‘constituent-organizations, including to deprive FIFA and
CONMEBOL and their constituent organizations of their respective
rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and
kickbacks, and to obtain money and property by means of
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises.

271. For the purpose of executing such scheme and.
artifice, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ, together with others, did
transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire’
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as described below:
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‘Count Approx. Date. | Wire Communication:
| : ; e A . :

THREE November 12, 2010 | Wire transfer of $4,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at
Delta National Bank & Trust in Miami,
Florida, to a Banco do Brasil
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account in
the name of CONMEBOL at Banco do
Brasil in Asuncidén, Paraguay.

FOUR June 10, 2011 Wire transfer of $9,000,000 from
Traffic International’s account at

| Delta National Bank & Trust Co. in
Miami, Florida, to a Banco do Brasil
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account in
the name of CONMEBOL at Banco do
Brasil in Asuncién, Paraguay.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and

3551 et sedq.)

COUNT FIVE
(Money Laundering Conspiracy — CONMEBOL Copa América Scheme)

272. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as i1f fully set forth in this
pafagraph.

273. In or about and between January 1991 and July
2011, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendants NICOLAS LEOZ and
JOSE MARGULIES, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to transport, transmit and transfer
monetary instruments and funds, to wit: wire transfers, from

places in the United States to and through places outside the
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United States and to places in the United States from and
through places outside the United States, (a) with the intent to
promote the carryiﬁg on of specified unlawful activity, to wit:
wire fraud, contrary to Titlé 18, United‘States Code, Section
1343, all contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956 (a) (2) (A), and.(b) knowing that the monetary instruments and
funds involved in the transportation, transmission, and transfer
represented the proceeds of some fsrm of unlawful activity and
knowing that such transportation, tfansmission, and transfer was
designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the
nature, the location, the source, the ownership and the control
of the procéeds of said specified unlawfui activity, ali
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956 (a) (2) (B) (1) . | -

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and
3551 et seq.)

_ COUNT SIX
(Money Laundering — CONMEBOL Copa América Scheme)

'274. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.
275. In or about and between‘November 2010 and June
2011, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the

Southern District of New York, the defendant NICOLAS LEOZ,
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together with others, did knowingly and inténtionall& transport,
transmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds, to wit:
wire transfers, from places in the‘United States to and through
places oﬁtside the United States and to places in the United
States from and through places outside the United States, with
the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Secﬁion 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 (a) (2) (A),
2 and 3551 et seq.) |

COUNT SEVEN '
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy - CBF Copa do Brasil Scheme)

276. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

277. in or about and between December 2011 aﬁd the
pteseﬁt, both dates béing approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New York and elswewhere, the defendant JOSE
MARIA MARIN, together with others, did knowingly and
‘intentionally conspire to devise a scﬁeme and artifice to
defraud FIFA and CBF and their constituent organizations,
including to deprive FIFA and CBF and their constituent
organizations of their respective rights to honest and faithful

services through bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and

119




property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
répresentations, and promises, and for the purpose of executing
such scheme and aﬁtifice, to transmit and cause to be
transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and
foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and
sounds, to wit: wire trénsfers, telephone'calls-and emails,
contrary to Title 18] United States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551

et seq.)

COUNT EIGHT
(Money Laundering Conspiracy - CBF Copa do Brasil Scheme) -

278. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are reélleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph. . |

279. In or about and between December 2011 and the
pfesent, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant JOSE MARIA MARIN,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally Conspire
to transport, t£ansmit and transfer ﬁonetary inétrﬁments and
funds, to wit: wire transfers, from places in the United States
to and through places outside the United States and to places in
the United States from and through places outside the United
States, (a) with the intent to prdﬁote the carrying on of

specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to
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Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, ali éontrary to
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a) (2) (A), and (b)
knowing that the monetary instruments and funds invol?ed in the
transportation, transmission, and transfer représented the
proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and knowing-that such
transportation,-transmission, and trapsfer was designed in whéle
~and in part to conceal and'disguise the nature, the location,
the source, the ownership and the control of the proceeds of
said specified unlawful activity, all contrary to Title 18,
Uﬁited States Code, Section 1956(a) (2) (B) (i) .

(Titlé 18, United States Code,_Sections 1956 (h) and
3551 et seq.)

COUNT NINE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy — CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #1)

280. The.allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.
| 281. In or about and between July 2000 and June 2011,
both détes béing approximate and inclusive, within the Southern
District of New York, the defendant JACK WARNER, together with
others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud CFU and its constituent
organizations, and to obtain money énd property by means of

~materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
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promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice( to transmit and cause to be_transmitted_by means- of
Qire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,
signs, signals, pictures,‘apd sounds, to wit: wire transfers, .
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551
et seg.) |

. COUNTS TEN AND ELEVEN
(Wire Fraud - CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #1)

282. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realieged and incorporated as though fully set forth in
fhis paragraph.

283. On or about'the dates set forth below, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant. JACK WARNER,
together with others, did knowingly andAintentiohally devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud CFU and its constituent
organizations, and to obtain m@ney and property by means of
materially falée and fraudulent pretemnses, représentations, and
promiées.

284. For the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, the defendant JACK WARNER, together with others, did
transmit and cause to be transmitted, by.means of wire
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as described below:
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Count Approx. Date Wire Communicatidn

TEN December 13, 2010 | Wire transfer of $290,000 from
Traffic USA’s account at Citibank in
Miami, Florida to a Bank of America
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account in
the name of CFU at Republic Bank in
Trinidad and Tobago.

ELEVEN | February 2, 2011 Wire transfer of $250,000 from
Traffic USA’s account at Citibank in
Miami, Florida to a Bank of America
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account in
the name of CFU at Republic Bank in
Trinidad and Tobago.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and
3551 et seq.)
COUNT TWELVE

(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #1)

285. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in ﬁhis
paragraph.

286. In or about and between July 2000 and Juné 2011,
both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern
District of New York, the defendant JACK WARNER, together with
others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to transport,
transmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds, to wit:
wire transfers, from places in the United States to and through

places outside the United States and to places in the United
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States from and through places outside the United States, with
the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343, zll confrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1956 (a) (2) (A).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and
3551 et seq.)

. COUNT THIRTEEN
(Money Laundering — CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #1)

'287. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

288. In or about and between December 2010 and
February 2011, both dateé being approximate and inclusive,
within the Southern District of New York, the defendant JACK
WARNER, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
trangport, t:ansmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds,
to wit: wire transfers, from places in the United States to and
through places outside the United States and to places in the
United States from and through places outside the United States,

with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
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activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343,
| (Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a) (2) (A),
2 and 3551 et seq.)
COUNT FOURTEEN

(Wire Fraud Conspiracy -
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (LI))

289. The aliegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are reallegea and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph. |

290. In dr about and between September 2009 andvthe
-present, both dates being approximate aﬁd inclusive, within the
Southern-District of New York, the defendant EDUARDO LI,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF.and
FEDEFUT and their constituent organizations, including to
deprive FIFA; CONCACAF, and FEDEFUT and their constituent
organizations of tﬁeir respective rights to honest and faithful
services through bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and
property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, and for the purpose of executing
such scheme and artifice,-to transmit and cause to be
transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and

foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and
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sounds, to wit: wire transfers, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551

et seq.) )

COUNT FIFTEEN
(Wire Fraud — UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (LI))

291. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth in
this paragraph.

292. On or about the date set forth below, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendaﬂt EDUARDO LI,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud ¥IFA, CONCACAF, and FEDEFUT.and
their constituent organizations, including to deprive FIFA,
CONCACAF, and FEDEFUT and their constifuent organizations of
their respective rights to honest and faithful services through
bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and property by means
of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,
and promises.

293. For the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, the defendant EDUARDO LI, together with others, did
transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wirel
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as described below:
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Approx. Date e Wire_Comm@hiéaticnif'

FIFTEEN | August 1, 2012 Wire transfer of $27,500 from Traffic
USA’s account at Citibank in Miami,
Florida, to a Wells Fargo
correspondent account in New York,
New York, for credit to an account in
the name of Federacidén Costarricense
de Futbol at Banco Lafise in Costa
Rica.

(Title.18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and
3551 et seq.)

: COUNT SIXTEEN
(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (LI))

294. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

- 295. In or about and between September 2009 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant EDUARDO LI,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to transport, transmit, and transfer monetary instruments and
funds, to wit:Awire transfers, fromlplaces in the United States
to and through places outside the United States and to places in
thelUnited States from and through places outside the United
States, with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified

unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18,

£
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United States Code, Section 1343, all contrary to Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1956(a) (2) (A).
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 (h) and
3551 et seg.)
COUNT SEVENTEEN

: (Money Laundering -—
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (LI))

296. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph. |
| 297. ‘In or about aﬁd between April 2011 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendant EDUARDO LT,
togéther with others, did knowingly and intentionally transport,
transmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds, to wit:
wire transfers, from places in the United States to and through
places outside the United States and to places in the United
States from and through places outside the United States, with
the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343,

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 (a) (2) (A),

2 and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT EIGHTEEN
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy -
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (ROCHA))

298. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

29§. In or about and between April 2011 and December
2012, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District ofﬁFlorida, the defendant &ULIO ROCHA,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, and
FENIFUT and their constituent organizations, including‘to
deprive FIFA, CONCACAF, and FENIFUT and their constituent
organizations of their respective rights to honestvand faithful
services through bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and
property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, and for the purpose of executing
Suchlécheme and artifice, to transmit and cause to bel
transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and
foreign commérce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and
sounds, to wit: wire transfers, contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551

129




COUNTS NINETEEN AND TWENTY
(Wire Fraud — UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (ROCHA))

300. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as though fully set forth\in
this paragraph.

301. On or about the dates set forth below, within the
Southern District of Florida, the defendant JULIO ROCHA/
'.together with otﬁers, did knowingly and intentionally devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, and FENIFUT and
their constituent organizations, including to deprive FIFA,
CONCACAF, and fENIFUT and their constituent organizations of
fheir respective rights to honest and faithful‘serviées through
bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and propérty by means
of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,
and promises.

302. For the purpose of execufing such scheme and
artifice, the defendant JULIO ROCHA, together with others, did
transmit and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire
communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as described below:
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Count Approx. Date V'Wire Communication |

Wire transfer of $88,000 from
Traffic USA’s account at Citibank in
Miami, Florida, to a Citibank
correspondent account, for credit to
an account in the name of Federacidn
Nicaragliense de Fatbol at Banco de
Credito Centroamerica in Managua,
Nicaragua. :

NINETEEN | April 27, 2011

TWENTY May 27, 2011 Wire transfer of $150,000 from an
account controlled by Co-Conspirator
#19 at Banco Itau in Miami, Florida,
to a JP Morgan Chase correspondent
account, for credit to an account in
the name of Julio Rocha Lopez at
BankInter in Madrid, Spain.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and
3551 et seq.)
COUNT TWENTY-ONE

(Money Laundering Conspiracy -—
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (ROCEA))

303. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
péragraph.

304. In or about and between April 2011 and December
2012, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southerﬁ District of Florida, the defendant JULIO ROCHA,
together with otﬁers, did knowingly and intentionally conspire
to transport, transmit and transfer monetary instruments and
funds, to wit: wire transfers, from places in the United States

to and through places outside the United States and to places in
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the United States froh and through places outside the United
States, with the intent to promote the carfying on of specified
unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, -
United Sta;es Code, Section 1343, all contrary to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1956 (a) (2) (A).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and
3551 et seq.)

COUNT‘TWENTY—TWO

(Money Laundering -—
UNCAF Region World Cup Qualifiers Scheme (ROCHA))

305. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

306. In or about and between April 2011 and December
2012, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of Florida, the defendant JULIO ROCHA,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally transport,
transmit, and transfer monetary instruments and funds, to wit:
wire transfers, from places in the United States to and through
places outside the United States and to places in the United
States from and through places outside the United States, with

the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
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activity, to wif: wire fraud, contrary to Title‘18, United
States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a) (2) (A),
2 and 3551 et seq.)

: , _ COUNT TWENTY-THREE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy — 2011 FIFA Presidential Election Scheme)

307. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incérpprated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

308. In or about and between April 2011 and ngy 2011,
both dates being appioximate and inclusivé, within the Southern
District of New York, the defendant JACK WARNER, ﬁogether with
others, did knowingly and intentionélly conspire to devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, and CFU and their
constituent organizations, including to deprive FIFA, CONCACAF,
and CFU and their constituent organizatioﬁs of their respective
rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and
kickbacks, and to obtain money and property by means of
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, to wit: wire transfers,
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emails and telephone calls, contrary to Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551

COUNT TWENTY-FOUR
(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
2011 FIFA Presidential Election Scheme)

309. The allegations contaiﬁed in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fuliy set forth in ﬁhis
paragraph.

310. In or about and between April 2011 and July 2011,
both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern
District of New York, theﬁdefendaﬁt JACK WARNER, together with
others, did knbwingly and intentionally Conspire to tfansport,
transmit and transfer monetary instruments and funds, to wit:
United States currency and wire transfers, from places in the
United States to and through places outsidé the United States
and to places in the United Stétes from and through places
outside the United Sﬁates, with the intent to promote the
carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud,
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, all
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a) (2) (A).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 (h) and

3551 et seq.)
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: COUNT TWENTY-FIVE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy — CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

311. The allegafions contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged aﬁd incotporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

312..In or about and between January 2012 and the
present, Dboth dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New,York and elsewhere, the defendants
JEFFREY WEBB, COSTAS TAKKAS, and AARON DAVIDSON, together with
others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, and CFU and their
constituent organizations, including to deprive FIFA, CONCACAF,
and CFU aﬁd théir constituent organizations of their respective
rights to honest and faithful services through bribes and
kickbacks, and to obtain money and property by means of
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, and for the pufpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of
wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce, writings,
signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, to wit: wire transfers,
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551
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COUNTS TWENTY-SIX THROUGH TWENTY-EIGHT
(Wire Fraud - CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

313. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated és théugh fully set forth in
this paragraph.

314. On or about the dates set.forth_below, within the
Southern and Western Districts of New York, the defendants
JEFFREY WEBB énd COSTAS TAKKAS, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to
defraud FIFA, CONCACAF, and CFU and their constituent
| organizations, including to deprive FIFA, CONCACAF, and CFU and
their constituent organizations of their respective rights to
honest and faithful services through bribes and kickbaéks, and
to obtain mdney and property by means of materially falSé and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

315. For the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and COSTAS TAKKAS,
together with others, did transmit and cause to be transmitted,
by means of wire communication in interétate and foreign
commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds as

described below:
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_Approx.vDété_ 2 Wire Communicaﬁion' 4

TWENTY-SIX November 13, 2012 | Wire transfer of $1,200,000 from

: Traffic International’s account
at Delta National Bank & Trust
Co. in Miami, Florida, to a
correspondent account at HSBC
bank in Buffalo, New York, for
credit to an account in the name
of Front Company A at HSBC bank
in Hong Kong. '

TWENTY-SEVEN | November 21, 2012 | Wire transfer of $750,000 from
Front Company A’s account at HSBC
bank in Hong Kong, to a

| correspondent account at Standard
Chartered Bank in New York, New
York, for credit to an account in
the name of Kosson Ventures at
Fidelity Bank in the Cayman
Islands. '

TWENTY-EIGHT | November 21, 2012 | Wire transfer of $250,000 from
Front Company A’s account at HSBC
bank in Hong Kong, to a '
correspondent account at Standard
Chartered Bank in New York, New
York, for credit to an account in
the name of Kosson Ventures at
Fidelity Bank in the Cayman
Islands.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and
3551 et seq.)
COUNT TWENTY-NINE

(Mbney Laundering Conspiracy -—
CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

316. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this

paragraph.
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317. In or about and between January 2012 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants

|

- JEFFREY WEBB, COSTAS TAKKAS and AARON DAVIDSON, together with
others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire to transport,
‘transmit, and transfer monetary instruments and funds; to wit:
wire transfers, from plaées in the United Statés’to and through
places outside the United States and to places in the United
States from and through places outside the United States, (a)
with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful
‘activity, to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18; United
States Code, Section 1343, all contrary to Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1956(a)(2)(A), and (b) knowing that thé
monetary instruments and funds involved in the transportation,
transmission, and transfer represented the proceeds of some form
- of unlawful activity and knowing that such transportation,
transmission, and transfer was designed in whole and in part to
conceal and disguiée the nature, the location, the source, the
ownership and the Cont%ol of the proceeds of said specified
unlawful "activity, all contrary to Title 18, United States que,
Section 1956 (a) (2) (B) (1) .

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections>l9s6(h) and

3551 et seq.)
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) COUNT THIRTY
(Money Laundering - CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

318. The allegations contained in paragraphs lsthrough
263 are reailegedAand incorporated as if fully set forth in.this
péragraph.

319. In or about and between November 2012 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defeﬁdants-JEFFREY WEBB and
COSTAS TAKKAS, together with others, did. knowingly and
intentionally transport, transmit, and transfer monetary
instruments and funds, to wit: wire transfers, from places in.
the United States to and through places outside the United
States and to places in the United States from and through
places outside the United States,'(a) with the‘intent to promote
the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire
fraud, contfaryAto Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343,
and (b) knowing that the monetary instruments and funds involved
in the transportation, trahsmission, and transfer represented
the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and knowing that
such transportation, transmiésion, and transfer was designed in
whole and in part to coﬂceal and diSéuise the nature, the

location,
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the source, the ownership and the control of the proceeds of
‘said Specified unlawful activity.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a) (2) (A),
1956 (a) (2) (B) (1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)
COUNT THIRTY-ONE

(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

320. The allegationS-contaihed in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

321. In or about and between July 2013 and November
2013,.both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of Florida, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and
COSTAS TAKKAS, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally conspire to engage in monetary'transactions, to
wit: deposits, withdrawals and transfers of funds and monetary
instruments, in and affecting interstate and foreign‘commerce,
by, through and to one or more financial institutions, in
criminally derived property that was of a value greater than
$10,000 and that was derived from specified unlawful activity,

to wit: wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United States Code,
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Section 1343, all contrary to Title 18, United States Code,

Section 1957 (a).

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 (h),
1957 (b), 1957(d) (1) and 3551 et seq.)

'COUNT THIRTY-TWO :
(Money Laundering - CFU World Cup Qualifiers Scheme #2)

' 322. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through

263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

323. In or about and between July 2013 and November
2013, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of Florida, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and
COSTAS TAKKAS, together with others, did khowingly and
intentionally engage in monetary transactions, to wit: deposits,
withdrawals and transfers of funds ahd monetary instruments, in
and affecting interstate and foreign commerce, by, through and
to one or more financial institutions, in criminally derived
property that was of a value greater than $10,000 and that was
derived from specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud,
contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 (a),

-~ 1957 (b), 1957(d) (1), 2, and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT THIRTY-THREE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy -
CONCACAF Gold Cup/Champions League Scheme)

324. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as i1f fully set forth in this
paragraph.

| 325. In or about and betweeﬁ July 2012 and the

present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants
JEFFREY WEBB and AARON DAVIDSON, together with others, did
knowingly and intentionally conspire to devise a scheme and
artifice to defraud FIFA and CONCACAF and their constituent
organizations, including to deprive FIFA and CONCACAF and their
constitﬁenﬁ organizations of their respective rights to honest
and faithful services through bribes and.kickbacks, and to
‘obtain money and property by means‘of méterially false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, to transmit and
cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in
interstate and foreign commerce, writingé, signs, signals,
pictures, and sounds, to wit: wire transfers, contrary to Title
18, United States Code, Section 1343. |

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551
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COUNTS THIRTY-FOUR THROUGH THIRTY-SIX
(Wire Fraud - CONCACAF Gold Cup/Champions League Scheme)

326. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as fhough fully set forth in
this paragraph.

327. On or about the dates set forth below, within the
Southern Distriqt of New York, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and
AARON DAVIDSON, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally devise a scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA and
CONCACAF and their constituent organizations, including to
| deprive FIFA and CONCACAF and their constitueﬁt organizations of
their fespective rights to honest and faithful services through
bribes and kickbacks, and to obtain money and property by means
of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations,
and promises.

328. For the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice,.the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and AARRON DAVIDSON,
together with others, did transmit and cause to be transmitted,
by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign
commerce, writings, signs, signals, pictures; and sounds as

described below:
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| count. . | Approx. Date

THIRTY-FOUR | February 15, 2013 |Wire transfer of $3,000,000 from
Traffic USA’s account at Citibank
in Miami, Florida, to CONCACAF’s-
account at JP Morgan Chase Bank
in New York, New York.

THIRTY-FIVE | December 4, 2013 Wire transfer of $1,100,000 from
Traffic International’s account
at Delta National Bank & Trust
Co. in Miami, Florida, to a Wells
Fargo correspondent account in
New York, New York, for credit to
an account in the name of Soccer
Uniform Company A at Capital Bank
in Panama City, Panama.

THIRTY-SIX | December 20, 2013 |Wire transfer of $3,000,000 from
Traffic USA’s accounft at Citibank
in Miami, Florida, to CONCACAF'’s
account at JP Morgan Chase Bank
in New York, New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and
3551 et Séq.)
COUNT THIRTY-SEVEN

(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
CONCACAF Gold Cup/Champions League Scheme)

329. The allegations contained in paragraphé 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporatéd as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

330. In or about and between July 2012 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within fhe
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants
JEFFREY WEBB and AARON DAVIDSON, together‘with others, did

knowingly and intentionally conspire to transport, transmit, and
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transfer monetafy instruﬁents(and funds; to wit: wire transfers,
from places in the United States to and through places outside
the United States and to places in the Unitéd States from and
through places outside the United States, (a) with the intent to
promofe the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit:
wire fraud, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1343, all contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956(a)(2)(A); and (b) knowing that the monetary instruments and
funds involved in the transportation, transmission, and transfer
represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and
knowing that such transportation, transmissibn, and transfer was
designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the
nature, the location, the source, the ownership and theAconﬁrol
of the pfoceedé of said specified unlawful’activity, all
céntrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section
1956 (a) (2) (B) (1) .

(Title 18, Uﬁited States Code, Sections 1956 (h) and
3551 et seq.)

COUNT TEIRTY-EIGHT . ,
(Money Laundering — CONCACAF Gold Cup/Champions League Scheme)

331. The allegations contained in paragraphsll through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this

paragraph.
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332. In oi about aﬁd between February 2013 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Southern District of New York, the defendants JEFFREY WEBB and
AARON DAVIDSON, together with others, did knowingly and
intentionally‘transport, transmit, and transfer monetary
instruments and funds, to wit: wire transfers, from places in
the United Stateé to and throUgh places outside the United
States and to places in the United States from and through
places outside the United States, (a) with the intent to prbmote
the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire‘
fraud, contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343,
and (5) knowing that the monetary instruments and funds involved
in the transportation, transmission, and transfer represented
the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity and knowing that
such transportation, transmission, and transfer was designed in
whole and in part to conceél and disguise the nature, the
location, the source, the ownership and the control of the
proceeds of said specified unlawful activity.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sectioné l956(a)(25(A),

1956 (a) (2) (B) (1), 2 and 3551 et seq.)
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COUNT THIRTY-NINE
(Wire Fraud Conspiracy -
‘CONMEBOL/CONCACAF Copa América Centenario Scheme)

333. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged‘and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

334. In or about and between April 2010 and the
present, both aates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants
JEFFREY WEBB, EDUARDO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, JOSE MARIA
MARIN, NICOLAS LEOZ, ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON DAVIDSON, HUGO
JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, and JOSE.MARGULIES, also known as José
Lazaro, together with othefs, did knowingly and intentiénally
conspire to devise - -a scheme and artifice to defraud FIFA,
CONCACAF and CONMEBOL and their éonstituent organizations,
including to deprive FIFA, CONCACAF and CONMEBOL and their
cohstituent organizations of theirvrespective rights to hénest
and faithful services through bribes and kickbacks, and to
obtain money and property by means of materially false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, and for the
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, to transmit and
cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in

interstate and foreign commerce, writings, signs, signals,
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pictures, and sounds, to wit: wire transfers, contrary to Title
18, United States Code, Section 1343.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sectiocons 1349 and 3551

et seg.)

COUNT FORTY
(Money Laundering Conspiracy -
CONMEBOL/CONCACAF Copa América Centenario Scheme)

335. The allegations contained in paraéraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

336. In or about and between April 2010 and the
present, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendants'
JEFFREY WEBB, EDUARDO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, JOSE MARIA
MARIN, NICOLAS LEOZ, ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON DAVIDSON, HUGO
JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, JOSE MARGULIES, also known as José
Lazaro, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally
conspire to transport( transmit and transfer monetary
instruments and funds, to wit: wire transfers, from places in
the United States to and through places outside the United
States and to places in the United States from and through
places outside the United States, with the intent to promote the

carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud,
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contrary to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, all.
contrary to Title 18, United Statesg Code, Section 1956(a) (2) (A) .

(Title 18, Uniﬁed States Code, Sections 1956 (h) and
3551 et seq.)

COUNT FORTY-ONE
(Unlawful Procurement of Naturalization)

337. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporaﬁed as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

338. On or about and between March 24, 2005 and July
11, 2006, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the
Central District of California, the deféndant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO,
together with others, did knowingly and intentionally procure,
contrary to law, his naturalization, in that the defendant did
knowingly and intentionally make one or more false statements
under oath, ih a case, proceeding and matter relating to
naturalization and citizenship, to wit: the defendant did
félsely state that (1) he was only employed by Sunburst
Decorative Rock in Irwindale, California and neither worked
anywhere else in the previous five years nor ever had any
affiliation with any organization or association in the United

States or in any other place; and (2) he had a medical
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impairment, to wit: dementia, and thus was unable to complete
the required English language and civics competency exams.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1425(a), 2,
and 3551 et seq.; Titlé 8, United States Code, Section 1451 (e))
COUNTS FORTY-TWO THROUGH FORTY-SIX

(Aiding and Assisting in the Preparation of
False and Fraudulent Tax Returns)

339. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
parag?aph.

340. On or about the dates set forth below, within the
Central District of California, the defendant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO,
together with others, did willfully aid and assist in, and
procure, counsel and advise the preparation and presentation to
the Internal Revenue Service under the internal revenue laws, of
the defendant’s U.S. Individual Income Tax Returns, Forms 1040
and attached Schedules and Forms, which were false and
frauduient as to material matters, to wit: among other things,
the defendant falsely stated the amount of taxable income and
failed to report his financial interest in a foreign bank

account in the following years:

%Tax Year Approximate Filing Date

FORTY-TWO 2009 March 08, 2010
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FORTY-THREE | 2010 March 03, 2011

FORTY-FOUR | 2011 April 06, 2012

FORTY-FIVE 2012 March 22, 2013
FORTY-SIX 2013 April 01, 2014

(Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206 (2); Title
18, United States .Code, Sections 2, and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT FORTY-SEVEN
(Obstruction of Justice)

341. The allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through
263 are realleged and incorporated as if fully set forth in this
paragraph.

342. In or about and between May 2013 and the present,
both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Eastern
District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant AARON
DAVIDSON, together with others, did knowingly, intentionally and
corruptly obstruct, influence and impede, and attempt to
obstruct, influence and impede, an official proceeding, to wit:
'a Federal Grand Jury invéstigation in the Eastern District of

New York.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1512(c) (2), 2,

and 3551 et seq.)
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CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT ONE

343, The United States hereby gives notice to the
defendants that, upon their conviction of the offense dharged in
Count One, the government will seek forfeiture in accordance
with Title 18, United States Code, Section 1953(a), which
.requiies any person or entity convicted of such offense to
forfeit: (a5 any interest acquired or maintained in violation of
Title 18} United States Code, Section 1962; (b) any interest in,
security of, claim against, or.property or contractual right of
any kind affording a soﬁrcerof influence over, any entefprise
which the defendént established, operated, controlled,
conducted, or participated in the conduct of, in violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Section 1962, and (c) any property
constituting, or derived from, any proceeds obtained, directly
or indirectly, from racketeering activity in violation of Titlé
18, United States Code, Section 1962, including but not limited
to all right, title and interest in: (a) the real property and
premises located at 2116 Adel Drive, Loganville, Georgia 30052;
(b) the real property and premises located at 5119 Madeline
Place, Stone Moﬁntain, Georgia 30083; (c) the real property and
premises located at 7222 Lake Crossing, Stone Mountain, éeorgia

30087; (d) the real property and premises located at 104 Ellis
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Drive, -Conyers, Georgia 30012; (e) the real property and
premises'located at 808 Brickell Key Drive, Apartment No. 1204,
Miami, Florida 33131; (f) the real property and premises located
at 18067 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (g) the real
property and premiées located at 18061 NW 74th Court, Hialeah,
Florida 33015; (h) the real property and premises located at
18055 NW 74th Court,.Hialeah, Florida 33015; (i) the real
property and premises located at 18049 NW 74th Court, Hialeah,
Florida 33015; (j) the real propérty and premiées located at
18043 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (k) the real
property and premises located at 8450 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment
No. 805, Miami, Florida 33193; (1) tﬁe feal property and
premises located at 8660 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment No. 201,
Miami, Florida 33193; and (m) the real property and prémises
located at 8660 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment No. 209, Miami,
Fiorida 33193.
344. If any of the above-described forfeitable

property, as a result of ény éct or omission of a defendant:

(a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due
diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or

deposited with, a third party;

153




(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of
the court;
(d) has been substantially diminished in value;
or
{e) has been_commingled with other property
which cannot be divided without difficulty;
it is the intent of tﬂg:United States, pursuant to Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1963 (m), to seek forfeiture of any
other property of the defendants up to the value of the
forfeitable propeity.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1963 (a) and
1963 (m) )
CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS TWO THROUGH FQOUR, SEVEN, NINE THROUGH ELEVEN,
FOURTEEN, FIFTEEN, EIGHTEEN THROUGH TWENTY, TWENTY-THREE,

TWENTY-FIVE, TWENTY-SIX THROUGH TWENTY-EIGHT, THIRTY-THREE
THROUGH THIRTY-SIX, THIRTY NINE, AND FORTY-SEVEN

345. The United States hereby gives notice to the
defendants charged in Counts Two through Four, Seven, Nine
through Eleven, Fourteen, Fifteen, Eighteen through TWenty,
Twenty-Three, Twenty-Five, Twenty-Six through Twenty-Eight,
Thirty-Three throughAThiity—Six, Thirty-Nine, and Forty-Seven
fhat, upon their conﬁiction of any of such offenses, the
government will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18,

United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (C) and Title 28, United
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States Code, Section 2461(c)( which require any person convicted
of such offense to forfeit any and all property,vreal or
personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds
traceable to a vioiation of such offense, including but not
limited to all right, title and interest in: (a) the real
'property and premises located at.2116 Adel Drive, Loganville,
Georgia 30052; (bj.the real property and pfemises located at
5119 Madeline Plaée, Stone Mountain, Georgia 30083; (c) the real
property and premises located at 7222 Lake Crossing, Sténe
Mountain, Georgia 30087; (d) the real property and prémises
located at 104 Ellis Drivé, Conyers, Ggorgia 30012; (e) the real
property and premises located at 808 Brickell Key Drive,
Apartment No. 1204, Miami, Florida 33131; (f) the real property
and premises‘located at 18067 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida g

33015; (g) the real property and premises located at 18061 NW

74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (h) the real property and
premises located at 18055 NW 74th Court,vHialeah, Florida 33015;
S (1) the real property and premises located at 18049 NW 74th
Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (j) the real property and
premises located at 18043 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015;
(k) the real property and premises located at 8450 SW 149th
Avenue, Apartment No. 805; Miami, Florida 33193; (1) the real

property and premises located at 8660 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment

155




No. 201, Miami, Florida 33193; and (m) the real property and
premises located at 8660 SW 149th Avende, Apartment Ne, 209,
Miami, Florida 33193.
346. If any of the above-described forfeitable

property, as a result of any act or omission of_a defendant:
| (a) cannot be located ubon the exercise of due
diligence; |

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited
with, a third party;

(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of
the court;

(d) has been substantially diminished in value;
or

(e) has been commingled with other property which
cannot be divided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21,
United States Code, Section 853(?), as incorporated by Title 28,
United States Cede,'Section 2461 (c), to seek forfeiture of any
other property of the defendants up'to the value of the
forfeitabie property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c); Title

18, United States Code, Section 981(a) (1) (C); Title 21, United

States Code, Section 853 (p))
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_ CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNTS FIVE, SIX, EIGHT, TWELVE, THIRTEEN, SIXTEEN,
SEVENTEEN, TWENTY-ONE, TWENTY-TWO, TWENTY-FOUR, TWENTY-NINE,
THIRTY THROUGH THIRTY-TWO, THIRTY-SEVEN, THIRTY-EIGHT, AND FORTY

347. The United States hereby gives notice to the
defendants charged in Counts Five, Six, Eight, Twelve, Thirteen,
Sixteen, Sevehteen, Twenty-One, Twenty-Two, Twenty-Four, Twenty-
Nine, Thirty through Thirty-Two, ThirtY—Seven, Thirty-Eight, and
Forty, that, upon their conviction of any of such offenses, the
government will seek forfeiture in accordance with Title 18,
United States Code, Section 982 (a) (1), which reguires any person
convicted of such offense to forfeit any and all property, real
or personal, involved in such offense, or any property traceable
tolsudh offense, including but'not limited to all right, titile
aﬁd interest in: (a) the real proéerty and premises located at
2116 Adel Drive, Loganville, Geoggia 30052; (b) the real
property and premises located at 5119 Madeline Place, Stone
Moﬁntain, Georgia 30083; (c)Athe real property and premises
located at 7222 Lake Crossing, Stone Mountain, Geocrgia 30087;

(d) the real property and premises located at 104 Ellis Drive,
Conyers, Georgia 30012; (e) the real property and premises
located at 808 Brickell Key Drive, Abartment No. 1204, Miami,
Florida 33131; (f)} the real property and premises located at
18067 NW.74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (g) the real

property and premises located at 18061 NW 74th Court, Hialeah,
157




Florida 33015;'(h)-the real property and premises locatea at
18055 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (i) the real
propérty and premises located at 18049 NW 74th Court, Hialeah,
Florida 33015; (j) the real property and premises located at
18043 NW 74th Court, Hialeah, Florida 33015; (k) the real
property and premises located at 8450 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment .
No) 805, Miami, Florida 33193; (1) the real property and
premises located at 8660 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment No. 201,
Miami, Florida 33193; and (mS the real property and premises
located at 8660 SW 149th Avenue, Apartment No. 209, Miami,
Florida 33193.
348. If any of the above-described forfeitable

property, as a result of any act or omission of a defendant:

(a)_cannot be located upon the exercise of due
diligence;

(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited
with, a third party;

(C) has been placed beyond the jurisdictionvof
the court; |

(d) has been substantially diminished in wvalue;
or

(e) has been commingled with other property which

cannot be divided without difficulty;
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it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21,
United States Code, Section 853(p), as‘inéorporated by Title 18,'
United States Code, Section 982(b), to seek forfeiture of any
other property of the defendants up to the wvalue of the
férfeitablé property described in this forfeiture allegation.

(Title°18, United States Code, Sections 982(a) (1) and
982 (b); Title 21, United States COde,_Section 853(p))(

CRIMINAL FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
AS TO COUNT FORTY-ONE

349. The United States hereby gives notice to the
defendant EUGENIO FIGUEREDO that, upon his conviction of the
offense charged in Count Forty-One, the government will seek
forfeiture in accordance with Title 18, United States Code,
Section 982(a) (6), which requires any person convicted of such
offense to forfeit: (a) any conveyance, including any vessel,
vehicle or aircraft used in the commission of such offense; and
(b) any property, real or personal,_thatiéonstitutés or is
derived from proceeds obtained directly or indirectly from the
commission of su;h offense, or that is used to facilitate of
intended to be used to facilitate tﬁe commission of such

offense.
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350. If any of the above-described forfeitable
property, as a resqlt of any act or omission of the defendant:
(a) cann&tibe located upon the exercise of due
diligence;
.(b) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited
‘with, a third party:
(c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of
the court;
(d) has been substantially diminishéd in value;
or
(e) has been commingled with other property which
cannot be divided without difficulty;
it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 21,
United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 18,

United States Code, Section 982(b), to seek forfeiture of any
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other property of the deféndant up to the value of the
forfeitable property described in this forfeiture allegation.
(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982 (a) (6) and

982 (b); Title 21, United States Code, Section 853 (p))

A TRUE BILL

FOREPER

Jilly 7= <

KELLY TN CURRIE
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

161




F. #2015R00747

FORM DBD-34 No.
JUN. 85

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN District of NEW YORK
CRIMINAL DIVISION

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.

JEFFREY WEBB, EDUARDO LI, JULIO ROCHA, COSTAS TAKKAS,
JACK WARNER, EUGENIO FIGUEREDO, RAFAEL ESQUIVEL, JOSE
MARIA MARIN, NICOLAS LEOZ, ALEJANDRO BURZACO, AARON
DAVIDSON, HUGO JINKIS, MARIANO JINKIS, and JOSE
MARGULIES, also known as José Lazaro,,

Defendants.

INDICTMENT

(T.8,US.C, § 1451(e); T. 18, U.S.C., §§ 981(a)(1)(C), 982(a)(1),
982(a)(6), 982(b), 1343, 1349, 1425(a), 1512(c)(2), 1956(a)(2)(A),
1956(a)(2)(B)(1), 1956(h), 1957(a), 1957(b), 1957(d)(1), 1962(d), 1963,
1963(a), 1963(m), 2, and 3551 et seq.; T. 21, U.S.C., § 853(p); T. 26, U.S.C.
§ 7206(2); T. 28, U.S.C. § 2461(c))

Bail, $

Evan M. Norris, Amanda Hector, Darren A. LaVerne, Samuel P. Nitze,
Keith D. Edelman, Brian Morris, Assistant U.S. Attorneys (718) 254-7000




crowell(‘moring

Annex 29.



spartaccord

NTERNATIONAL FEDERATIONS' UNION

15 May 2014

Dr. Bruce Tonkin
Chair, ICANN Board Governance Committee

Re: Reconsideration Request 14-10 (Dot Sport Limited)
Dear Dr. Tonkin,

| am the Director General of SportAccord, and | am writing in response to Reconsideration Request
(14-10) filed by Famous Four Media’s subsidiary Dot Sport Limited (hereinafter FFM). It is my duty to
respond on the behalf of the Sport community and explain why this latest FFM Reconsideration
Request should be summarily dismissed along the same lines that the ICANN Board Governance
Committee (BGC) properly dismissed FFM'’s first Reconsideration Request.

The present filing is nothing more than misstatements of facts mixed with veiled innuendos seeking
to undermine the credibility of an international recognized jurist and ICC Expert panelist Dr. Guido
Tawil. SportAccord will seek to shed light on some of the veiled innuendoes which FFM has made by
citing to public facts." SportAccord would also like to address a number of troubling procedural
issues in connection with FFM’s recent actions, e.g. multiple Reconsideration Request filings; failure
of FFM to allow the Ombudsman to issue his final report before filing this second Reconsideration
Request; there being no legal/procedural basis for the relief FFM is seeking; and the lengthy delay
between bring this second Reconsideration Request and the underlying allegations at issue.

BACKGROUND

Based on its charter and in coordination with 108 members and other international Sport Governing
Bodies, SportAccord decided to proactively apply for a .SPORT TLD on behalf of the global Sport
community. One of the key aspects of this initiative was a recognition that the operation of the TLD
had to be based on a solid framework with built in community-based accountability mechanisms to
advance the values and ideals of Sport.

! Since SportAccord has not engaged in any ex-parte communications with Dr. Tawil, we are unaware
if any of these allegations have been communicated to him. In the interest of openness and
transparency, we have copied Dr. Tawil on this communication as we believe he should have the
opportunity to defend himself against the serious allegations made against him.
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On this basis, SportAccord issued a public call for proposals among potential registry operators
interested in operating the .SPORT TLD in collaboration with SportAccord. One of the participants in
this RFP was FFM who was represented by Mr. Geir Rassmussen. FFM was included in a short list of
candidates to provide an in person presentation at SportAccord’s offices at the Maison du Sport
International in Lausanne, Switzerland. In the end, SportAccord selected another candidate from the
shortlist and FFM was immediately informed of the outcome. FFM did not communicate with
SportAccord or make any public announcement before submitting an ICANN TLD application for
.SPORT in May 2012.

SportAccord was surprised to learn of FFM'’s pursuit of the .SPORT string as well as several other
sport themed TLDs in its portfolio of applications: .RUBGY, .BASKETBALL, .FOOTBALL, .CRICKET,
.HOCKEY, and .SOCCER. This behavior is hard to reconcile with FFM'’s claims of it being “an innocent
party” having “lost large amounts of money” as a result of its “good faith” when it knew about the
Sport community’s commitment to the .SPORT string since as early as 2011.

SportAccord objected to FFM’s “.SPORT” application and Donuts’ “.SPORTS” application on behalf of
the global Sport community. The objections were supported by explicit letters of opposition by 50
international sport federations, the I0C and other global sport bodies. Both .SPORT(S) community
objections prevailed, as did SportAccord’s “".SPORT/.SPORTS” string confusion objection.

Following these adverse decisions, FFM has engaged in a pattern of vexatious and dilatory tactics
with the sole purpose of delaying SportAccord from moving forward with its single community
application. All the while, FFM has moved forward with multiple generic strings from its portfolio of
applications. The ICANN Board needs to do the right thing and summarily dismiss FFM’s
Reconsideration Request again, and then direct ICANN staff to issue a CIR to SportAccord.

FFM’S SECOND BITE AT THE RECONSIDERATION REQUEST APPLE

In FFM’s first Reconsideration Request (13-16) filed last year, FFM previously challenged the
impartiality of Dr. Tawil based upon him co-chairing a panel on the use of dispute resolution in sport
hosting events. The BGC in rejecting FFM’s allegations stated “the Requester provides no evidence
demonstrating that the Expert failed to follow the applicable ICC procedures for independence and
impartiality. Rather, the Requester is challenging the merits of the Expert’s disclosure. Such
challenges should be brought to the ICC under the ICC Rules of Expertise, not through the
Reconsideration process.”

As the BGC noted in its 13-16 decision, FFM is familiar with the ICC rules regarding challenges to the
appointment of a panelist as they successfully exercised them in connection with the initial
appointment of Mr. Taylor. However, FFM did not exercise these rights at the time Dr. Tawil was
appointed probably because there was no real basis then, as there is none today, to block his
selection.

2 FFM'’s vexatious and dilatory tactics include but are not limited to: (i) FFM’s original challenge to
Mr. Taylor as a panelist; (i) FFM'’s first Reconsideration Request (13-16); (iii) FFM’s complaint to the
Ombudsman during the Singapore ICANN meeting; and (iv) Failing to allow the Ombudsman to
complete his investigation prior to filing this second Reconsideration Request (14-10).
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SportAccord respectfully submits that FFM’s second Reconsideration Request should be summarily
denied by the BGC, once again, for being procedurally inadmissible on the following grounds:

(i) This new Reconsideration Request is clearly untimely under ICANN's Bylaws; and

(i) FFM’s claim that Dr. Tawil may have had a conflict of interest is not a basis for
reconsideration; and any challenge to Dr. Tawil’s impartiality should have been
brought to the ICC under the ICC Rules of Expertise, not through a reconsideration
process.

FFM’s Reconsideration Request Is Untimely

The Bylaws make clear that Reconsideration Requests must be submitted within fifteen (15) days
after "the date on which information about the challenged Board action is first published in a
resolution with an accompanying rationale." (Bylaws, Art. IV, § 2.5.) The specific actions that FFM
requests to be reconsidered are:
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Under Art. 13 (c) of Attachment to Module 3 of the ICANN Applicant Guidebook, “[a]ll Experts acting
under this Procedure shall be impartial and independent of the parties. The applicable DRSP Rules
stipulate the manner by which each Expert shall confirm and maintain their impartiality and
independence.” Paragraph (d) of the same Article states that “[t]he applicable DRSP Rules stipulate
the procedures for challenging an Expert and replacing an Expert.” According to Art. 4 (b) (iv) of
Attachment to Module 3 of the ICANN Applicant Guidebook, “[flor a Community Objection, the
applicable DRSP Rules are the Rules for Expertise of the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC),
as supplemented by the ICC as needed.” Thus, any challenge to Dr. Tawil’s impartiality should have
been brought to the ICC under the ICC Rules of Expertise, not through a reconsideration process.

FFM is perfectly familiar with the ICC rules regarding challenges to the appointment of a panelist. It
challenged the initial appointment of Mr. Taylor, arguing that “the panelist must not be a sport
lawyer” - hardly a convincing argument for the choice of an expert about the Sport community. The
ICC nevertheless went along and appointed Dr. Tawil.

FFM did not challenge the appointment of Dr. Tawil. Now, after losing the objection, FFM falsely
alleges for the second time that its new Reconsideration Request is based on “new” information.
There is no relevant new information. It was sufficiently clear at the time from readily available
public information* that M.&M. Bomchil Abogados has a TMT (Technology, Media and Telecoms)
practice and that Mr. Marcelo Bombau is President of TyC, that TyC is partly owned by DirectTV, etc.

FFM itself mentions “M.&M. Bomchil Attorneys Firm Brochure from 2008” on page 7 of the Request.
The long-term relationship between M.&M. Bomchil Abogados, Mr. Marcelo Bombau, TyC and
DirectTV have been advertised so prominently and so for so long that nobody can reasonably argue
to have just recently “discovered” them. These are companies with a necessary and obvious interest
in sport broadcasting. Olympic live broadcasting occurs every two years, so it is not “new
information” that they negotiate the required rights ahead of the respective games.

The fact that some customers of M.&M. Bomchil Abogados are strongly dependent on broadcasting
rights has been public information long before Dr. Tawil was appointed. Bomchil customers have
been assigned sport broadcasting rights before, not only for the Olympics, but also for other sports
represented by many of the 50 international sport federations who explicitly opposed FFM'’s bid for
the .SPORT TLD.

The most pressing suspicion in this context is that FFM was keenly aware of M.&M. Bomchil
Abogados’ sports-broadcasting-related client relationships at the time it decided not to challenge Dr.
Tawil’s appointment. FFM’s previous challenge of Mr. Taylor® on the grounds of him being a “sports

“The ready availability of the information at the time is evidenced among other things by relevant Wikipedia
articles’ version history prior to July 2013, such as
http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Torneos_y_Competencias&oldid=524791765 from December 2012.
M.&M. Bomchil Abogados’ own web site not only described TMD as one of its the areas of specialization, but
carried links to external reviews, such as http://www.chambersandpartners.com or
http://www.legal500.com/c/argentina .

® Mr Taylor’s response in the ICC questionnaire was identical to that of Dr. Tawil. When challenging Mr.
Taylor’s appointment, FFM did not argue that Mr. Taylor failed to make a declaration. Now FFM pretends that
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lawyer” was indeed at odds with FFM’s objection response arguments about the purported non-
existence of a sport community.

MISSTATEMENTS OF FACTS

There are several misstatements of facts in FFM’s filing including but not limited to:
(i) SportAccord is NOT controlled by the I0C.
(i) There is no direct relationship between DirecTV and the IOC.

(iii) There are no irregularities in Dr. Tawil’s decision.

SportAccord Is a Separate and Independent Entity from the International Olympic Committee

One of the more egregious misstatement of fact in FFM’s Reconsideration Request is that the
SportAccord is effectively controlled by the International Olympic Committee (I0C). SportAccord is a
separate legal entity with its own offices, staff and budget. Although SportAccord and the I0C offices
are both located in Lausanne, Lausanne is touted as the home of international sport and is home to
over 30 International and European sports Federations. Unlike the I0C which represents a total 35
Olympic federations (28 summer and 7 winter), SportAccord has a much wider remit and obligation
to the global sport community and its 108 members (92 federations and 16 organizations).

Another misstatement by FFM is the claim that the 10C appoints six (6) out of the eight (8)
SportAccord Council members. The SportAccord Council is an executive body consisting of eight (8)
members: the President which is selected by the General Assembly; two (2) members designated by
the Association of Summer Olympic International Federations (ASOIF); one (1) member designated
by the Association of International Olympic Winter Sport Federations (AIOWF); two (2) members
designated by the Association of I0C - Recognized International Sports Federations (ARISF); one (1)
member designated by the Full Members that do not belong to the above groups; and one (1)
member designated by the Associate Members. The ASOIF, AIOWF and ARISF are separate legal
entities which are independent of the 10C and each which have their own procedure to designate its
representatives.

SportAccord does not deny that it has a collaborative working relationship with the 10C and other

Sport governing bodies. However, SportAccord respectfully submits that this collaborative working
relationship is no different than the common shared interest which many in the ICANN community
have with other key internet stakeholders, e.g. IAB, IETF, RIRs, etc.® ICANN’s own legal counsel and
staff should be able to attest to the separation of SportAccord and the 10C based upon ICANN’s in-

Dr. Tawil failed to make a declaration although the circumstances are identical with respect to the respective
law firms’ customer portfolio.

€ See for example the preliminary ICANN Board report from 27 March 2014, “the IETF is a good example of
collaboration between ICANN and the IETF communities.”
http://www.icann.org/en/groups/board/documents/prelim-report-27mar14-en.htm
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depth discussion with the 10C in connection with the reservation of the Olympic marks at both the
top and second level domain.

In its disparaging choice of words, FFM describes SportAccord as “inextricably linked” to the 10C.
This carries a deliberate innuendo designed to instill the suspicion of covert or undesirable ties. The
essence of the relationship between the I0C and SportAccord is that both are accountable to the
Sport community and have solid institutional governance to guarantee such accountability.

There Is No Direct Relationship Between the I0C And DirecTV

The underpinnings of FFM'’s allegation that Dr. Tawil falsified his panelist declaration is an
attenuated claim of a conflict of interest based on another lawyer in Dr. Tawil's firm negotiating a
deal on behalf of a firm client (DirecTV) for Olympic broadcast rights. The broadcast rights that
DirecTV secured constitute sub-license through América Mévil.”

Sport governing bodies’
Instiutional relationships
MM.Bomchil | o A e e
_ América Movil {108 Interational Sport
\ DircTV (pusicty (pubely raded | Feceraions (Is)and _
M.Bombau n | organizations 3
muttinalional, multinatlonal, ! - ! SportAccord | :
\ annual turpover annual revenus : :
Dr Tawil e USD 30 bilion) USD 60 billion) ; 0¢ |
: AICWF '
sharsholder subdicensing licensing agreement
agreement for for 2014/16 Olymplc
2014/16 Olymgpic broadcasting rights
broadcasting rights for Latin America

for Latin America

Diagram of relationships in which FFM purports to see new evidence of a potential conflict
of interest linking Dr. Tawil to SportAccord. It is hard to imagine how Dr. Tawil,
specialized in arbitration and administrative law, as one of 18 partners in an Argentinian
law firm, could have been a factor in negotiations conducted by a Mexican multinational
with the 10C over broadcasting rights in Latin America sublicensed to a large US company.
FFM does not assert (despite such deliberate innuendo) that the Expert had any part in
the broadcasting rights negotiations.

It is important to note that broadcasting rights licensing agreements are arms-length relationships in
which a sports governing body (such as the 10C) acts on behalf of the sport community, or the given

7 The 10C announced the granting of the 2014 & 2016 Olympic broadcast rights to América Mévil on 22 March
2014, see http://www.olympic.org/news/ioc-awards-2014-2016-broadcast-rights-in-latin-america/194907 .
DirecTV was the third sub-license of these broadcast rights in a deal with América Mévil announced on 7
February 2014, see http://www.sportspromedia.com/news/america_movil_sells_more_olympics_rights/
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subset of the Sport community based on an objective process. This is comparable to ICANN entering
into a registry agreement with a registry operator, or contracting with a dispute resolution provider.
If it was enough to show a chain of unrelated relationships as proof of likely bias, then most of
ICANN’s panels would be “biased” because ICANN itself has contracts with some parties pleading
before those panels.

Give FFM'’s propensity to manufacture conflicts and controversy out of thin air. SportAccord would
like to proactively identify the following issues. First, in the IOC’s 30 April 2014 letter to the ICANN
BGC, the 10C directly responded to FFM'’s allegation of the conflict being between DirecTV and the
10C and does not address the existence of América Mévil. Second, in the firm brochure which FFM
previously cited, it appears that América Movil is also a client of M.&M. Bomchil Abogados. Whether
América Mévil or DirecTV are still clients of the firm or whether they represented them in the
current Olympic broadcast rights deal is unknown. Only Dr. Tawil and his firm can answer these
questions. Notwithstanding the status of these relationships, the link to Dr. Tawil being a panelist in
a proceeding brought by SportAccord is so remote that there should be no basis for the BGC to grant
the relief FFM is seeking.

There Were No Irregularities in Dr. Tawil’s Determination

In a press release issued by FFM just before the filing of this Reconsideration Request, FFM in
addition to raising claims about Dr. Tawil’s impartiality also claimed that there were a number of
irregularities in his decision.® SportAccord respectfully submits that if the entire body of Community
Objections involving SportAccord and related International Sport Federations is looked at, it will be
clearly seen an established body of precedent and no irregularities as alleged by FFM.

SportAccord v Steel Edge, LLC’

SportAccord prevailed in a related ICC Community Objection filed against portfolio applicant Steel
Edge, LLC regarding their .SPORTS application. In this complaint SportAccord raised the same issues
to those raised in the FFM compliant. The Expert appointed by the ICC in this case was Jonathan
Taylor, a partner in the international law firm Bird & Bird. In addition to co-chairing the firm’s sport’s
law practice group, Mr. Taylor is widely recognized as one of the world’s leading sports lawyers,
advising nationally and internationally on cutting-edge commercial, regulatory and contentious
issues across all major sports.

The International Rugby Board

The International Rugby Board (IRB) filed two ICC community objections against dot Rugby Limited™
(another FFM subsidiary) and Atomic Cross, LLC'* (another Donuts subsidiary). The ICCin this case

8 See http://www.famousfourmedia.com/2014/03/statement-concerning-sport/

®See http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/27jan14/determination-1-1-1614-27785-en.pdf

10 see http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/10feb14/determination-1-1-1206-66762-en.pdf

* see http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/10feb14/determination-1-1-1612-2805-en.pdf
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appointed the same expert Mark Kantor for both proceedings. Similar to the Experts in the .SPORT
and .SPORTS proceedings, Mr. Kantor ruled in favor of the IRB finding that the rugby community was
clearly delineated and that there was a likelihood of material detriment in connection with the
respective applications. Mr. Kantor, as a former partner Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy’s
Corporate and Project Finance Groups appeared to have no direct or indirect ties to the sport
community.

United States Polo Association v. Ralph Lauren Corporation™

The United States Polo Association (USPA) filed an ICC community objections against Ralph Lauren
Corporation’s .POLO application. The ICC appointed Professor Burkhard Hess as the Expert in this
proceeding, who ruled that the USPA had successfully established the four necessary elements set
forth in the Community Objection standard. Unlike the other sport related community objections in
which the Objector was either directly or indirectly associated with a competing application, USPA
appeared to have no association with any competing application. Similar to Mr. Kantor and Dr.
Tawil, Professor Hess appears to have no direct relationship with the sports community.

Fédération Internationale de Ski v Wild Lake, LLC*

The Fédération Internationale de Ski (FIS) filed and prevailed in a Community Objection filed against
Wild Lake, LLC (another subsidiary of Donuts). The Expert appointed by the ICC, Mr.Taylor, ruled in
favor of FIS consistent with the principles cited in the other referenced ICC Community decisions.

Fédération Internationale de Basketball

The only sports International Federation to file an ICC Community Objection and lose was the
Fédération Internationale de Basketball (FIBA). Similar to the .SPORT/.SPORTS and .RUGBY
proceedings, FIBA filed objections against portfolio applicants Donuts (Little Hollow, LCC)** and FFM
(dot Basketball Limited)**. The ICC appointed a single Expert, Jennifer Kirby, for these two
proceedings. Although Ms. Kirby appeared to have no direct association with the sport community,
upon information and belief she had served as an Ad Hoc Clerk in The Court of Arbitration of Sport.

12 See http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/250ct13/determination-1-1-1125-1032-en.pdf

1% See http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/27jan14/determination-1-1-1636-27531-en.pdf
“ See http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/17jan14/determination-1-1-1355-53565-en.pdf

13 see http://newgtlds.icann.org/sites/default/files/drsp/17jan14/determination-1-1-1199-43437-en.pdf
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Summary of ICC Community Objections

There have been a total of seventy (70) ICC Community Objections decisions rendered by ICC
Experts, of which only fifteen (15) Objectors prevailed.’® Out of these fifteen successful objectors,
forty percent (40%) of these successful Community Objections involving four separate ICC Experts
were associated with members of the global sport community. Therefore FFM’s claims of
irregularities in Dr. Tawil’s decision is unfounded as the clear majority of Panelists have found in
favor of global sport community members based on similar arguments regarding delineation and a
material likelihood of detriment.

The entire underpinning of FFM’s arguments is that the only explanation for the irregularities in Dr.
Tawil decision is FFM’s alleged conflict of interest. However, given that there are no irregularities
with Dr. Tawil’s finding, FFM’s allegations of a conflict of interest are simply a Red Herring.

CONCLUSION

FFM'’s second Reconsideration Request should be summarily denied by the BGC, once again, on the
basis of it being procedurally inadmissible as well as baseless and frivolous. It represents the latest
strategy in a pattern of vexatious and abusive delaying actions by FFM.

SportAccord respectfully requests that the BGC, and or the New gTLD Program Committee, dismiss
this Reconsideration Request.

Based on the foregoing, FFM’s Application for .SPORT should not proceed. The same is true for the
third application in the contention set, .SPORTS. Therefore, the contention set should be deemed
resolved that the remaining community-based application for .SPORT should immediately proceed
to the next relevant stage (Section 1.1.2.9 Guidebook).

Should any of the parties copied on this communication have any questions or comments please do
not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Vlad Marinescu

CC: Ombudsman
ICC
Dr. Tawil

1€ See http://newgtlds.icann.org/en/program-status/odr/determination
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Janssen, Jan

From: Chris LaHatte <chris.lahatte@icann.org>

Sent: jeudi 13 février 2014 05:08

To: Peter Young

Subject: RE: Complaint in respect of .SPORT community objection
Dear Peter

I am opening a dialogue with ICC about this, and will keep you posted as to progress. I am uncertain what I can achieve, but want to get their views for now.
Regards

Chris L.aHatte
Ombudsman
Blog https://omblog.icann.or

Webpage http://www.icann.org/en/help/ombudsman

Confidentiality

All matters brought before the Ombudsman shall be treated as confidential. The Ombudsman shall also take all reasonable steps necessary to preserve the privacy of, and to avoid

harm to, those parties not involved in the complaint being investigated by the Ombudsman.The Ombudsman shall only make inquiries about, or advise staff or Board members of

the existence and identity of, a complainant in order to further the resolution of the complaint. The Ombudsman shall take all reasonable steps necessary to ensure that if staff and

Board members are made aware of the existence and identity of a complainant, they agree to maintain the confidential nature of such information, except as necessary to further the
resolution of a complaint

From: Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Sent: Tuesday, February 11, 2014 12:14 AM
To: Chris LaHatte
Subject: RE: Complaint in respect of .SPORT community objection

Dear Chris
Thank you.

Please also note the latest line of correspondence with the ICC. | find their reluctance to agree to a very simple and transparent request surprising to say the least. Please
can you add this to our list of complaints.



Best regards

Peter

From: Chris LaHatte [mailto:chris.lahatte@icann.org]

Sent: 07 February 2014 04:44

To: Peter Young

Subject: RE: Complaint in respect of .SPORT community objection

Dear Peter
Thank you for this email and annexures. I will commence an investigation, and discuss with you any further material I need in due course.
Regards

Chris LLaHatte
Ombudsman
Blog https://omblog.icann.org/

Webpage http://www.icann.org/en/help/ombudsman

Confidentiality

All matters brought before the Ombudsman shall be treated as confidential. The Ombudsman shall also take all reasonable steps necessary to preserve the privacy of, and to avoid
harm to, those parties not involved in the complaint being investigated by the Ombudsman.The Ombudsman shall only make inquiries about, or advise staff or Board members of
the existence and identity of, a complainant in order to further the resolution of the complaint. The Ombudsman shall take all reasonable steps necessary to ensure that if staff and
Board members are made aware of the existence and identity of a complainant, they agree to maintain the confidential nature of such information, except as necessary to further the
resolution of a complaint

From: Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Sent: Friday, February 07, 2014 3:42 AM

To: Chris LaHatte

Cc: Ren Marr

Subject: Complaint in respect of .SPORT community objection

Dear Chris



| hope you are well.
Please find attached our complaint in respect of the .SPORT objection determination plus supporting documents.
Thank you for your assistance in this matter.

Kind regards

Peter
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Janssen, Jan

From: Chris LaHatte <chris.lahatte@icann.org>

Sent: samedi 29 mars 2014 12:58

To: Peter Young

Subject: Re: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88
Dear Peter

| have seen the reply from ICC. Can you please tell me as soon as you can, what due diligence you did on the expert when he was appointed, and when you discovered the
new material which has resulted in this response, and how difficult it was, to find the new material. Was this something you would have discovered with an appropriate
level of search? | am sorry to land this on you, and please take the time you need. But | think you may have this ready.

| am in transit from ICANN 49 but want to prepare a quick response, as soon as | can when | return home, Sunday afternoon NZ time.
Regards

Sent from my iPad

On 28/03/2014, at 1:07 am, "Peter Young"  Contact Information Redacted  \yrote:

Thank you Chris.

In this case we will refrain from filing a reconsideration request at this time.
Best regards

Peter

From: Chris LaHatte [mailto:chris.lahatte@icann.org]

Sent: 27 March 2014 14:52

To: Peter Young

Subject: Re: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88
Yes, | will be able to

Regards

Sent from my iPad

On 27/03/2014, at 9:41 pm, "Peter Young"  Contact Information Redacted  yrote:



Dear Chris

Assuming the ICC come back tomorrow, will you be in a position to submit your recommendation within 14 days? | ask because it makes
sense for your recommendations to be submitted first, but equally | do not want to miss the opportunity of a reconsideration request
based on a technicality.

Many thanks for your continued assistance.

Peter

From: Chris LaHatte [mailto:chris.lahatte@icann.org]

Sent: 27 March 2014 13:13

To: Peter Young

Subject: Re: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

If you seek reconsideration then | will place my investigation on hold until it has been completed but | will not close my file

Sent from my iPhone

On 27/03/2014, at 7:57 pm, "Peter Young"  Contact Information Redacted wrote:

Thank you Chris

Just so | am clear on this point, if we do submit another reconsideration request to ICANN Board directly, can | just check
with you that does not fetter your powers or impede your investigation or recommendations in any way? | believe we do
only have a limited time (15 days from the discovery of the new information) to submit our reconsideration request.
Kind regards

Peter

From: Chris LaHatte [mailto:chris.lahatte@icann.org]

Sent: 27 March 2014 11:48

To: Peter Young

Subject: RE: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

My thoughts were that if this connection is unacceptable then if there is an appearance of bias, based on information not
available to you at the time he was appointed, then | would recommend that the New gTLD Program Committee rehear
this application with a new expert.

The reason for this, is that this does come within my jurisdiction, as a matter of process where the expert may have been
required to disclose this. | want to see the ICC response before | make a final decision

Regards

Chris LaHatte

Ombudsman

Blog https://omblog.icann.org/

Webpage http://www.icann.org/en/help/ombudsman

Confidentiality




All matters brought before the Ombudsman shall be treated as confidential. The Ombudsman shall also take all reasonable
steps necessary to preserve the privacy of, and to avoid harm to, those parties not involved in the complaint being
investigated by the Ombudsman.The Ombudsman shall only make inquiries about, or advise staff or Board members of the
existence and identity of, a complainant in order to further the resolution of the complaint. The Ombudsman shall take all
reasonable steps necessary to ensure that if staff and Board members are made aware of the existence and identity of a
complainant, they agree to maintain the confidential nature of such information, except as necessary to further the
resolution of a complaint

From: Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2014 6:41 PM

To: Chris LaHatte

Subject: RE: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

Thank you Chris

| expect that the ICC will resist any disclosure.

We are considering submitting a fresh reconsideration request based upon the fact that this is material information that
was in existence at the time of the Board’s decision but was not known or considered by them. Do you have any thoughts
on this?

Kind regards

Peter

Peter Young
Managing Director/Chief Legal Officer
Famous Four Media Limited

Contact Information Redacted

. Contact Information Redacted

Phone:

, Contact Information Redacted

Skype:

From: Chris LaHatte [mailto:chris.lahatte@icann.org]

Sent: 27 March 2014 11:33

To: Peter Young

Subject: RE: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88
Dear Peter

This does change the landscape somewhat. My views and recommendation will need input from ICC first, so hopefully they
will respond quickly

Regards

Chris LaHatte

Ombudsman

Blog https://omblog.icann.org/




Webpage http://www.icann.org/en/help/ombudsman

Confidentiality

All matters brought before the Ombudsman shall be treated as confidential. The Ombudsman shall also take all reasonable
steps necessary to preserve the privacy of, and to avoid harm to, those parties not involved in the complaint being
investigated by the Ombudsman.The Ombudsman shall only make inquiries about, or advise staff or Board members of the
existence and identity of, a complainant in order to further the resolution of the complaint. The Ombudsman shall take all
reasonable steps necessary to ensure that if staff and Board members are made aware of the existence and identity of a
complainant, they agree to maintain the confidential nature of such information, except as necessary to further the
resolution of a complaint

From: Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2014 6:06 PM

To: EXPERTISE

Cc: Fadi Chehade; Cherine Chalaby; Christine Willett; Chris LaHatte; Ren Marr; Charles Melvin; Geir Rasmussen
Subject: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Ms Reade

Please find attached our further letter of today.

Yours sincerely

Peter Young

Peter Young
Managing Director/Chief Legal Officer

Famous Four Media Limited
Contact Information Redacted

. Contact Information Redacted

Phone:

, Contact Information Redacted

Skype:
Cc Fadi Chehadé, Cherine Chelaby, Christine Willett,ICANN
Chris LaHatte, ICANN Ombudsman

From: READE Emma  Contact Information Redacted  on Behalf Of EXPERTISE
Sent: 06 February 2014 18:53

To: Peter Young

Cc: EXPERTISE

Subject: RE: ICC

Dear Mr. Young,

Please find attached our letter of today.

Kind regards,

Emma Reade | Juriste



International Centre for ADR | International Chamber of Commerce
Contact Information Redacted

| www.iccadr.org

1* ICC International Mediation Round Table: 6 February 2014

9" |CC International Commercial Mediation Competition: 7 — 12 February 2014
1*' ICC Workshop on new Mediation Rules: 17 September 2014

5™ |CC International Mediation Conference: 18 September 2014

= Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

This message is confidential. If you have received this message in error, please delete it and notify the sender. You should
not retain this message or disclose its contents to anyone.

Ce message est confidentiel. Si vous avez regu ce message par erreur, veuillez le détruire et en informer 'expéditeur. Vous
ne devez ni conserver le message, ni en révéler le contenu.

De : Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Envoyé : 31 January 2014 17:08

A : EXPERTISE

Objet : RE: ICC EXP/471/ICANN/88
Dear Spela

Please find letter attached.

Kind regards
Peter

Peter Young
Managing Director/Chief Legal Officer

Famous Four Media Limited
Contact Information Redacted

Contact Information Redacted
Phone:

, Contact Information Redacted

Skype:

From: KOSAK Spela  Contact Information Redacted  gn Behalf Of EXPERTISE
Sent: 21 January 2014 19:05
To: Peter Young



Cc: EXPERTISE

Subject: RE: ICC EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Sir,

Please find attached our letter of today,
Yours faithfully,

Spela Ko3ak | Deputy Manager

NB: New address since 21 October 2013!

International Centre for ADR | International Chamber of Commerce
Contact Information Redacted

| www.iccadr.org

1% ICC International Mediation Round Table: 6 February 2014

9™ |CC International Commercial Mediation Competition: 7 — 12 February 2014
1*' ICC Workshop on new Mediation Rules: 17 September 2014

5™ |CC International Mediation Conference: 18 September 2014

This message is confidential. If you have received this message in error, please delete it and notify the sender. You should
not retain this message or disclose its contents to anyone.

Ce message est confidentiel. Si vous avez recu ce message par erreur, veuillez le détruire et en informer I'expéditeur. Vous
ne devez ni conserver le message, ni en révéler le contenu.

From: Peter Young Contact Information Redacted

Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2014 5:37 PM

To: EXPERTISE

Cc: Ren Marr

Subject: RE: ICC EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Sirs

We refer to the above referenced case. Further to this matter, and after the judgement was rendered, we discovered a
potential indicator of a lack of impartiality of the Expert. We attach our submission and requests in this regard for your
attention.

Yours faithfully
Peter Young



Peter Young
Director/Chief Legal Officer

Famous Four Media Limited
Contact Information Redacted

. Contact Information Redacted
Phone:

Contact Information Redacted

Skype:

From: READE Emma  Contact Information Redacted  op Behalf Of EXPERTISE

Sent: 25 June 2013 18:38
To: Contact Information Redacted ': Peter Young

Cc:' Contact Information Redacted ' EXPERTISE

Subject: ICC EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Sirs,

Please find attached our letter of today.
Faithfully yours,

Emma Reade

ICC International Centre for Expertise

Contact Information Redacted

Tel . Contact Information Redacted

. Contact Information Redacted
Fax:

b% Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail.

This message is confidential. If you have received this message in error please delete it and notify the sender immediately.
Please contact the Centre by telephone at Contact Information Redacted . You
should not retain the message or disclose its contents to anyone.

Ce message est confidentiel. Si vous avez recu ce message par erreur, veuillez le détruire et en informer I'expéditeur. Veuillez
contacter le Centre par téléphone au Contact Information Redacted . Vous ne
devez ni conserver le message, ni en révéler le contenu.
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Janssen, Jan

From: TUMPEL Hannah Contact Information Redacted

Sent: samedi 29 mars 2014 12:33

To: "christine.willett@icann.org’

Cc: 'fadi.chehade@icann.org’; 'cherine.chalaby@icann.org’; Chris LaHatte (chris.lahatte@icann.org); Ren Marr; Charles Melvin; Geir Rasmussen;
KOSAK Spela; Peter Young

Subject: RE: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

Attachments: Letter to Mr. Peter Young_29 March 2014 .pdf

Dear Ms. Willett,
Please find attached for your information the Centre's letter of today to Mr. Young, in response to his email and correspondence dated 27 March 2014.
This email goes in copy to all recipients of Mr. Young's email.

Yours sincerely,
Hannah Timpel

From: EXPERTISE

Sent: 28 March 2014 23:42

To: 'Peter Young'

Cc: 'fadi.chehade@icann.org'; 'cherine.chalaby@icann.org'; 'christine.willett@icann.org'; Chris LaHatte (chris.lahatte@icann.org); Ren Marr; Charles Melvin; Geir Rasmussen;
EXPERTISE; KOSAK Spela

Subject: RE: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Mr. Young,

On behalf of the Centre, | acknowledge receipt of your below email and its attachments of 27 March 2014.
The Centre will revert to you shortly.

As per your request, the individuals copied to your email shall receive a copy of our correspondence.
Yours sincerely,

Hannah Tiimpel

Hannah Timpel | Senior Counsel and Manager

International Centre for ADR | International Chamber of Commerce

NB: New address since 21 October 2013!



Contact Information Redacted

| www.iccadr.org
From: Peter Young [ Contact Information Redacted

Sent: jeudi 27 mars 2014 11:06

To: EXPERTISE

Cc: 'fadi.chehade@icann.org'; 'cherine.chalaby@icann.org'; 'christine.willett@icann.org'; Chris LaHatte (chris.lahatte@icann.org); Ren Marr; Charles Melvin; Geir
Rasmussen

Subject: .SPORT and Dr. Guido Tawil EXP/471/ICANN/88

Dear Ms Reade

Please find attached our further letter of today.

Yours sincerely

Peter Young

Peter Young
Managing Director/Chief Legal Officer
Famous Four Media Limited

Contact Information Redacted

Contact Information Redacted

Phone:

Contact Information Redacted

Skype:
Cc Fadi Chehadé, Cherine Chelaby, Christine Willett,ICANN
Chris LaHatte, ICANN Ombudsman



INTERNATIONAL | INTERNATIONAL | LEADING DISPUTE
COURT OF CENTRE RESOLUTION
ARBITRATION® | FOR ADR WORLDWIDE

FAMOUR FOUR MEDIA LIMITED
Mr. Peter Young

Contact Information Redacted

By email: Contact Information Redacted

29 March 2014
Dear Sir,

The Centre acknowledges receipt of your letter dated 27 March 2014, sent on behalf of DOT
SPORT LIMITED, a copy of which was sent to Fadi Chehadé, Cherine Chelaby, Christine
Willett from ICANN, as well as Chris LaHatte, the ICANN Ombudsman.

The Centre has taken note of the comments provided in your letter. In particular, we have taken
note of your indication that further investigation with regards to the appointed Expert was
conducted and your request to be informed about “the specific steps leading to the selection of
the appointment of Dr. Guido Tawil”, who acted as the Expert in the above-mentioned matter.
We have also taken note of your indication that you will “write to ICANN with a
Reconsideration Request, that the appointment of the Expert was made on the basis of
misleading or false information”.

Closure of Case

As per the Centre’s letters dated 21 January and 26 February 2014, we confirm that case
EXP/471/ICANN/88 had been closed.

Basis for Challenge or Reopening

With reference to the above mentioned letters, we confirm further that neither the Procedure nor
the Rules provide a basis for a reopening of the matter or a challenge of the Expert after closure
of the matter.

Procedural Decisions

Further, we would like to remind you that pursuant to Point 7 of the ICC Practice Note on the
Administration of Cases under New gTLD Dispute Resolution Procedure (“Practice Note™) the
Centre is not required to state reasons for its procedural decisions.

Information regarding Appointment of Expert

With regard to your request to be provided with information regarding the specific steps the
Centre took prior to the Expert’s appointment, we would like to provide you with the following
information.

The main criteria the Centre took into account when appointing Experts in the new gTLD
procedures were the candidates’ independence, impartiality and availability, as well as their
procedural experience, knowledge of specific areas of law, knowledge of the English language
and nationality.

e
INTERNATIONAL CHAMBER OF COMMERCE (ICC)
INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR ADR

Contact Information Redacted



Prior to the appointments in the cases related to the new gTLD, the Centre conducted a research
of possible candidates. Candidates willing and available to act as Expert within the time frame
set by the Procedure were invited to complete specific model documents, including a
Curriculum Vitae (“CV”). The information requested in the CV regarded their training,
qualifications, specific experience and knowledge of specific areas of law.

Based on the information provided in the CV, the Centre would then decide which candidate
would be invited to submit a candidacy in a specific case.

Such candidate would then be given the information necessary to conduct a conflict check and
to complete ICC’s standard Declaration of Acceptance and Statement of Independence
(“DASI”). The information given to the candidate to conduct such conflict check included the
information provided by the parties in the Objection and the Response with regard to the
parties, their representatives and the related entities, if any.

Based on the information received from the candidates, the Centre then made a proposal to the
Standing Committee with regard to the appointment of an Expert in a specific case. Together
with the proposal, the Expert’s CV and DASI would be communicated to the Standing
Committee.

Following the appointment, the Expert’s CV and DASI were sent to the parties. In this regard,
we refer you to the Centre’s letter in case EXP/471/ICANN/88 dated 30 July 2013.

In cases where the candidate signaled in the DASI any circumstances which in the eyes of the
parties might put into question his or her independence, the Centre either didn’t proceed with
the appointment process of this candidate or invited the parties’ comments on the specific
candidate’s DASI prior to finalizing the appointment. In the latter case, the parties were invited
to submit their comments, if any, pursuant to Article 7(4) of the Rules.

Pursuant to Article 11(4) of the Rules, a party also had the possibility to object to the
appointment of an Expert should it find that the Expert did not have the necessary qualifications
or is not fulfilling the expert's functions in accordance with these Rules or in a timely fashion.
In this regard the Practice Note set a specific time limit for such objections.

Considerations with Regard to Case EXP/471/ICANN/88

As you are aware, the Dr. Tawil submitted his DASI in which he declared “Nothing to disclose:
| am impartial and independent and intend to remain so. To the best of my knowledge, and
having made due enquiry, there are no facts or circumstances, past or present, that I should
disclose because they might be of such a nature as to call into question my independence in the
eyes of any of the parties and no circumstances that could give rise to reasonable doubts as to
my impartiality”.

The Centre and the Standing Committee have acted accordingly. Further, while this matter was
open, none of the parties objected to the appointment of the Expert.

Finally, the Centre and the Standing Committee acted in accordance with the Rules and the
Procedure, as well as all other relevant requirements in this process.

Should you have any further questions, please do not hesitate to contact us.

Yours faithfully,
[

Hannah Tlmpel
Senior Counsel and Manager
ICC International Centre for Expertise
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|AAF lead Federations resigning from
SportAccord after Vizer attack on Bach as I0C
President claims it is "business as usual”

¢ 3 comments

By Duncan Mackay (http://www.insidethegames.biz/writers/72/duncan-mackay) at the SportAccord
Convention World Sport & Business Summit in Sochi ExpoCentre
© Monday, 20 April 2015 ()

http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1026875/iaaf-lead-federations-resigning-from-spo... 27/05/2015
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The International Association of Athletics Federations became the first world governing body to confirm
it had resigned from SportAccord following the attack by its President Marius Vizer on the International
Olympic Committee (I0C) here earlier today.

The IAAF is one of three International Federations to have resigned, along with International Shooting
Sport Federation (ISSF) and World Archery.

Lamine Diack and Franz Schreiber, President of the IAAF and secretary general of the ISSF
respectively, were also among at least 10 Olympic Federations to sign a letter claiming they did not
agree with Vizer's comments and that they back Bach.

Ugur Erdener, President of World Archery, was also also among the signatories of the letter and later
confirmed they suspended their membership of SportAccord.

Vizer had launched a scathing attack on the |IOC at SportAccord's General Assembly, accusing them of
running a system that is "expired, outdated, wrong, unfair and not at all transparent.”

The letter, obtained by insidethegames, claimed Vizer had spoken on their behalf without them being
consulted.

"We the undersigned Members of the SportAccord Association are expressing to the SportAccord
leadership our disagreement on the opinions expressed this morning by the SportAccord President
during the opening speech which do not reflect the views of the International Federations," the letter
said.

"We also express our strong support to the International Olympic Committee and to the Olympic
Agenda 2020 which has been adopted under the leadership of the IOC President Thomas Bach in
consultation and agreement with all the International Federations".

http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1026875/iaaf-lead-federations-resigning-from-spo... 27/05/2015
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All of the Federations who have signed the letter are part of the Olympic programme at the Summer
Games and, of the 13, eight are led by current or honorary IOC members.

All are considered to be close allies of Bach.

The most prominent name was Diack, a member of the IOC between 1999 and 2013 until he reached
the mandatory retirement age of 80 when he became an honorary IOC member.

The other Federations to sign the letter were the World Aquatics Federation, World Archery, World
Badminton, the International Basketball Federation, International Canoe Federation, International
Fencing Federation, International Hockey Federation, FIFA, International Modern Pentathlon Union and
World Rowing,

The International Cycling Union, International Volleyball Federation and World Rugby have all
confirmed to insidethegames that they also later signed the letter.

http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1026875/iaaf-lead-federations-resigning-from-spo... 27/05/2015
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A letter signed by 12 International Federations protested against the attack by SportAccord
President Marius Vizer on IOC President Thomas Bach ©ITG

Both the IAAF and the ISSF announced they had resigned from SportAccord during the General
Assembly where Vizer had made his remarks during the opening address.

"l can confirm that the IAAF has announced earlier today its decision to withdraw its membership of
SportAccord which we are entitled to do under Article 11 of the Sportaccord constitution," IAAF deputy
secretary general and official spokesman Nick Davies told insidethegames.

“The reason is that we are unable to agree with the contents and tone contained in the speech of the
Sportaccord President Mr Vizer at the opening this morning.

"So this resignation is a protest against the position taken by Mr Vizer against the I0C and his
statements about the position of the International Federations viz a viz the IOC which the IAAF cannot
accept."

Olegario Vazquez Rania, President of the ISSF, backed Diack's stance.

“The ISSF cannot accept the positions expressed by the SportAccord President Vizer during his
opening speech at the SportAccord Convention in Sochi, today," Vazquez Rafia, a member of the IOC
since 1995, told insidethegames.

"We do not share his negative evaluations on the governance of the International Olympic Committee.

"The ISSF fully supports the work of the IOC President Thomas Bach and we see the IOC Agenda
2020 as an opportunity for the whole Olympic Movement.”

World Archery confirmed they had resigned a few hours after the meeting.

"World Archery has informed SportAccord of its intention to suspend its membership with immediate
effect," the governing body's secretary general Tom Dielen told insidethegames.

The issue is set to be top of the agenda when the ruling Council of the Association of Summer Olympic
International Federations (ASOIF), chaired by International Tennis Federation President Francesco
Ricci Bitti and which also includes Erdener, are due to hold a meeting here tomorrow.

Leaders from all 28 sports that will make up the Summer Olympic programme at Rio 2016 are then due
to meet on Wednesday (April 22) for the ASOIF annual meeting which Vizer, as President of the
International Judo Federation, is expected to attend.

The IAAF, meanwhile, are a Gold Partner of the SportAccord Convention World Sport & Business
Summit which is taking place here and are due to host a major event to promote athletics tomorrow.

But Bach claimed the row with Vizer would not affect the I0OC's relationships with the International
Federations.

"l think everyone was surprised [about his opening speech], even his own Executive Board did not have

http://www .insidethegames.biz/articles/1026875/1aaf-lead-federations-resigning-from-spo... 27/05/2015
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an idea and | think this speaks for itself," Bach told insidethegames."
We have - and always will have an excellent relationship with the different International Federations.

"Now, while we are talking, there is a workshop between the IOC and the IOC Recognised Federations
(ARISF) going on.

"Our activities are accessible to everybody.
"Our support is obvious to everybody, so we will just continue in this way.

"So it is business as usual."

Related stories

April 2015: Vizer attacks Bach over interference, lack of transparency and claims Agenda 2020
brought no benefit to sport (http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1026867/vizer-attacks-bach-over-
interference-lack-of-transparency-and-claims-agenda-2020-brought-no-benefit-to-sport)

Updates

About the author

Duncan Mackay
(http://www.insidethegames.biz/writers/72/duncan-

mackay) Editor

Duncan Mackay is the editor of insidethegames.biz. Awards
include British Sports Writer of the Year in 2004, British News Story
of the Year in 2004 and British Sports Internet Reporter of the Year
in 2009. Mackay is one of Britain's best-connected journalists and
during the 16 years he worked at The Guardian and The Observer
he regularly broke a number of major exclusive stories, including
the news that British sprinter Dwain Chambers had tested positive
for banned performance enhancing drugs.

Contact Duncan (mailto:duncan.mackay@insidethegames.biz)
@ Read more of Duncan's articles
(http://www.insidethegames.biz/writers/72/duncan-mackay)
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never_tests_positive -

Wow. |OC-associated sports federations not just refuse to endorse transparency and
good governance, but condemn anyone who mentions it. Now you know why the only
countries left in the world to host the big IOC event are autocratic/despots.

The money flowing under the table must be huge.

Arne Johansen -

It might be that; ""(it) do(es) not reflect the views of the International Federations™...but
| am sure it reflects the view of most of those international federations members. So
who are you working for, your members, or the 10C.....?7

antoine de Navacelle -
Not surprised. Sport accord is a commercial enterprise that consider the Olympic.
Mouvement. And the values it carries as a hindrance to the sport eventing industry
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Nick Butler: Cricket on the radio preserving a
nostalgic era of sport
(http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1027537/
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In pictures: I0C President Thomas Bach visits Australia, Fiji, Vanuatu and New Zealand
(http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1027180/in-pictures-ioc-president-thomas-bach-visits-australia-
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(http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1027180/in-pictures-ioc-president-thomas-bach-visits-australia-
fiji-vanuatu-and-new-zealand)

© More picture galleries (/galleries)

Fact of the day

Sailors Yoel Sela and Eldad Amir would almost certainly have become lIsrael's first-ever Olympic
medalists at Seoul in 1988 in the Flying Dutchman if the second race of the series had not fallen on
Yom Kippur, the most important holiday of the Jewish year. Israeli officials had made it clear they did
not want any athletes competing on that day, threatening anyone that did with expulsion from the
Games, so Sela and Amir duly sat out the second race of the event. They subsequently finished eighth
and would have been guaranteed a medal if they had competed in that missed race and finished higher
than 11th, which they did in five of their six races.

© More facts (/fact-of-the-day)

Featured Job

International Boxing Association (AIBA) - Senior Legal Management - Lausanne, Switzerland
(http://www.globalsportsjobs.com/job/956213/senior-legal-management-/?
utm_source=Com_JOTW&utm_medium=Partners&utm_campaign=ITG)

(http://www.globalsportsjobs.com/job/956213/senior-legal-management-/?

utm_source=Com_JOTW&utm_medium=Partners&utm_campaign=ITG)The International
Boxing Association, originally the Association Internationale de Boxe Amateur and still referred to as
the AIBA is a sport organization that sanctions amateur (Olympic-style) boxing matches and awards
world and subordinate championships.
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The Big Read

(http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1026870/how-has-kosovo-changed-four-months-on-

from-olympic-acceptance)

Marius Vizer’'s explosive address in Sochi has gripped the Olympic Movement in recent weeks and
parallels have been drawn between the speech made by Thomas Keller 42 years earlier at the Olympic
Congress in Varna that sparked a similar debate. David Owen looks at whether history is repeating
itself and whether it may hold clues to the eventual outcome of the present trial of strength that was
escalated so dramatically by the SportAccord President last month.

Read more (http://www.insidethegames.biz/articles/1027376/a-tale-of-marius-juan-antonio-and-two-
thomas-es-or-did-history-repeat-itself-on-the-shores-of-the-black-sea)
Big Read Archive (http://www.insidethegames.biz/bigread)

(http://www.insidethegames.biz/polls/96/do-you-think-the-comments-by-sportaccord-president-marius-
vizer-about-the-ioc-were-justified)
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organization and rallied behind I0C President Thomas Bach.

Vizer remained defiant, sticking to his guns and declaring of the
Olympic establishment: "We don't need cardinals of sport. We
don't need popes."

The council of the Association of Summer Olympic International
Federations decided unanimously to suspend relations with
Vizer's SportAccord pending a review and clarification of its role
and governance.
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The head of track and field's governing body compared Vizer to a
"dictator,” and the International Paralympic Committee announced
that it was withdrawing as an associate member of SportAccord in
protest.

The developments came after Vizer blasted the International
Olympic Committee and Bach on Monday in a speech at the
opening of the SportAccord convention in Sochi. It marked an un-
precedented public rebuke within the Olympic movement and ex-
posed a bitter power struggle at the high levels of sport.

With Bach looking on, Vizer accused the IOC of lacking transpar-
ency, ignoring the federations, blocking his plans for new multi-
sport competitions and wasting money on an Olympic TV channel
and opening and closing ceremonies. He described the I0C sys-
tem as "expired, outdated, wrong, unfair and not at all transpar-
ent."

The summer sports association said it considered Vizer's position
"not compatible with the role and mission of ASOIF as a major
stakeholder of the Olympic movement.”

The issue will be discussed at the ASOIF general assembly in So-
chi on Wednesday.

ASOIF represents the 28 sports on the program of the Summer
Olympics. Among its members is the judo federation, of which
Vizer is also the president.

SportAccord represents more than 100 Olympic and non-Olympic
federations, including the 28 ASOIF members. Vizer, who is de-
manding more power for his organization, was re-elected Monday
to a four-year term as president.

With his position under fire, Vizer shot back in an interview broad-
cast Tuesday night on SportAccord's TV network partner, Eu-
ronews, again accusing the IOC of looking out for its own inter-
ests.

"l expressed the reality of sport today," he said. "The question is
to clean up the system and to make it fair for the benefit of sport.
Not a system that defends itself and a specific group or leaders or
cardinals of sport because we don't need that and sport doesn't
need that.

"l don't care if some people are afraid to say that but | say that.
We don't need cardinals of sport. We don't need popes. We need
fair leaders who are examples for sports through their attitude, be-
havior, measures, actions, initiatives, strategies and vision."

Vizer said the I0C has "lots of tentacles in different directions."

"So the question is very simple: Do we want to clean up the story
or cover the story?" he said.

Vizer said he was prepared to fight his case.
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"It doesn't matter what are the consequences for myself personal-
ly," he said. "My voice is the voice for sport, for reality, for fairness
in sport. .... What | say is true and nobody can stop that."

IAAF President Lamine Diack said earlier that Vizer resembled "a
chief or dictator coming from nowhere" and telling major sports
federations what to do.

The IAAF and international shooting federation both withdrew
from SportAccord.

ASOIF president Francesco Ricci Bitti said two more federations,
World Archery and the International Canoe Federation, had sus-
pended their involvement with SportAccord, but not withdrawn
completely.

UCI President Brian Cookson would not rule out the possibility of
the cycling federation pulling out.

The International Paralympic Committee withdrew its associate
membership late Tuesday.

"The IPC do not agree with the comments made by President
Vizer about the I0C during Monday's opening and certainly do not
support his views," IPC chief executive officer Xavier Gonzalez
said.

Along with the IAAF, at least 14 federation presidents, including
FIFA's Sepp Blatter, signed letters of protest at Vizer's comments.

Vizer has been at odds with the I0C for several years, ever since
he first took over SportAccord and sought to establish a "United
World Championships" every four years for all the sports. The
plan has not materialized.

The IOC snubbed Vizer by deciding not to hold an executive
board meeting during the SportAccord convention in Sochi. The
board has met during all the previous annual conferences going
back to 2003. Vizer was also perturbed after the IOC prohibited
the two bid cities for the 2022 Winter Games — Be jing and Al-
maty, Kazakhstan — from making presentations in Sochi.

Wilson reported from London.
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F LE - In this Friday, May 31, 2013 file photo, Marius Vizer, president of the Inter

LONDON (AP) --
10C President
Thomas Bach is
keeping Marius
Vizer waiting on
his invitation for a
clear-the-air meet-

ing.

Vizer, who heads
the umbrella body
SportAccord, wrote
to Bach on Tues-
day asking for a
meeting to mend
fences following
his blistering attack
on the International
Olympic Commit-
tee in Sochi last
month.
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cut ties with SportAccord in protest over Vizer's speech, with row-

ing and modern pentathlon the latest to withdraw on Wednesday.
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Bach replied to Vizer's invitation on Wednesday, saying he would
need to discuss the matter with his executive board and the "rep-
resentatives of our main stakeholders, in this case, the interna-
tional federations."

A copy of Bach's letter was obtained by The Associated Press.

"As the president, | have the obligation to express the opinion of
my organization rather than just a personal one," Bach said.
"Therefore, | will come back to you after the next IOC executive
board meeting."

The next board meeting is scheduled for June 7-8 in Lausanne,
Switzerland.

In Vizer's letter, also obtained by the AP, he said a meeting with parade

Bach would be "for the benefit and the unity of the world sports
movement" and also "for the clarification of some essential as-
pects in the activity and development of the sport family."

Vizer asked Bach for a place and dates that would be convenient.
Separately, Vizer also requested a meeting with the Association of
Summer Olympic International Federations, which represents the

28 sports in the games.

Drew Brees' seven-touchdown perfor-

. - i mance highlights perfect fantasy lineup ...
Bach's non-committal reply indicated he would not be dictated by Associated Press

Vizer's wishes and preferred to deal with him from a position of
strength with the backing of his board and the federations.

SportAccord represents a grouping of about 100 Olympic and
non-Olympic sports federations. It also organizes some multi-
sports events, such as the World Combat Games.

Vizer, who also heads the international judo federation, has been

increasingly isolated since delivering his strongly-worded speech Champions League group stage high-
at the opening of the SportAccord convention in Sochi a month lights - November
ago.

Vizer called the I0C system "expired, outdated, wrong, unfair and
not at all transparent,” said Bach's reform program was of little
use to the federations and accused him of blocking SportAccord's
plans for more multi-sports competitions.

ASOIF and at least 12 individual federations have suspended ties

with SportAccord. Vizer has accused the I0C of pressuring them Michelle Payne becomes first female
to leave. jockey to win the Melbourne Cup

The rowing and modern pentathlon federations announced their
withdrawal Wednesday. They follow weightlifting, triathlon, wres-
tling, tackwondo, boxing, athletics, archery, canoeing, shooting
and bobsled in suspending or cutting relations with SportAccord.
Others are expected to follow suit.

Boxing and taekwondo have also pulled out of the 2017 World
Combat Games in Lima, Peru. 2015 NFL cheerleaders - Week 8

The 10C has had a tense relationship with Vizer ever since he
was elected in 2013 to succeed former cycling federation presi-

dent Hein Verbruggen as head of SportAccord.
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{ % REUTERS May 21,2015 550 AM

By Karolos

Grohmann

May 21 (Reuters) -
The international
equestrian federa-
tion (FEI) cut ties
with SportAccord
on Thursday, the
latest federation to
wa kout after its
president sharply

criticised the Inter- Related Stories

national Olympic 1. Former Indian IOC member Ashwini Ku-
Committee. mar dies at 94 The Associated Press

2. CBC extends Canadian Olympic rights

Some 15 Olympic deal through 2024 The Associated Press

federations have 3. I0C's Bach urges sports bodies to protect

already withdrawn their credibility The Associated Press

their membership 4. Olympics-For Olympic leaders, the US is

from the umbrella back in the game Reuters

organisation, rep- 5. For Olympic leaders, the U.S. is back in
resenting about the game Reuters

100 Olympic and

non-Olympic

sports bodies, after President Marius Vizer's criticism of the IOC
last month.

"The FEI, alongside many other international sports federa-
tions...will seek full clarity regarding SportAccord's role and mis-
sion, including a review of SportAccord's governance and man-
agement," FEI President Ingmar De Vos said in a statement on
Thursday.

Vizer told Reuters in an interview on Wednesday he had proposed
a meeting with IOC President Thomas Bach to clear the air and
said the withdrawals were the result of pressure from the IOC on
the federations.

"l had expected more solidarity from international federations,
specifically from summer Olympics federations, because | spoke
out in the favour of the sport," Vizer said.
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"I did not attack Bach or the I0C. But it is up to the federations to

decide what they consider the best for their situation and their

sports community."

Bach, however, said in a written response seen by Reuters that , : )
) ) Kenseth's suspension appeal rejected

he would first have to consult his executive board as well as other

stakeholders before committing to such a meeting. The executive

board next meets in Lausanne in June.

But time is of the essence for Vizer as the membership suspen-
sions mount and pressure on the international judo president
grows exponentially.

On Wednesday, the international rowing federation as well as

Kansas City Royals World Series victory
parade

modern pentathlon and volleyball pulled out.

Since Vizer's scathing attack on the IOC, where he claimed the
Olympic body was dated, not transparent enough and blocking
new initiatives, a string of federations have pulled out.

These already include athletics, boxing, archery, triathlon,
taekwondo, wrestling, shooting, canoeing, hockey, bobsleigh and

weightlifting.
Several sports have also pulled out of the 2017 World Combat Drew Brees' seven-touchdown perfor-
) . o mance highlights perfect fantasy lineup ...

Games organised by SportAccord, leaving the event with just two Associated Press
of the initial six Olympic sports along with 10 other non-Olympic
sports. (Reporting by Karolos Grohmann; Editing by Julian Lin-
den)
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Rugby joins SportAccord
exodus

By Karolos Grohmann

REUTERS May 21,2015 3:16 PM

By Karolos
Grohmann

(Reuters) - Rugby
joined equestrian,
curling and table
tennis in cutting
ties with SportAc-
cord on Thursday,
the latest round of
wa kouts after its
president sharply

criticized the International Olympic Committee (IOC).

Some 18 Olympic federations have already withdrawn their mem-
bership of the umbrella organization, which represents about 100

Olympic and non-Olympic sports bodies, after its president Marius
Vizer criticized the 10C last month.

"World Rugby president Bernard Lapasset’s motion to suspend
membership until there is clarity regarding SportAccord’s function
and role within the global sporting community and also a detailed
review of SportAccord’s governance and management, was unan-

imously approved,” World Rugby said in a statement.

Earlier on Thursday, the equestrian federation issued a similarly-
worded statement, announcing its own withdrawal from the organ-
ization.

The World Curling Federation (WCF) and the International Table
Tennis Federation (ITTF) also suspended their membership, with
curling officials saying Vizer's comments did not represent their
federation.

Vizer, who accused the 10C of putting pressure on federations,
proposed meeting IOC president Thomas Bach to clear the air,
but was told that would not happen before the IOC Executive
Board had been briefed next month.

Vizer responded on Thursday with a 20-point agenda for the
meeting which included discussing prize money for Olympic
champions, increased revenues for international federations from
the Olympics and co-ownership of the Olympic channel among
others.
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PRESSURE MOUNTS

However, time is of the essence for Vizer as membership depar-
tures mount and pressure on the international judo president
grows exponentially.

On Wednesday, the international rowing federation as well as
modern pentathlon and volleyball pulled out of SportAccord.

Since Vizer's scathing attack on the I0C, in which he claimed the
Olympic body was dated, not transparent enough and blocking
new initiatives, a string of federations have pulled out of his organ-
ization.

A self-styled reformer of sport when he took over the SportAccord
organization two years ago, he instantly clashed with the I0C over
his planned United World Championships which was seen as a
potential competitor to the Olympics.

SportAccord and its annual international convention is a major
showcase for mainly smaller non-Olympic sports looking for new
revenue streams or greater international exposure.

The departures also include athletics, boxing, archery, triathlon,
taekwondo, wrestling, shooting, canoeing, hockey, bobsleigh and
weightlifting.

Several sports have also pulled out of the 2017 World Combat
Games organized by SportAccord, leaving the event with just two
of the initial six Olympic sports along with 10 other non-Olympic
sports.

(Reporting by Karolos Grohmann; Editing by Julian Linden, Ken
Ferris and Toby Davis)
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Major blow for Vizer as close allies pull organisations out
of SportAccord

® Add comment

By Daniel Etchells (http://www.insidethegames.biz/writers/24069/daniel-etchells) O Wednesday, 27 May 2015 ()

The Association of International Olympic Winter Spo rts Federations (AIOWF) and
Association of International Olympic Committee (I0C ) Recognised International
Sports Federations (ARISF) have suspended their mem  berships with SportAccord.

SR
ol

Gian Franco Kasper and Raffaele Chiulli, the Presidents of ASOIF and ARISF respectively,
are Vizer's two closest lieutenants at SportAccord, serving as the senior vice-president and
vice-president respectively.

Kasper confirmed his body's decision in a letter addressed directly to SportAccord counterpart Marius Vizer and
seen by insidethegames.

Copied into the letter along with AIOWF members is IOC President Thomas Bach, as well as Francesco Ricci Bitti,
President of the Association of Summer Olympic International Sports Federations (ASOIF), and Chiulli, who has
also sent a letter to Vizer confirming his body's decision "to provisionally suspend any further activities" with
SportAccord.

Kasper's letter, however, is notably more conciliatory than other letters sent to Vizer recently.

"We remain confident that in the near future a constructive dialogue between SportAccord and its stakeholders in
the interests of the Olympic Movement can be achieved," it reads.

The move follows that of the ASOIF which disassociated its affiliation with SportAccord in the immediate aftermath
of Vizer’'s explosive attack on the IOC and Bach at last month’s SportAccord Convention in Sochi.

Vizer alleged the IOC "lacked transparency”, that its Agenda 2020 reform process had brought "hardly any benefit"
to sport and that it had unfairly blocked SportAccord in its drive to organise new Commissions and events.

Every Summer Olympic sport body except for the Vizer-led International Judo Federation signed a letter supporting
the decision of the ASOIF, while both the International Paralympic Committee and the Commonwealth Games
Federation have made a similar move.

The AIOWF opted for less drastic action at the time, merely expressing its “disagreement” with “the occasion and
manner in which the opinions of the SportAccord President were expressed” and calling for “constructive dialogue
between SportAccord and all stakeholders in the interests of the Olympic Movement”.

But following the withdrawals of 22 Olympic sports and four non-Olympic sports, it has now joined the exodus.

Athletics, shooting, archery, canoeing, boxing, hockey, taekwondo, wrestling, bobsleigh, triathlon, weightlifting,
rowing, modern pentathlon, volleyball, equestrian, curling, table tennis, rugby, fencing, cycling, basketball and
badminton make up the Olympic sports, while karate, korfball, orienteering and motor racing comprise the
non-Olympic quartet.

lof 6 6/11/2015 17:13
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AIOWF
o e

Asspcistion of |ntesration sl Ciynpic Winter Spons Federations

To SportAccord
Manus Vizer, President
MEI
Averue de Ehodame 34
1007 Lansanne

oo Dr. Thomas Bach (President I0C)
Francesco Fice Bitn (Fresadent ASQOIF)
Raffasle Chmlh (Premdent ARISF)
ATOWF Members

{zexnt by e-mail)
Oherhofin, 27" May 2015
ATOWT — SportAccord

Mr President, dear Marus,

Thas 15 to inform you that the members of the Association of Intermational Ohvmpic Winter Sports
Federations (AIOWF) have decided with great majonty to suspend collaboration with SportAccord
with immediate effect and wmtl fother nofice.

We remain confident that in the near future a constrective dialogue between SportAccord and it
stakeholders m the interests of the Olvmpie Movement can be achieved.

Sincevaly vours,

ey
———TT e,
e .

(nan Franco Easper
President ATOWF

Gian Franco Kasper's letter to Marius Vizer ©ITG

Chiulli confirmed the ARISF addressed the "escalating situation” fuelled by Vizer's statements at an Extraordinary
Session of its Council.

"In the meeting, the ARISF Council expressed its growing concern and disappointment with the SportAccord
President’s lack of prior consultation with the SportAccord Council in issuing such statements," read his letter, which
has also been seen by insidethegames.

"Furthermore, it was gravely noted that no such consultation took place with the ARISF Council.

"For these reasons the ARISF Council requests that an urgent meeting of the SportAccord Council be convened in

6/11/2015 17:13
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order to address the deteriorating relations between SportAccord and the International Olympic Committee.

"Until such an open and consensus-building process is established and a solution is found, the ARISF Council has
decided to provisionally suspend any further activities between ARISF and SportAccord."

Chiulli also said ARISF "was pleased to participate in, and contribute towards the key elements of Agenda 2020,
which it strongly supports" and "is fully committed to contributing towards effective and constructive dialogue

to promote unity and find reasonable, positive and respectful solutions in the interests of the entire international
sporting community".

President il byt e

To:

Mr. Marius L Vizer
President
SPORTACCORD

By email

Lausanne, 26 May 2015

Dear President, dear Marius,

In an extraordinary session of its Council held today, the Association of Recognised
International Sports Federations (ARISF) addressed the escalating situation fusled by
statements made by you, during and after the recent SportAccord General Assembly in
Sochi.

In the meating, the ARISF Council expressad its growing concern and disappointment
with the SportAccord President's lack of prior consultation with the Sportaccord Council
in issuing such statements. Furthermere, it was gravely noted that no such consultation
took place with the ARISF Council.

For these reasons the ARISF Council requests that an urgent meeting of the SportAccord
Council be convened in order to address the deteriorating relations between SportAccord

and the International Olympic Committee {(IOC)
Until such an open and consensus-building process is established and a solution is
found, the ARISF Council has decided to provisionally suspend any further activities

between ARISF and SportAccord.

ARISF has worked hard to build and reinforce relations with the 10C and with
SportAccord, as well as to defend and promote the interasts of its Members within the

elvls)

ARI5F - Association of |DC Recognised Intarnational Sports Fedarations
Maison du Sport Intermational | 54, Avenue da Rhodania | 1007 Lausanna, Switzarland
Tal. +41 21 218 B243 | Fax <41 21 318 8242 | www.ansf.org | infoarizf.org
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Bach is set to consult with key stakeholders before deciding whether to accept an invitation made by Vizer to hold a
summit on the crisis.

Both Bach and Ricci Bitti have been invited to stage talks for "positive discussions which will lead to tangible
solutions".

Last week, Vizer published a 20-point agenda, which has been communicated to Bach, Ricci Bitti and the
Presidents of all Federations, and covers a wide range of issues.

As well as proposing the introduction of prize money for Olympic athletes, Vizer has also called for 50 per cent
ownership of the Olympic TV Channel by all International Federations, as well as “complete transparency regarding
consultants, wages and contracts”.

But in a letter, seen by insidethegames, Ricci Bitti urged Vizer to stop speaking on behalf of International
Federations, claiming they “do not feel represented” by the union he heads.

Another letter was sent on Monday (May 25), seen by insidethegames, by the Alliance of Independent Members of
SportAccord (AIMS) President, Stephan Fox and sent to Vizer, Bach, Ricci Bitti and other stakeholders.

After outlining how the AIMS needs both the IOC and SportAccord, it urges all sports leaders to "sit together,
regardless of the circumstances, to create a dialogue so that our common goals may continue to prevail".

insidethegames have asked SportAccord for a comment on the withdrawals of the AIOWF and ARISF, but have not
received a response as of yet.
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